# Graphene Field Effect Devices and Circuits - Theory and Fabrication

THÈSE Nº 7356 (2016)

PRÉSENTÉE LE 18 NOVEMBRE 2016 À LA FACULTÉ DES SCIENCES ET TECHNIQUES DE L'INGÉNIEUR LABORATOIRE DE SYSTÈMES MICROÉLECTRONIQUES PROGRAMME DOCTORAL EN MICROSYSTÈMES ET MICROÉLECTRONIQUE

### ÉCOLE POLYTECHNIQUE FÉDÉRALE DE LAUSANNE

POUR L'OBTENTION DU GRADE DE DOCTEUR ÈS SCIENCES

PAR

## **Clemens Benedict NYFFELER**

acceptée sur proposition du jury:

Dr G. Boero, président du jury Prof. Y. Leblebici, directeur de thèse Prof. J.-P. Leburton, rapporteur Dr I. Shorubalko, rapporteur Dr J.-M. Sallese, rapporteur



I have a thing for tools. — Tim Allen

In memoriam Simon "Peschmä" Rutishauser

## Abstract

Electronics today permeate our life and existence. It has become nearly impossible to evade any dependence on electronic devices that surround us every day - computers, phones, televisions. But also other objects become increasingly "smart" - watches, cars, coffee machines, even entire buildings. Without necessarily being aware of it, every person in our modern world is the owner of billions, probably tens of billions of transistors. These elementary switches are the primitive units, of which all electronic devices are made, much like biological cells constitute our bodies.

Decades of technological progress at an incredible pace have been fueled by the constant improvement of semiconductor device technology. The original combination of silicon, silicon dioxide and aluminum required to build a transistor, has been complemented by a myriad of other materials. One of the last remainders of the original technology, the silicon channel, is now about to be replaced as well. While a short term remedy for the present performance bottleneck might be found in III-V compounds a more compelling alternative could be found in 2D materials.

Graphene was not only the first 2D material to be discovered and isolated in 2004, but also has the most extraordinary electric properties, owing to the high symmetry of its lattice. The content of this thesis presents a broad examination of the graphene field effect device reaching from the fabrication over electrical characterization to data analysis, device modeling and finally simulation of a small circuit.

In this thesis, we present practical considerations regarding the experimental examination of graphene field-effect devices. A fabrication flow tailored for top-gated graphene devices was developed, taking into account the particular requirements and sensitivities of the material. We also describe a set of versatile software tools that were developed for the design of devices, chips and wafers, their automated electric characterization and finally for browsing and visualizing the measurement results. The data analysis was performed with a very effective conductance-based model, which is based on semi-empirical models commonly used to describe graphene devices. We provide an overview of these models, the phenomena which they take into account and the steps that can be taken to improve their accuracy to obtain the model we finally utilized.

A environment was created to use our model in a SPICE-like circuit simulator in order to study possible topologies in which graphene devices could constitute an elementary circuit block.

#### Abstract

We focus our study on devices that operate as a differential pair, resembling the configuration that also enables very high-speed source-coupled and emitter-coupled logic circuits based on standard silicon transistors. Using analytical calculations we determine tuning parameters and their optimum values to maximize the transfer characteristics of our graphene-based differential circuit block.

In order to achieve more accurate simulation and as a means to verify the empirical model, we worked on a more rigorous approach. Based on first principles, we construct a model building on the specific carrier statistics in graphene. These deviate from the usual Boltzmann statistics and lead to a an equation describing the device's charge-voltage relation, which is transcendental and cannot ordinarily be solved. By using asymptotic approximations, we obtain closed-form expressions for the device current as a function of bias conditions. Unlike many other models, we can discriminate both between electron and hole currents as well as between drift and diffusion currents, making the model well-suited for implementation as a compact model.

Keywords: graphene, circuit, transistor, differential logic, fabrication process, characterization, modeling, simulation

## Zusammenfassung

Elektronik durchdringt heute unser Leben und unsere Existenz. Kaum jemand kann sich der Abhängigkeit der elektronischen Geräte entziehen, die uns tagtäglich umgeben – Computer, Mobiltelefone, Fernseher. Aber auch andere Objekte werden immer mehr durch ßmarte"Gegenstücke ersetzt, wie etwa Armbanduhren, Autos, Küchengeräte, ja sogar ganze Gebäude. In unserer modernen Gesellschaft ist fast jeder im Besitz von wohl duzenden milliarden Transistoren, ohne sich dessen zwangsläufig bewusst zu sein. Diese fundamentalen Schaltelemente liegen allen elektronischen Geräten zugrunde, ähnlich wie alles Leben sich aus biologischen Zellen zusammensetzt.

Angetrieben durch andaurnde Verbesserung der Halbleiterherstellungstechnologie haben wir Jahrzente technologischen Fortschritts in einem unglaublichen Tempo erlebt. Zu der ursprünglichen Kombination aus Silizium, Siliziumdioxid und Aluminium, mit der Transistoren anfangs gebaut wurden, ist mittlerweile eine Unzahl anderer Materialien dazugekommen. Einer der letzen Bestandteile der urspünglichen Technologie, der Silizium-*Channel*, soll nun ebenfalls ersetzt werden um den nächsten Leistungsengpass zu überwinden. Kurfristig werden hier wohl III-V-Verbindungen Abhilfe schaffen, doch längerfristig könnten 2D-Materialien eine interessantere Alternative bieten.

Graphen ist nicht nur das erste 2D-Material, das im Jahr 2004 entdeckt wurde, es hat angesichts der besonderen Gittersymmetrie auch die aussergewönlichsten Eigenschaften. Der Inhalt dieser Dissertation beschreibt eine breite Auseinandersetzung mit dem Graphen-Feldeffektdevices und reicht von Herstellung und Fabrikation über eletkrische Characterisierung hin zu Datenanalyse, Modellierung und schliesslich zur Simulation eines einfachen Schaltkreises.

In der vorliegenden Arbeit, präsentieren wir eine praktische Auseinandersetzung mit der experimentellen Untersuchung des Graphen-Feldeffektdevices. Zunächst wurde ein Fabrikationsprozess erarbeitet, der auf die spezifischen Anforderungnen in Bezug auf Graphen und die Empfindlichkeit des Materials besondere Rücksicht nimmt. Wir berichten ferner über eine Reihe vielseitiger Software-Tools, die für die Verschiedenen Arbeitsphasen entwickelt wurden, insbesondere für das Layoutdesign von Devices, Chips und Wafers, dann deren automatisierte elektrische Charakterisierung und schliesslich für das Verzeichnen, Durchsuchen und Visualisieren der Messresultate. Die Datenanalyse wurde mittels eines äusserst effektiven, Konduktanzbasierten Modells durchgeführt, welches auf bestehenden semi-empirischen Modellen aufbaut, die gewöhnlich zur Beschreibung von Graphen-Devices verwendet werden.

#### Zusammenfassung

Wir liefern eine Übersicht über diese Modelle, die Eigenschaften und Phänomene die sie berücksichtiguen sowie Änderungen, anhand derer ihre Genauigkeit verbessert werden kann.

Eine Entwicklungsumgebung wurde erstellt, mit der wir unser Modell in einem SPICE-ähnlichen Schaltungssimulator verwenden können, um mögliche Topologien zu untersuchen, anhand derer mit Graphen-Devices ein ein elementarer Schaltungsblock gebildet werden könnte. Wir konzentrierten uns dabei auf eine Schaltung, die ähnlich wie ein Differenzverstärker funktioniert und sich an das Prinzip der *Source Coupled Logic*- bzw *Emitter Coupled Logic*-Hochgeschwindigkeitsschaltungen anlehnt. Anhand analytischer Berenchnungen haben wir Parameter bestimmt und deren Werte optimiert, um die Übertragungscharakteristik unseres differenziellen Schaltungsblocks zu maximieren.

Um einerseits noch präzisere Simulationen zu ermöglichen und andererseits unser empirisches Modell zu verifizieren, haben wir ein weiteres, auf den Grundprinzipien basiertes Modell erarbeitet. Die besondere Ladungsträgerstatistik in Graphen, die sich von der sonst üblichen Boltzmannverteilung unterscheidet, führt zu einer transzendenten Beziehung zwischen Ladung und Spannung die im Prinzip nicht analytisch lösbar ist. Wir verwenden hier asymptotische Näherungen um dennoch Lösungen für den Stromfluss im Graphen-Device in geschlossener Form zu erhalten. Im Gegensatz zu anderen Modellen können wir sowohl zwischen Elektronen- und Löcherstrom als auch zwischen Drift- und Diffusionsstrom unterscheiden. Das Modell eignet sich überdies auch zur Implementierung als Kompaktmodell für Schaltungssimulationen.

## Contents

Abstract										
Table of contents										
1	Introduction									
	1.1	History	1							
	1.2 Structure									
	1.3 Band Structure									
	1.4	Properties	4							
		1.4.1 Carrier Mobility	4							
		1.4.2 Electrical Conductivity	5							
		1.4.3 Mechanical Strength	6							
	1.5	Synthesis	6							
	1.6 Other 2D materials									
		1.6.1 Bilayer Graphene	7							
		1.6.2 Molybden Disulphide	8							
		1.6.3 Hexagonal Boron Nitride	9							
		1.6.4 Bandgap in 2D Materials	10							
	1.7	Applications	11							
		1.7.1 Transistors in logic circuits	11							
		1.7.2 Radio Frequency transistors	12							
		1.7.3 Flexible and Thin-Film Electronics	14							
		1.7.4 Other applications	14							
2	The	Graphene Field-Effect Device	17							
	2.1	Layout	17							

		2.1.1 The Chip Layout	17				
		2.1.2 Layout Software	18				
		2.1.3 The GDSII File Format	19				
		2.1.4 The GdsCAD Package for Python	21				
		2.1.5 Python Layout Builder Framework	21				
	2.2	Fabrication	25				
		2.2.1 Graphene Samples	25				
		2.2.2 Oxide Deposition	26				
		2.2.3 Alignment Marks	27				
		2.2.4 Graphene Channel	28				
		2.2.5 Contacts	29				
		2.2.6 HSQ Interlayer	32				
		2.2.7 Gate Metal	32				
		2.2.8 Landing Pads	33				
		2.2.9 Conclusion	34				
	2.3	Electrical Characterization	36				
		2.3.1 Measurement Setup	36				
		2.3.2 Control Software	37				
	2.4	Data Analysis	42				
		2.4.1 Current-Voltage curve fitting	42				
		2.4.2 Advanced empirical modeling	45				
		2.4.3 Conclusion	50				
0			50				
3		The differential Circuit	53				
	3.1		53				
	3.2	2 Device Model for Hand Calculation					
	3.3	3 Differential circuit analytical modeling					
	3.4	4 Circuit simulation results					
	3.5	Conclusion	60				
4	A Pl	Physical Device Model					
	4.1	Carrier Statistics in Graphene					
	4.2	The Charge-Voltage Relation					
	4.3	Pseudo-Fermi Levels					

#### Contents

	4.4	Quantum Capacitance	69			
	4.5	Drift-Diffusion Current	70			
		4.5.1 Drift Current	71			
		4.5.2 Diffusion Current	72			
		4.5.3 Integration	73			
	4.6	Results	74			
	4.7	Conclusion	77			
	5 Conclusions					
5	Con	aclusions	79			
5 A	Con Dev	clusions rice Modeling Supplemental Information	79 83			
5 A	Con Dev A.1	<b>ice Modeling Supplemental Information</b> The Fermi-Dirac Integral	<b>79</b> <b>83</b> 83			
5 A	Con Dev A.1 A.2	<b>ice Modeling Supplemental Information</b> The Fermi-Dirac Integral	<b>79</b> <b>83</b> 83 85			
5 A	Con Dev A.1 A.2 A.3	ice Modeling Supplemental Information         The Fermi-Dirac Integral	<ul> <li><b>79</b></li> <li><b>83</b></li> <li>83</li> <li>85</li> <li>87</li> </ul>			
5 A	Con Dev A.1 A.2 A.3 A.4	rice Modeling Supplemental Information         The Fermi-Dirac Integral	<ul> <li><b>79</b></li> <li><b>83</b></li> <li>83</li> <li>85</li> <li>87</li> <li>91</li> </ul>			

## **1** Introduction

### 1.1 History

The ground-breaking research by the Manchester group[1], published in 2004 of is generally viewed as the starting point of the enduring surge in graphene research. The history of this new material, however, begins earlier with efforts to understand the electronic properties of graphite by Wallace in 1947[2] followed by by McClure and Slonczewski [3, 4] later in the 1950's. In all of these papers, the band structure of graphite is studied by calculating individual, two-dimensional graphite sheets.

The name *Graphene* was not coined until 1994 when it was made official by IUPAC<sup>1</sup> recommendations [5] out of need for a terminology in the field of graphite intercalation compounds. The use of the terms "graphite layer" or "carbon sheet" were deemed incorrect or inappropriate and so the suffix *"ene"*, that had been used for so-called fused polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, was adopted.

While more theoretical studies of graphene were made in 80's and 90's, these were generally viewed as pure academic exercises since the material was considered to be thermodynamically unstable and impossible to realize [6]. Despite these predictions, which may still strictly be valid for perfectly flat crystals, it appears graphene can exist due to the strong sp<sup>2</sup> bonding between its atoms and more importantly because of slight corrugations, on the order of a few nanometers, that were observed in 2007[7].

Since 2004, and in particular after the Nobel Price was awarded to Geim and Novoselov in 2010, there has been tremendous research interest. The number of graphene-related publications has exceeded 10000 per year at the time of writing of this thesis.

### 1.2 Structure

Graphene consists of a single (one atom thick) layer of carbon atoms, arranged in a honeycomb lattice, making it a truly two-dimensional material, closely related to fullerenes, carbon nanotubes and graphite. The latter, familiar to all of us from writing with pencils, consists

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>International Union of Pure and Applied Chemistry (iupac.org)



Figure 1.1 – Structure of Graphene: Graphene (top left) and similar allotropes of carbon: graphite, a fullerene and a carbon nanotube (clockwise) (a) Lattice structure of graphene in real space (b) and in reciprocal space (c). The lattice vectors have a length a = 2.46Å. The nearest neighbor distance is  $\delta = a/\sqrt{3} = 1.42$ Å. Images reprinted with permission from [9].

of layers of graphene stacked upon each other and weakly held together by *Van der Waals* forces. This weak binding between layers is responsible for the ease of creating marks by abrasion of the pencil's "lead" on the one hand, but also for the possibility of removing single layers by mechanical exfoliation (the "scotch tape method"). Contrarily to the weak inter-layer coupling, the intra-layer bonds are very strong: the atoms in graphene are connected by 1.42 Å sp<sup>2</sup> bonds, giving it its hexagonal structure and making it to date the strongest material ever measured[8].

Figure 1.1b illustrates the lattice structure of graphene, with its two unit vectors  $a_1$ ,  $a_2$  and the nearest-neighbor vectors  $\delta_1$ ,  $\delta_2$ ,  $\delta_3$ . It is noteworthy that these two unit vectors cannot span the entire hexagonal lattice of graphene, but only one of its two triangular sublattices A and B, which are represented by the blue and yellow circles, respectively. These sublattices are Bravais lattices whereas the honeycomb structure in itself is not. This is reflected in reciprocal space (figure 1.1b), with the two non-equivalent corner points *K* and *K'* of the Brillouin zone.

#### **1.3 Band Structure**

The special electronic properties of graphene derive from its unusual band structure and the absence of a band gap. An analytic expression can be obtained with a tight-binding approach, where only nearest neighbors are takin into account [2, 9]. The parameter  $\gamma \approx 2.8 \text{ eV}$  is the nearest-neighbor hopping amplitude and *a* is the lattice constant:

$$E = \pm \gamma \sqrt{1 + 4\cos^2(k_y a) + 4\cos(k_y a)\cos(k_x \sqrt{3}a)}$$
(1.1)

Figure 1.2 shows a plot of equation (1.1), where the lower and upper surfaces are the conduction and valence bands, respectively. Intrinsic, isolated graphene in the ground state (T = 0K) has lower band completely filled with electrons and the upper band completely empty.



Figure 1.2 – Band structure as obtained by tight binding calculation.

The six points where the two surfaces touch correspond to the edges of the Brillouin zone and are called *K*-points or *Dirac*-points. The dispersion relation in the vicinity of these points has the shape of a double cone and can be expressed as  $|E - E_D| \approx v_F |\vec{k} - \vec{k_D}|$ , where  $E_D$  and  $\vec{k_D}$  are energy and wavevector, respectively, at the Dirac point and  $v_F \approx 10^6$  m/s is the Fermi velocity. In other words, the dispersion relation is linear in graphene contrarily to the usual parabolic dependence found in semiconductors.

In a semi-classical description of semiconductors, the effective mass of an electron is often defined by means of the band curvature around the valence band minimum (conduction band maximum for holes). This approach does not work in the case of graphene, but it is reasonable to assume that the different nature of its band structure leads to a very different electron mass. In fact, it has been experimentally observed [10] and theoretically predicted [11] that carriers behave like so-called massless Dirac fermions in graphene: computing the tight-binding Hamiltonian of low-energy electrons near a K-point leads to an equation which is equivalent to the two-dimensional Dirac equation<sup>2</sup> with no mass term [9]. These discoveries are at the origin of the names *Dirac point* and *Dirac fermions*.

Since low effective mass is generally associated with high carrier mobility [12], extraordinarily high values of mobility can be expected in graphene.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The Dirac equation, formulated by *Paul Dirac* in 1928 in an effort to reconcile quantum mechanics and special relativity, combines the Schrödinger Equation with the relativistic energy-momentum relation (a generalization of Eintein's famous  $E = mc^2$ ) in order to explain the behavior of relativistically moving electrons.

#### **1.4 Properties**

Aside from being the first 2D material to be isolated and experimentally studied, the excitement graphene has brought into the scientific community also stems from the record-breaking mechanical and electronic properties it exhibits.

#### 1.4.1 Carrier Mobility

Carrier mobility is probably the most important reason for the high interest in graphene among the electron device community, especially in light of the difficulties of further downscaling transistors in current CMOS technology. One way to increase performance, other than shrinking transistor sizes, is boosting the channel material's mobility, which has a direct proportional impact on the transistor's on-current. This has been done in the past through strain engineering in Silicon but to achieve even higher mobility, the channel material has to be replaced entirely.

Mobility characterizes how charge carriers respond to an electric field inside a semiconductor in the diffusive transport regime, i.e. as long as the carrier's mean free path is smaller than the considered length of transport (e.g. the gate length in a transistor). In this case the carrier drift velocity is proportional to the applied electric field and the proportionality constant is the mobility:  $\vec{v}_{drift} = \mu \vec{E}$ .

The unit of mobility is *velocity* divided by *electric field* is usually expressed as cm<sup>2</sup>/Vs:

$$[\mu] = \frac{m/s}{V/m} = \frac{m^2}{Vs} = 10^4 \frac{cm^2}{Vs}$$
(1.2)

Table 1.1 summarizes mobility values reported in the literature. The highest measured values of over  $200\,000\,\mathrm{cm^2/Vs}$  require cryogenic temperatures. With the use of hexagonal Boron-Nitride as a substrate, an electrically insulating 2D material with a structure very similar to graphene, mobilities even higher than in suspended graphene could be achieved. Even the smaller numbers in table 1.1 compare favorably to the state-of-the-art in high-mobility technologies such as InP (15000 cm<sup>2</sup>/Vs), InAs (13200 cm<sup>2</sup>/Vs) or strained Silicon (1400 cm<sup>2</sup>/Vs) [13].

Mobility is generally a constant under low-field conditions, but in modern transistors carrier velocities tend to saturate in certain conditions, e.g. when the electric field strength becomes larger than a critical value  $E_{\text{crit}}$ . The constant mobility is then usually replaced by a field-dependent *effective* mobility:

$$\mu_{\rm eff} = \frac{\mu}{1 + \frac{E}{E_{\rm crit}}} \tag{1.3}$$

More generally, mobilities are functions of various parameters, such as temperature or dopant concentration, and can be attributed to different scattering mechanisms. The overall resulting

cryogenic te	emperature	room temperature	substrate	reference
suspended	non-s	suspended	I	
		10000	SiO <sub>2</sub>	Novoselov 2004 [1]
		5000	SiO <sub>2</sub>	Lemme 2008 [14]
230000 (5 K)	25000 (5 K)		SiO <sub>2</sub>	Bolotin 2008 [15]
120000 (100 K)	20000 (100 K)	9000	SiO <sub>2</sub>	Bolotin 2008 [15]
		10000	hBN	Meric 2010 [16]
	80000 (2 K)		hBN	Dean 2010 [17]
		1500	SiC	Lin 2010 [18]
1000000 (5 K)			n/a	Castro 2010 [19]
	275000 (4 K)	125000	hBN	Zomer 2011 [20]
	500000 (50 K)	100000	hBN	Mayorov 2011 [21]
		5000	Quartz	Ramon 2012 [22]
		8700	SiC	Guo 2013 [23]

Table 1.1 – Selected mobility measurements in graphene reported in the literature in chronological order. All mobility values are in  $cm^2/Vs$ 

effective mobility is then dominated by the lowest one, according to Mathiessen's rule:

$$\frac{1}{\mu_{\rm eff}} = \sum_{i} \frac{1}{\mu_i}.$$
(1.4)

The important scattering sources in graphene on  $SiO_2$  were found to be charged impurities and remote optical phonons originating in the substrate[24]. In suspended graphene, mobility is also limited by impurities, albeit at lower concentration, and by acoustic phonons [25].

#### 1.4.2 Electrical Conductivity

Conductivity is tightly linked with mobility but is also dependent on carrier concentration. In a mixed-carrier material with electron and hole concentrations *n* and *p*, mobilities  $\mu_n$  and  $\mu_p$  and *q* being the elementary charge, the conductivity is given by:

$$\sigma = qn\mu_n + qp\mu_p \tag{1.5}$$

The picture changes of course, when very small devices and/or low Temperatures are considered so that the mean free path of the charge carriers become comparable or smaller than, e.g. the gate length of a transistor. In these cases the carrier mobility is no longer a useful concept and other tools, such as the Landauer formalism, have to be applied.

Although carrier concentrations are expected to completely vanish at the Dirac point, where the density of states is zero, it was found early on by Novoselov, Geim et al. that a constant minimum conductivity of about 155  $\mu$ S is always present regardless of measured mobility [10]. This minimum conductivity, quite precisely corresponds to  $4q^2/h$ , where the factor 4 multi-

#### **Chapter 1. Introduction**

plying the conductance quantum  $q^2/h$  is straightforwardly attributable to the two-fold spin and valley degeneracy. A more fundamental lower limit of conductivity,  $4q^2/\pi h$  (49.31 µS), was later derived analytically from the Dirac equation [26] and has been experimentally confirmed [27]. This value was obtained by taking ballistic transport into account, while the larger value previously found was determined to be the limit in case of diffusive transport.

These results are significant with regards to graphene based electronic devices, since one immediate consequence is that any on-off current ratio will be fundamentally limited by the minimum conductance.

#### 1.4.3 Mechanical Strength

According to the authors of a study carried out in 2008[8], graphene is the strongest material ever measured. They used nanoindentation by atomic force microscopy (AFM) on highly defect-free graphene sheets, suspended over a circular cavity, in order to determine it's elasticity and the amount of pressure necessary to break it. The former is expressed by Young's modulus, which was determined to be 1 Tera-Pascal (1.0 TPa); the latter, graphene's breaking strength, was found to be 40 N/m. This means that graphene could sustain reversible elastic deformations by over 20% [28] without rupture.

#### 1.5 Synthesis

There exists today a variety of methods for producing graphene with varying quality, cost and scalability. Mechanical exfoliation[1] using a scotch-tape to peel off layers from highly ordered pyrolytic Graphite (HOPG) was originally used by the Manchester Group, and still today produces the best quality graphene samples. It is, however, hardly a repeatable process and randomly produces single-, bi- and few-layer Graphene flakes no more than a few microns large.

A large area alternative is the epitaxial growth of Graphene on SiC wafers [29]. This method is based on the thermal decomposition of the substrate material, which occurs at temperatures between 1200°C and 1800°C when Si atoms desorb from the surface.

A growth method based on chemical vapor deposition (CVD) on copper foils appears to be the currently most popular method of producing graphene. It is less costly than epitaxial graphene (due to expensive SiC wafers) yet allows for synthesis of large area graphene sheets [30]. In this process, carbon atoms originating from a methane gas flow at temperatures around 1000°C are adsorbed on the Cu surface in a self-limiting process [31]. To make the Graphene suitable for electronic device fabrication it has to be released from the Copper foil and transferred onto an insulating substrate, which is commonly a Silicon wafer covered by a layer of SiO<sub>2</sub>.

#### 1.6 Other 2D materials

The discovery of graphene laid the foundation not only for graphene-specific research. It started an entire new field in materials science centered on two-dimensional materials and its

applications.

A variety of existing bulk materials resemble graphite in its layered structure, where *van der Waals* or other weak forces such as hydrogen bonds hold together atomically thin sheets [32]. With advances in exfoliation and CVD techniques a large number of monolayer materials have been isolated from such layered materials and even more have been studied theoretically and may soon be experimentally realized as well [33]. While some of these resemble graphene in structure and electronic properties, there is a rich variety of 2D materials ranging from metallic, over semiconducting to isolating [33].

Closely related to graphene are silicene[34], germanene[35], phosphorene<sup>3</sup>[36] and most recently stanene[37, 38]. These are 2D materials arranged in a hexagonal lattice consisting of atoms of a single group IV (Si, Ge, Sn) or group V (P) element. With the exception of phosphorene, they are gapless, have the same cone-like band structure (which is commonly called the *Dirac cone*) and are expected to possess massles Dirac fermions and similar electronic properties as graphene [39]. Phosphorene on the other hand is a semiconductor with a predicted band gap of 1.0 eV [40]; initial experiments on few-layer phosphorene field-effect transistors show field effect mobility of  $1000 \text{ cm}^2/\text{Vs}$  and an on-off ratio of  $10^5$  [36].

#### 1.6.1 Bilayer Graphene

Bilayer graphene has been initially observed as a byproduct of single layer graphene exfoliation [1]. Although it is not exactly a separate material as much as the other discussed examples, the mere addition of a second graphene layer does substantially change the band structure and properties of the resulting bilayer with respect to monolayer graphene. In particular it has been observed that an insulating state can be induced bilayer graphene by applying an vertical electric field [41].

Like graphene, its bilayer has a zero band gap. However, the low-energy dispersion is quadratic rather than linear, and electrons and holes behave as massive particles unlike the massless Dirac fermions in graphene. A full review of the electric properties of bilayer graphene is given in reference [42]. Most importantly though, the band structure of bilayer graphene can be altered by means of doping or by applying a vertical electric field. This transforms the parabolic band structure into a "mexican hat" with a band gap [43, 44]. The band gap is tunable and widens as the field strength increases, saturating at a value of about 300 meV [45].

Bilayer graphene can be synthesized using similar methods as monolayer graphene, most prominently CVD[46]. The growth on copper by surface-mediated catalysis is self-limiting in principle; once a complete layer of graphene covers the substrate, precursor molecules can no longer come in contact with the Cu surface. Under the right conditions, however, before the a complete layer of graphene coalesces, a second layer can start growing underneath existing islands of graphene[46].

In the other CVD-like growth method, graphene films are formed by precipitation of carbon

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Phosphorene is often referred to as (monolayer) black phosphorus, after the layered bulk material from which it derives.



Figure 1.3 – Schematic band structure for graphene (a), bilayer graphene (b) and bilayer graphene under a vertical electric field (c). Bilayer, like monolayer graphene, is inherently gapless but when a field is applied the bands separate and create a mexican-hat-like shape. The lower (blue) parts represent the conduction bands, the upper (red) parts the valence band.

on the surface of Nickel or other metals with high C solubility. The amount of carbon that precipitates depends on a number of factors such as the C solubility, the tendency of metal carbide to form, and the cooling rate, etc. If these conditions are carefully controlled, it is possible, although challenging, to obtain exactly two layers of graphene [46].

#### 1.6.2 Molybden Disulphide

Molybden disulphide ( $MoS_2$ ) was one the first monolayer materials to be discovered in 2005, shortly after graphene, along with boron nitride (BN) and niobium diselenide ( $NbSe_2$ ) [10]. It is also the first semiconducting monolayer material (besides  $NbSe_2$ ) and therefore particularly interesting for electronics applications, although it was soon clear that carrier mobilities were way below those in graphene. The first report of a transistor built from  $MoS_2$  followed in 2011 [47].

MoS<sub>2</sub> layers were first extracted using a similar mechanical cleavage method as was used for graphene, from bulk MoS<sub>2</sub>, which is a layered material similar to graphite. Meanwhile, scalable production methods such as CVD growth[48, 49, 50] and liquid-phase exfoliation[51] are also available.

While bulk  $MoS_2$  has an indirect band gap of 1.3 eV, monolayer  $MoS_2$  has a direct band gap of 1.8 eV [52], significantly larger than Silicon (1.14 eV), which allows for high ON-OFF ratios exceeding  $10^8$  [47]. Mobility on the other hand was found to be relatively low  $200 \text{ cm}^2/\text{Vs}$  [47]. The direct band gap makes it suitable for optoelectronic applications, for example very sensitive photodetectors [53].

MoS<sub>2</sub> belongs to a group of transition-metal dichalcogenides (TMDs; chalcogens are S, Se or Te), of which it is probably the most prominent representative. In a single layer TMD, the metal atoms, arranged in a honeycomb lattice, are sandwiched between two layers of chalcogenide atoms, also in a honeycomb lattice. More than 40 types are currently known, metallic and semiconducting [54]. Other notable[12, 54, 55] monolayer TMDs are WS2, WSe<sub>2</sub>, MoSe<sub>2</sub> and



Figure 1.4 – Topography and surface charge density of graphene on h-BN and SiO<sub>2</sub> in comparison. Reprinted with permission from [59].

MoTe<sub>2</sub>.

#### 1.6.3 Hexagonal Boron Nitride

Boron Nitride in its hexagonal form (*h-BN*) is best known for its use as a dielectric substrate in graphene electronic devices, where it has highly favorable impact on the carrier mobilities in graphene (c.f. section 1.4.1). In fact, the use of h-BN has allowed for phenomenal transport performance to be achieved, otherwise possible only in suspended graphene samples (see table 1.1). Carrier mobilities in graphene are normally limited by impurities and phonons originating from the commonly used  $SiO_2$  substrate [56, 57]. On hBN substrates, these effects are mitigated because hBN sheets are extremely smooth, have a crystal structure almost exactly identical to graphene and a chemically highly inert surface, with no dangling bonds or surface charges [58, 59].

BN is a III-V compound and as such very similar to carbon in many ways. The elements B and N are immediate neighbours, located left and right of C in the periodic table. Boron nitride also occurs in many of the same allotropes: The hexagonal layered structure of h-BN (with  $sp^2$  hybridized bonds) is similar to graphite whereas the cubic form c-BN ( $sp^3$  bonds)

#### **Chapter 1. Introduction**

corresponds to diamond and the relatively rare wurtzite form to lonsdaleite [60]. Even BN nanotubes [61] and fullerenes [62, 63] have been synthesized in the 1990's when the interest in layered materials reached its first height following the discovery of carbon nanotubes in 1991 [64].

The similarity is particularly striking between h-BN and graphene which have almost identical lattice parameters (1.44 Å in h-BN vs 1.42 Å in graphene) and interlayer spacing (3.33 Å vs 3.35 Å) [65]. There are, however, two major differences. In h-BN layers follow *AA'* stacking, i.e. the hexagons of two layers are exactly on top of one another (B and N atoms alternating). Graphite on the other hand has *bernal* (*AB*) stacking where every other carbon atom is centered above and below a hexagon, i.e. subsequent layers are horizontally shifted by one nearest-neighbor distance from each another [66, 67]. The other difference is that hBN has a large indirect band gap, which was very recently determined to be 5.995 eV in agreement with theoretical predictions [68], making it electrically insulating and a useful dielectric material in electron devices.

hBN can be obtained through different methods, including exfoliation [69, 70] and CVD growth, e.g. from borazane (H<sub>3</sub>BNH<sub>3</sub>) on copper foils [71].

#### 1.6.4 Bandgap in 2D Materials

In the pursuit of sustaining the continued advancement of CMOS technology, the ultimate goal is to find a truly semiconducting material that allows for large on/off ratios and has high carrier mobilities enabling fast switching speed and ultimate scaling. Graphene fulfills one of the two requirements, but it lacks a band gap necessary for achieving a low off-current. This is discussed in more detail in section 1.7.1.

For these reasons, there is a strong incentive to either find a semiconducting 2D material, or to modify graphene in a way to introduce a band gap by cutting large-area graphene into nanoribbons or applying an electrical field to bilayer graphene. However, 2D materials with a band gap so far have been found to have dramatically lower carrier mobilities [47, 72, 40]. Similarly, the opening of a band gap in graphene appears to be accompanied by a systematic reduction of mobility as well [73, 74, 75, 12].

There appears to be a universal trend of mobility and band gap to be competing (figure 1.5). When a band gap is opened in graphene, the energy dispersion is no longer linear and carriers are no longer masselss [75], which implies lower mobility. It has also been observed [12], the larger the band gap of a material, the heavier the effective mass of its charge carriers. So far there has been no record of any material able to completely break out of this restriction, although Germanene may have an particularly favorable combination of a large tunable band gap [76] and high mobility [77], according to predictions.



Figure 1.5 – Room temperature mobility vs bandgap for different materials, illustrating the trend of reduced mobility in materials with larger bandgaps. Graphic reprinted with permission from [12]

## 1.7 Applications

#### 1.7.1 Transistors in logic circuits

According to the *International Technology Roadmap for Semiconductors*, among the key challenges to continue scaling of devices and memory, is the implementation of high-mobility channel materials in transistors. This concerns the continuation of CMOS technology, sometimes called "More Moore" strategy, for the next 1-2 decades. Currently likely candidates of such materials include Germanium for pMOS transistors and III-V compounds for nMOS transistors (typically SiGe and InGaAs) due to their high hole and electron mobilities, repsectively [78, 79, 80, 81]. Graphene far exceeds these material's performance in mobility, which remains on the order of  $10^2 - 10^3 \text{ cm}^2/\text{Vs}$ .

For many years now, following device scaling into the deep sub-micron lengths, transistors have been plagued by short channel effects. In particular, *Drain Induced Barrier Lowering* (DIBL) is related to a loss of electrostatic gate control over the channel potential in very short devices, leading to leakage currents and in the worst case, preventing the device to be turned off. Strategies to improve gate control have lead to the development of ultra-thin-body SOI, FinFet and gate-all-around nanowire technologies, aiming to reduce the cross section and surface-to-volume ratio of the channel material with respect to the gate. Graphene, as a two-dimensional material would represent the ultimate surface-to-volume scaling and allow for excellent electrostatic gate control.

There are thus several aspects in favor of using graphene as a transistor channel material: its

#### **Chapter 1. Introduction**

2D geometry, the phenomenally high carrier mobility, its ability to sustain large currents and the good thermal conductivity, which is useful in evacuating waste heat. However, the inability to completely turn off current, rooted in the missing band gap, has so far been a showstopper for graphene as a serious candidate for use in logic circuit transistors.

Also crucial for proper transistor operation is the saturation of drain current for values of drain-source bias voltage  $V_{DS}$  above a certain threshold  $V_{D,sat}$ . This allows the transistor output to be independent of  $V_{DS}$  and to be modulated by the gate voltage alone, thus acting as a near-ideal current source. In silicon MOSFETs this phenomenon is caused by the so-called pinch off: The surface charge density in the inversion layer close to the drain vanishes leaving a highly resistive space-charge region that scales with  $V_{DS}$  leading to a constant current. This is only possible in a semiconductor with a band gap.

In order to overcome this major limitation various attempts have been made to introduce a bandgap in graphene. To be suitable for logic circuit applications, it has been estimated that a band gap of at least 360-400 cm<sup>2</sup>/Vs is required to achieve the necessary on-off contrast values [78, 82]. This can be done by lateral carrier confinement in very thin graphene nanoribbons [73, 83] or by applying a vertical electric field in bilayer graphene [44, 84]. The bandgap opening in bilayer graphene however appears to be limited (see section 1.6.1).

Larger band gaps are possible in graphene nanoribbons (GNR) but are difficult to achieve [85]: Depending on the ribbon's chirality (armchair or zig-zag edges) a width less than 10nm is required. This has been realized by "unzipping" carbon nanotubes, resulting in very precise ribbons having atomically smooth edges [73]. While this approach is ill scalable, lithographically defined structures tend to suffer from larger line edge roughness. This can lead to strong degradation of carrier transport, localized states and loss of the high mobility. An observed band gap may often be due to a Coulomb blockade resulting from the irregular ribbon edge structure rather than from the intended lateral carrier confinement [86, 87].

This loss of mobility adds on top of an inherently reduced mobility as a result of the modified band structure, which occurs independently of the technique applied to open a band gap (see section 1.6.4). Given these considerations, it appears unlikely that graphene will establish itself as viable candidate of a channel material for logic circuit transistors in a CMOS-like technology. However, beyond the more Moore horizon, graphene might still play an important role in a novel type of devices. Or might be used in different circuit topologies that leverage the high mobility without suffering from the lack of a bandgap.

#### 1.7.2 Radio Frequency transistors

Radio Frequency (RF) and analog electronics have become pervasive in modern computers, cell phones and other electronic devices. RF transistors are building blocks in circuits such as mixers, modulators, amplifiers etc, which are essential for enabling all possible variants of wireless communication. This type of transistor has somewhat different requirements from transistors used in digital logic, making graphene a potentially suitable material.

In particular, for high frequency transistors the band-gap requirements are not as stringent

#### 1.7. Applications



Figure 1.6 – A simple RF circuit based on a graphene field-effect transistor (GFET). Reprinted with permission from [90]

since power dissipation is a lesser concern. On the other hand, they must be capable of operating at very high frequencies. Currently the RF domain is dominated by InP, InAS and GaAs high-electron mobility transistors (HEMT), SiGe heterojunction bipolar transistors (HBT) but also Si MOSFETs [88, 89].

The inability to completely turn off current in graphene devices is not *a priori* a problem in this case, because in RF and analog circuits, the main transistor is typically biased by a constant current, defining its operating point. A small AC signal is overlaid on this DC bias and produces at the output, depending on the circuit's function, either an amplified signal or – as in figure 1.6 – a signal carrying a different frequency, which results from mixing with a second AC input.

The two principal figures of merit for RF transistors are *cutoff frequency*  $f_T$  and *maximum oscillation frequency*  $f_{\text{max}}$ , where current and power gain, respectively, reduce to 0dB [78]:

$$f_T = \frac{g_m}{2\pi C_G} \tag{1.6}$$

$$f_{\max} = \frac{f_T}{2\sqrt{g_D(R_G + R_C) + 2\pi f_T R_G C_G}}$$
(1.7)

In equation (1.6),  $g_m$  is the transconductance and  $C_G$  is the gate capacitance. Graphene devices excel with very high cutoff frequencies[91, 92], since the carrier mobility directly factors into the value of  $g_m$ . In equation (1.7)  $g_D$  is the channel conductance,  $R_G$  and  $R_C$  are gate and contact resistances, respectively. Power gain is generally considered to be the more important figure of merit for RF circuits. Unfortunately, the values of  $f_{\text{max}}$  tend to be dramatically lower than  $f_T$ , often lagging behind by orders of magnitude [93, 23, 94].

The main reasons are the large values of  $g_D$  and the notoriously high values of contact resistance  $R_C$ , although concerning the latter, much progress has been made [95, 96]. The large channel conductance on the other hand is due to the absence of current saturation and is a consequence of the zero-bandgap, as already discussed in 1.7.1. Due to this limitation, graphene RF transistors are unlikely to be able to compete with the established technologies. Nonetheless, the feasibility RF circuits based on graphene devices in principle has been demonstrated in a number of cases. Examples include a voltage amplifier with a 3dB bandwidth of about 6 GHz[93], an RF mixer operating at up to 8 GHz[90], and a complete RF receiver operating at 4.3 GHz [97].

#### 1.7.3 Flexible and Thin-Film Electronics

As discussed in the previous sections, graphene faces strong competition by traditional semiconductor materials for use in standard integrated electronics. Flexible electronics, on the other hand, are an application of growing importance where graphene has an inherent advantage over currently used materials. Bendable displays, e-paper, OLEDs and wearable electronics are examples of emerging products that could greatly benefit from Graphene's electrical and mechanical properties, in particular is large fracture strain [98].

Thin-film Transistors (TFTs) made of organic semiconductor materials are commonly used to realize circuits on flexible substrates, such as polyimide. The performance of such devices, however, is naturally very limited compared to transistors built on highly pure monocrystalline wafers. Semiconducting polymers in particular, suffer from very low field-effect mobility (less than 1 cm<sup>2</sup>/Vs)[99]. Better performance can be achieved with polycristalline silicon or extremely thinned-down bulk semiconductors, but at the cost reduced flexibility [100, 101]. Graphene, on the other hand, is not only extremely thin and bendable but also retains a considerably large carrier mobility (several 1000 cm<sup>2</sup>/Vs) even on these less than favorable substrates [102, 103, 104]. Nonetheless, the handicap of the missing bandgap and switch-off remains a problem, leaving flexible RF transistors as the most promising application. RF transistors with remarkably high cutoff and max. oscillation frequencies (198 GHz and 28.2 GHz, respectively) were recently reported on a flexible and transparent polyethylene naphthalate (PEN) substrate [94].

Other than for transistors, graphene can be used as a transparent electrode material in products such as touchscreens and solar panels [99]. The required properties in this case are high transparency of at least 90%, and low sheet resistance, at most  $30 \Omega$ . The primary contender in this field is indium tin oxide (ITO) which fulfills these requirements well. Graphene does have very high transparency, exceeding 97%, but achieving sufficient conductivity requires heavy doping and/or stacking of several films in parallel [30]. Its main advantage over ITO is the outstanding mechanical flexibility, chemical durability and relatively low production and deposition cost [105].

#### 1.7.4 Other applications

Besides classical use cases in electronics, as discussed in the previous sections, graphene has been instigated for countless other applications in many domains. An overview with some select examples is fiven in figure 1.7. Relatively closely related are the fields of photonics and optoelectronics, for which graphene is suitable due to its high transparency and the extraordinarily wide and uniform spectral range of photon interaction. Graphene has been used to realize e.g. photodetectors [106, 107, 108] and optical modulators [109, 110], which

#### 1.7. Applications



Figure 1.7 – Overview of various applications for graphene in their respective stage of industrialization. Image reprinted with kind permission by Dr. C. Moldovan from reference [115]

could be used in applications such as optical and THz-communication, optical interconnects, imaging or spectroscopy. These devices can operate at very high bandwidth because the high carrier mobility allows for particularly fast and efficient photocurrent generation [106]. Other optical devices realized with Graphene include mode-locked lasers [111, 112], polarizers [113] and very recently, a Thz non-reciprocal isolator, also known as optical diode [114], to name just a few.

Another very promising range of applications lies in the energy storage domain, where graphene, or nanocomposites of thereof, can be used as an electrode material in batteries [116, 117, 118] and supercapacitors [119, 120, 121] or hybrid devices [122]. Owing to its two-dimensional nature, graphene has an extremely high specific area (surface-to-mass ratio). Other properties that make it suitable for this application include the large intrinsic (quantum) capacitance [123], which determines the electric-double layer capacitance. Graphene also has good electrical and thermal conductivity, compared to other electrode materials, and is chemically stable, preventing corrosion in aqueous electrolytes [124]. Supercapacitors are predicted to reach energy densities on par with nickel metal hydride and lithium ion batteries, with the additional advantage of longer life-time and extremely fast charge-discharge rates [125]. Some recent realizations already achieve densities very close to these theoretical values[121, 122]. Graphene could also enhance the performance of lithium ion batteries to reach capacities double of what conventional batteries currently deliver [126].

Its mechanical properties, in particular the high Young's modulus, and large surface area per

unit mass, make graphene suitable for various NEMS<sup>4</sup> applications, such as switches [128] or resonators [129]. This kind of devices are typically realized by suspending single- or multilayer graphene sheets over a trench, allowing it to be electrically or mechanically actuated, enabling ultra-sensitive charge, force or mass detection [129, 130, 131, 132]. Its impermeability also makes Graphene membranes suitable for gas and pressure sensing [133, 134] capable of detecting even individual gas molecules [134]. Graphene is also hydrophobic and shows good biocompatibility, which has lead to intensive research aiming to use it for biosensing [135], in particular DNA sensors [136, 137], or drug delivery [138, 139, 140].

This short summary of applications is, of course, by no means exhaustive and the interest in graphene so tremendous that any ambition of listing every possible application would be doomed to failure. The unique collection of extraordinary properties in this material entails countless possibilities and only time will tell in which novel devices and technologies graphene will finally be utilized, but they are likely to be many.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Nano-electromechanical systems [127]

## **2** The Graphene Field-Effect Device

This chapter covers the full range of device design, fabrication, characterization and analysis. First the techniques and tools that were used in creating the layout are presented, followed by a step-by-step explanation of the process flow and the various fabrication challenges in section 2.2. Then the electrical characterization methods are presented (section 2.3), which were used to obtain the measurement data that we analyzed by means of the empirical models given in section 2.4.

### 2.1 Layout

The first step, before any fabrication process can be started, is the layout design of the devices chips and wafers that are to be manufactured. The features contained in these layout designs are then patterned onto the substrate by means of lithography, which is arguably the most fundamental technique in semiconductor fabrication. The layout is designed using a dedicated computer program and stored as a collection of shapes, cells and layers in an appropriate file format. Depending on the lithographic technique and specific parameters, this data is then converted in a process called *fracturing* and translated into a format understandable by the machine that performs the lithographic writing process.

### 2.1.1 The Chip Layout

We designed a standard layout for the  $1 \text{cm}^2$  square chips depicted in figure 2.1. The layout consists of an outer frame containing alignment marks and other auxiliary structures and four square regions ( $3000 \,\mu\text{m} \times 3000 \,\mu\text{m}$ ) in the center. Every region contains an array of  $8 \times 9$  device groups, i.e. devices with leads and landing pads for the probes used during electrical characterization.

This layout contains two types of device groups: three regions have FET-like field-effect devices consisting of a graphene ribbon, a gate and four contacts – two inner, adjacent to the gate and two outer ones – to enable Kelvin-type four terminal sensing. The third region contains special symmetric device blocks consisting of a ring-like, closed graphene ribbon with 4 gates and 4 contacts. The first device group thus has a total of 5, the latter 8 terminals.



Figure 2.1 – Full graphene chip layout (left). A device group from the south-west region complete with prober needle landing pads (top-right). Zoom-in on the device core structure (bottom-right).

Parameters are varied between rows; In the NE<sup>1</sup> region gate lengths are varied from 50 nm to 6.4  $\mu$ m while ribbon width is kept constant at 800 nm. In the NW region ribbon width is varid from 200 nm to 3.2  $\mu$ m at a constant gate length of 800 nm. In the SE region devices have the same gate length but ribbon- and contact widths are varied to have a contact area increasing from 400 nm × 400 nm to 1.6  $\mu$ m × 1.6  $\mu$ m. Finally, the SW region, contains the 4-device blocks varying in both ribbon width and gate length (400 nm to 1.6  $\mu$ m). The columns are numbered 1-8; the rows are indexed by the letters A-I.

#### 2.1.2 Layout Software

Common layout editing tools include *Tanner L-Edit* by MENTOR GRAPHICS (which recently acquired TANNER EDA), *CleWin* by PHOENIX SOFTWARE, *LayoutEditor* by JUSPERTOR GMBH or the CASCADE *Virtuoso LayoutSuite*, to name a few. These tools offer graphical user interfaces allowing to assemble shapes by point-and-click commands, following the traditional CAD principles of EDA software.<sup>2</sup> They work very well for designing transistor-based circuits in rectangular shapes, using predefined layers used in standard industrial semiconductor fabrication processes. Powerful capabilities are sometimes included, such as the translation of a circuit diagram, or even the description of a circuit in a hardware definition language (e.g. *Verilog* or *VHDL*) directly into a layout. Or the verification of a layout in terms of its compliance with the design rules associated with a given technology.

The requirements for layout design in a research environment are somewhat different. Here

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>NE: north east, SE: south east, NW: north west, SW: south west

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>CAD: Computer Aided Design - Software packages used in various fields of engineering and architecture. EDA: Electronic Design Automation - CAD software specific to the design of electronic circuits and systems.

the design objects are individual devices or elementary circuit blocks. For the present work the needs were, in particular:

- **Regularity** Generate arrays of devices in a regular arrangement.
- Random Shapes Create random shapes, including non-rectangular.
- **Paremetrization** Define parameters and combinations of parameters that can vary from one device to the next.
- Dynamic Shapes Adapt position and size of shapes dynamically according to parameters.
- **Custom Layers** Create and use layers ad-hoc, corresponding to the needs of a in-house specific fabrication flow.
- Attributes Assign attributes to devices and other entities.
- **Meta Data** Generate meta data, including coordinates, parameters attributes etc, that describes the layout and can be stored in a separate file.

Some of the existing tools listed above do meet one or the other requirement but it is difficult to find a tool that fulfills all of them. Advanced software suites, such as *L-Edit* or *Cascade Virtuoso* for example, provide the means to dynamically generate shapes using scripting languages, which allows for some flexibility. However, these scripting interfaces often use nonstandard languages, are limited in functionality and highly specific to the corresponding software, imposing a tedious learning curve. Lastly the mentioned software suites in this context are also very expensive.

For these reasons we opted to use *python*, a widely-used high-level, general-purpose, dynamic programming language. Python is distributed free of charge<sup>3</sup> and available for many operating systems. A package exists for generating, reading and writing layout data in the common GDSII layout file format. This solution allows precise and unrestricted control over the exact layout data while offering the flexibility of one of the most popular contemporary general-purpose programming languages.

#### 2.1.3 The GDSII File Format

The GDSII (Graphics Data System II) binary format was developed in the 1970's by CALMA, a company in California, owned at the time by GENERAL ELECTRIC[141]. The format is very old and relatively primitive, but still widely in use today and sufficient for all intents and purposes in the context of this work. The GDSII format in and of itself is not particularly interesting, however it is useful to illustrate how layout data is commonly organized hierarchically in cells and layers.

A file consists of a header and a collection of *cells* and *elements*. An element can be any of seven different types:

Boundary A filled polygon: the primitive geometric element.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>All Python releases are open source, published under the GNU General Public License.



Figure 2.2 – Illustration of the GDSII format: A gds file contains a series of cell definitions. Each cell may contain a number of elements, including polygons and references to other cells. Every element belongs to a particular layer, indicated by its color. References can be nested, which allows very complex layouts to be defined from a limited number of cells definitions.

Path An open polygon.\*

**Cell Reference** Creates an instance (copy) of a cell.

Cell Array An array of cell references.

Text A text element for documentation or labeling.\*

Node Indicates an electrical net.\*

**Box** A rectangular polygon.\*

The essential element types are **boundary** and **cell reference**. The items marked with an asterisk (\*) are non-writing, i.e. they are displayed on screen and can be used as annotations or to carry meta-information but will be discarded in the fracturing process. A **cell** can contain any number of other elements. Hierarchical structures are achieved by placing references to a cell inside other cells. A cell can be instantiated or copied through references an arbitrary number of times and multiple levels of nesting are possible.

A cell reference is associated with a single pair of coordinates in the enclosing structure. Cell references can be transformed through mirroring, rotation and scaling. Cell reference arrays are defined with the number of columns and rows and (optionally) with transformation parameters. All patterns to be lithographically written are represented by filled polygons defined using the **boundary** element. If text should be included in these patterns, it must be composed with boundary shapes as well; the **text** element only serves the purpose of annotation or documentation.

The GDSII format (files have the ending .gds) plays an important role since virtually all layout

editing programs base their operation concept on the same principles (shapes / cells / references) and the python package we use to generate .gds files also has an API very closely based on this format as well.

#### 2.1.4 The GdsCAD Package for Python

*GdsCAD* is package for creating, reading and manupulating GDSII layout files. It is organized into several modules: gdsCAD.core defines classes representing **cells** and the primitive elements (boundary, path, cell reference, etc). gdsCAD.shapes facilitates the creation of various standard shapes, such as rectangles, ellipses, polygons and writable labels using dedicated classes. The module gdsCAD.utils offers functions for geometric transformations and manipulating layers.

As a minimal example, is given in listing 2.1. On lines 13 and 14, a cell reference is implicitly created from topcell and inserted at the coordinates given by the origin option.

Listing 2.1 – Minimal example of gdsCAD usage.

```
from gdsCAD import *
1
2
       # Create some things to draw:
3
       text = shapes.Label('graphene is awesome.', 200, (0, 0), layer=0)
4
5
       box
             = shapes.Box((-500, -400), (1500, 400), 10, layer=2)
6
       # Create a Cell to hold the objects
7
       fredcell = core.Cell('Fred')
8
       fredcell.add([text, box])
9
10
11
       # Create two copies of the Cell
       topcell = core.Cell('Top')
12
       topcell.add(cell, origin=(0,0));
                                              # creates a CellReference to cell and
13
       topcell.add(cell, origin=(2000,0)); # places it inside topcell
14
15
       # Add the copied cell to a Layout and save
16
       layout = core.Layout('testlayout')
17
       layout.add(topcell)
18
19
       layout.save('estlayout_v1.0.gds')
```

#### 2.1.5 Python Layout Builder Framework

Besides generating the .*gds* layout file, from which the patterns for the lithography process are extracted, we also needed to produce a file containing certain meta-information, including the coordinates, parameters and attributes associated with each device on the layout. This meta-data is important for two reasons: (i) to have a map of all coordinates where a device is located in the layout (paired with information on the type of device) that is used to pilot the automated testing setup described in section 2.3; (ii) to be able to cross-reference each measurement data set with the device from which it was taken, so as to analyze the data according to the type of device and its parameters.

The entire layout is assembled from cells and cell references, as described in section 2.1.3. At the heart of the code framework is CellBuilder class. A *CellBuilder* instance has the

role to construct a cell from its constituent elements (geometry and/or cell references). It encapsulates the following functionality and information:

- data: name, token and identifier
  - parent CellBuilder instance
  - subordinate CellBuilder instances ("SubCells")
  - parameters
  - position: where the cell is
- **methods:** setup(): Initialize the CellBuilder; define parameters and attach subcells.
  - build(): Construct the layout cell from subcells and/or primitive geometry.
  - meta(): Collect and return meta-data, including attributes and parameters.

Every CellBuilder class is part of a hierarchy of CellBuilders; at the top of this hierarchy is the *top cell*, which contains the complete layout. The layout is constructed by invoking build() on the top CellBuilder instance. This initiates a cascade from the top to bottom of the hierarchy where each CellBuilder invokes the build() method for each of its subcells.

The contents of a cell constructed by a CellBuilder are dependent on (i) the specific subclass<sup>4</sup> and (ii) the parameters provided to the CellBuilder. For every layout, region or device type a specific subclass is created. For example, assume a cell represents a region in the layout named *Region A* containing a specific arrangement of devices that are defined by a different cell *Device X*. For this purpose a class RegionABuilder would be derived from the base class CellBuilder. In RegionABuilder the method setup() would be redefined to attach a number of instances of another class DeviceXBuilder as subcells. Figure 2.3 illustrates this case with an added third hierarchy (everything is contained inside *Layout 0*, constructed by Layout0Builder).

When the method build() is invoked on an instance of RegionABuilder it will execute the default implementation provided by the base class, CellBuilder, which iterates over the the subcells, invoking build() on each instance of DeviceXBuilder. The method build() is redefined (overridden) in DeviceXBuilder, which does not contain any subcells but instead constructs the geometry that constitutes *device X*. In most cases, a cell builder subclass either acts as a container for subcells, defining no original geometry of its own, or it is at bottom of the layout hierarchy and constructs the actual content of the layout. A combination of both aspects is, however, possible.

Whenever a cell builder creates a subordinate cell builder, it is must supply a reference of itself to the new subcell, which stores the reference in the parent data member field, making it hierarchy-aware. Parameters are passed along through this hierarchy chain: A cell builder instance "inherits" (not in the OOP sense this time) all parameters from its parent. It may also define new parameters relevant to the corresponding level on which it resides. Subcells inherit

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Subclassing is to be understood in the sense of polymorphism in object-oriented programming (OOP).


Figure 2.3 – Class diagram of the cell builder framework creating a layout with three hierarchy levels ("*Layout 0* " > "*Region A*" > "*Device X*"). The build() method is invoked at the top cascading through the levels until a builder class overrides build() or does not contain any subcells. The lines with non-filled arrowhead indicate inheritance while the lines starting with a diamond indicate aggregation (i.e. an instance of class A contains instances of class B).

these parameters as well, in addition to all those defined on the upper hierarchy levels. This concept is illustrated in figure 2.4 for the layout structure defined in section 2.1.1.

- **setup** This method is invoked by CellBuilder's constructor, i.e. it is executed only once, just after the object is instantiated. In the case of a cell that acts as a container of subcells only, this is the only method that needs to be implemented, making the class definition very simple. setup() is where parameters, that are relevant for the corresponding hierarchy level, are defiend and where subcells are instantiated. As soon as they are instantiated, the setup-methods of these subcells are also executed, followed by their own subcells, and so on. This causes the full set of cell builders that make up the entire layout to be instantiated recursively.
- **build** The build method has the function of creating a **cell** object and to fill it with the elements that constitute its contents and returns it to the caller (typically the parent's build method). The contents can be **cell references** or **boundary** elements (i.e. original geometry), or both. The default implementation iterates over the subordinate cell builders (subcells), calls their build() methods, takes the returned cell object and places a cell reference to it into the cell being constructed, at the coordinate specified by the subcell's position data-member field. If the cell builder belongs to the lower end of the layout hierarchy, this is where the original geometry is constructed. The cell builder overrides the default implementation, creates a **cell** object and places the polygons that





Figure 2.4 – Illustration of the hierarchy levels in our standard layout. These are realized by dedicated layout builder, region builder, row builder and device builder classes. Device size and spacing, which is uniform throughout the entire chip is defined on the layout level. Device dimensions are defined on the region level for each row separately.

make up e.g. a device structure, into that cell.

meta Like the build method, the meta method is usually implemented only at the bottom hierarchy level, and assembles a list of name-value pairs of relevant meta-data describing the entity (e.g. a device) represented by the contents created by this cell builder. Meta-data is similar to parameters, that also propagate through the layout hierarchy, with the difference that meta-data travels from the bottom to the top. The default implementation collects all the meta-data of a cell builder's subcells, concatenates it and returns the result to the calling function, typically the parent's meta method. When the meta() method of the topmost cell builder is invoked, meta-data from the entire layout are is collected through a cascade of meta() calls. The result is a collection of meta-data, where every device has is represented with its own data set.

Once a layout hierarchy is established and all cell builders are defined and implemented, the usage is extremely simple. To construct the layout, build() is called on the top-level cell builder returning the entire layout as a **cell** object, that can be written to a .gds file. A call to meta on the same cell builder returns the full set of meta data, which can be written to a text file.

# 2.2 Fabrication

Fabrication of graphene field-effect devices is challenging for various reasons. First of all, being only a single layer, the material is very sensitive to mechanical damages but also to almost any process applied, be it liquid chemicals, plasma processes or high-energy electron beam irradiation. Not to mention the procedure of synthesizing graphene with minimum defects and transferring it onto a substrate while keeping it pure and uncontaminated, which we can fortunately avoid as there are good quality commercial products available. The here presented process for a top-gated field effect device, was designed and developed with special attention to the mentioned sensitivities, while aiming at high scalability and performance. Using electron-beam lithography for high-resolution patterning allows for very small devices to be built, approaching and potentially reaching dimensions where ballistic transport becomes significant. A very thin gate dielectric grown of oxides with high relative permittivity ensures large values of transconductance, which should enable to reach voltage gains sufficient for cascading devices in a circuit.

# 2.2.1 Graphene Samples

Graphene is today available from numerous commercial sources and in various forms. The company *Graphene Laboratories, Inc* offers CVD grown graphene transferred onto a Silicon/SiO<sub>2</sub> substrate, using a well established process [31, 142, 143], resulting in a large contiguous film covering the substrate with little cracks and defects. We worked here with samples of  $1 \text{ cm} \times 1 \text{ cm}$  Silicon chips having a 90 nm layer of SiO<sub>2</sub>, covered with a single layer of graphene.



Figure 2.5 – Left: SEM image of a typical region of a sample described in section 2.2.1. The darker regions are wrinkles and areas with two or more layers of graphene. Right: Optical microscope image at  $100 \times$  magnification.

The graphene was grown using the method described in [31], yielding mostly monolayer graphene that also comprises wrinkles small "islands" of two or more layer-graphene (figure 2.5). These islands have a typical size (diameter) on the order of  $10 \,\mu\text{m}$  and a spacing of several tens of micrometers. If devices with dimensions below these orders of magnitude are arranged in a regular pattern on a graphene chip, as is the case in the here-described fabrication process, the vast majority of them should be placed within an area of contiguous monolayer graphene. Although inherently undesirable, these defects are thus not a major concern, and in fact,



Figure 2.6 – Left: Graphene Chips in a gel-pack; Silicon substrate with a 90 nm layer of  $SiO_2$  covered with a single layer of CVD Graphene. The four chips on the right are covered, in addition, with a  $Al_2O_3/HfO_2$  dielectric layer, changing their color from purple to blue. Right: Bare 4-inch Silicon wafer used as carrier for the chips in many processing steps.

can be beneficial in practice, as they allow one to "see" the graphene layer in an optical or electron-beam microscope.

#### 2.2.2 Oxide Deposition

As a first step of the process, a blanket layer of oxide is deposited on the entire chip. This layer will act as a protective layer preventing damage to the graphene layer during subsequent processing steps, and double as the insulating layer for the top gates of the field-effect devices. Since the advent HKMG technology, atomic layer deposition (ALD) has been the method of choice for growing highly uniform, conformal and defect-free high-k dielectrics for MOSFET transistor gates, both in research and industrial production.

Hafnium Dioxide HfO<sub>2</sub> is an excellent gate material, mainly due its high relative dielectric constant  $\varepsilon_r$  of 25 and its adequately large bandgap of 5.7 eV [144, 145]. Aluminum Oxide Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, also long considered a viable candidate for gate dielectrics, has an even larger bandgap of 8.8 eV but a lesser  $\varepsilon_r$  of about 9 [145]. Both materials have widely been utilized in graphene and carbon nanotube electronic devices.

Because of the property of graphene of being chemically inert, direct oxide deposition via ALD on graphene has proven difficult [146, 147, 148] (although not impossible [149, 150]). A solution employed by Kim et. al. [148] consists of e-beam evaporation of a thin layer of Aluminum prior to ALD growth. This layer is then oxidized, transforming it into Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, which acts as a nucleation layer for subsequent ALD growth.

In the process described here, we perform e-beam evaporation of a 2-3nm thick aluminum oxide nucleation layer directly from a  $Al_2O_3$  material source, ruling out the risk of forming a non-completely oxidized Al layer on top of the graphene. After this, the samples are immediately loaded into the ALD reaction chamber where a  $HfO_2$  layer with nominal thickness of 7nm is grown by applying 70 cycles of alternating TEMAH and  $H_2O$  precurser gas pulses. The



Figure 2.7 – AFM scan of  $Al_2O_3$  evaporated through a stencil with circular openings, leading to a spot-array pattern. The deposition settings are identical to those used for the dielectric seed layer deposition, therefore the spots are expected to have the same thickness. The horizontal section profiles plotted on the right are taken from the solid lines in the afm image, averaging across the area indicated by the surrounding boxes.

resulting dielectric layer has a thickness of approximately 10 nm and thus a very thin EOT  $^5$  on the order of 2.4 nm.

Aluminum Oxide deposition is done in a *LAB600 H* electron-beam evaporator by Leybold Optics in vacuum  $(1.510^{-6} \text{mbar})$  at a rate of 1 Å/s from a granular Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> source.

Prior to depositing  $Al_2O_3$ , the substrates are in-situ heated by two ceramic radiators in the deposition chamber to a set-point temperature of 190 °C. Annealing in vacuum has been demonstrated to effectively remove resist residues on graphene [151, 152], the optimum temperature being close to 200 °C. This treatment was found to improve carrier mobility and shift the Dirac point (i.e. current minimum in the ID-VG curve of a field-effect device) close to zero[151].

#### 2.2.3 Alignment Marks

Alignment marks are essential for any fabrication process involving multiple lithographic exposures where the different masks or patterns are to be accurately placed on top of each other. The e-beam lithography system available at *CMi* is theoretically capable of aligning patterns with an accuracy on the order of 10 nm. Practically, the accuracy depends on the quality of the alignment marks and contrast, which the EBL system is capable of extracting from a scanning electron beam image. Warping of the substrate due to other processing steps, drift from thermal contraction or expansion of the substrate, beam drift due non-optimal calibration and other effects can all induce error in the correct placement or detection of the markers, leading to misalignment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>The equivalent oxide thickness (EOT) is a measure of the thickness required to obtain the same areal capacitance if the dielectric material were SiO<sub>2</sub> rather than the actually used high-k material. The EOT is calculated by taking the ratio of the dielectric constants  $t_{eqv} = t_{hi-k} \frac{\varepsilon_{SiO_2}}{\varepsilon_{hi-k}}$ 

The alignment marks in this process are defined by dry etching. In order to achieve sufficient contrast for the EBL system to be able to detect the marker, a depth of about  $2 \,\mu\text{m}$  is required. The etching process thus has to penetrate 5 layers of different materials, from top to bottom: 7 nm HfO<sub>2</sub>, 3 nm Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, Graphene, 90 nm SiO<sub>2</sub> and 1.9  $\mu$ m into the Silicon substrate. There are different plasma etchers at *CMi* dedicated each to a material or set of materials.

- 1. The top three layers are etched in a *STS Multiplex ICP*, an inductively coupled plasma etcher from *Surface Technology Systems*, using a Cl<sub>2</sub>-BCl<sub>3</sub> chemistry for 180 s.
- 2. Silicon Dioxide is removed in a ICP etcher from SPTS Technologies using a  $C_4F_8$  plasma for 30 s.
- 3. The Silicon substrate is etched using in an *Alcatel AMS200* ICP system with a highly selective  $SF_6-C_4F_8$  chemistry for 150 s.
- 4. The remaining resist is removed by oxygen plasama in the *STS Multiplex* for about 60 s, until the EPD signal indicates all resist has been removed.

The chemistries in these etching steps have different selectivity with respect to the electronbeam resist. The process was calibrated using optical end-point detection systems in the plasma etchers and a mechanical profiler. Steps 1-3 remove about 16, 64 and 120 nm of resist per minute, respectively, and a total of roughly 380 nm. An initial thickness of at least 500 nm of resist is thus required.

The etch mask is defined via EBL patterning of the common e-beam resist *ZEP520A*. To obtain the required thickness *ZEP* coated two consecutive times at 5000 rpm.

#### 2.2.4 Graphene Channel Outline

The graphene evidently has to be spatially delimited to the channel and contacts region, otherwise there would be unlimited paths for current to flow around the top-gated channel region between source and drain and short-circuits between devices. Two options exist for patterning the graphene ribbons; *(i)* using a negative tone-resist and expose the regions where graphene should remain, etching everything else or *(ii)* defining the ribbon outline with a positive-tone resist such that a region surrounding the graphene ribbons is exposed and etched.

Option *(i)* has the advantage of limiting the to-be-exposed area to a minimum, leading to short EBL write times. With Hydrogen Silsesquioxane (HSQ) we also have a very good, high-resolution negative-tone resist at our disposal. However, it has been found that high energy electron beams can cause significant damage and defects to the graphene film, resulting in reduced conductivity [153, 154], making it preferable to avoid direct exposure of the channel region. In addition, the removal of HSQ after the lithography and etching process would be delicate or impossible, as the chemistry used for removing HSQ, dilute BHF, will also attack the gate dielectric materials. These arguments clearly speak in favor of option *(ii)*.



Figure 2.8 – End-Point-Detection signal recorded during a graphene outline etch in the *STS Multiplex ICP*. Four regions can be distinguished where  $HfO_2$ ,  $Al_2O_3$ , Graphene and  $SiO_2$  are being etched, respectively. The vertical axis has arbitrary units.

The etching procedure is identical to the alignment marks etching process described in section 2.2.3, except for steps number 2 and 3, which are skipped. In this process and also the alignment marks etching, the output of the end-point detection system during  $HfO_2$ ,  $Al_2O_3$  and Graphene etching (figure 2.8) is carefully monitored in order to prepare for the contacts etch described in section 2.2.5.

There is a slight kink in the EPD signal at the transition from  $HfO_2$  to  $Al_2Oe$  etching and a steep increase as the Graphene is removed, which takes 10 to 20 seconds. Comparing the apparent etch duration for  $HfO_2$  (~110 s) and  $Al_2O_3$  (~45 s) with the etch rates obtained from separate measurements (see figure 2.10), we can conclude that the film thicknesses were  $115 \text{ s} \times 4.7 \text{ nm/min} = 9.0 \text{ nm}$  for hafnium oxide and  $45 \text{ s} \times 3.4 \text{ nm/min} = 2.6 \text{ nm}$  for aluminum oxide. This is in excellent agreement with AFM measurements (figure 2.7) and corresponds well with the intended deposition thicknesses.

#### 2.2.5 Contacts

The source and drain contacts definition is the most delicate part of this process: An opening has to be created in the dielectric layer in all contact regions without damaging the underlying graphene sheet, so that metal subsequently deposited can form a good electrical contact. We achieve this with a combination of dry etching, wet etching and lift-off processes.

The electron-beam resist used here is a bi-layer of MMA and PMMA, designed to facilitate the lift-off process by forming an undercut in the lower layer. This undercut serves to create a discontinuity in the metal deposited on top, which allows the solvent to attack and dissolve



Figure 2.9 – SEM images of a four-device group with contact leads (left) and close-up of a single device region (right) after graphene outline etch. The brighter regions are where graphene and dielectric layers remain. Contact leads between device terminals and probe landing pads are also surrounded by an outline in order to prevent shorts during the contact metal definition process.

the resist beneath, allowing all metal that has landed on a non-developed region to detach and "lift off" from the substrate. By using the same resist as an etch mask and for lift-off patterning, we save one lithography step and avoid any misalignment between contact openings and metal.

The regions exposed and developed in this lithography step also comprise the intermediary leads connecting the nanometer-scale devices to the macroscopic landing pads. The actual metal-graphene contact will be formed where these regions overlap with the graphene ribbons in the device region.

The reason why a combination of dry and wet etching is necessary lies within the different etch rates of  $Al_2O_3$  and  $HfO_2$ , and the great sensitivity of Graphene to plasma. Both oxides can be etched with dilute Hydrofluoric Acid (HF) or buffered HF (BHF), however, the etch rate of  $Al_2O_3$  is orders of magnitude higher than  $HfO_2$ . This makes a wet etch of a stack of these materials completely uncontrollable: while it takes minutes to etch through the  $HfO_2$ , the  $Al_2O_3$  will be dissolved in a matter of seconds. The acid will continue to attack the  $Al_2O_3$  laterally, resulting in a disastrous delamination of the entire oxide-resist stack.

Fortunately, the relative order of etch rates is reversed in the case of dry etching:  $Al_2O_3$  has a slightly lower rate than HfO<sub>2</sub>. This makes it easier to remove the HfO<sub>2</sub> layer in the *STS Multiplex* using the same Cl<sub>2</sub>-BCl<sub>3</sub> recipe as previously. The dry etch is carefully timed such that the HfO<sub>2</sub> layer is removed completely and the underlying  $Al_2O_3$  layer only partially. The remaining  $Al_2O_3$  is then removed in a very dilute BHF:H<sub>2</sub>O solution, ensuring low etch rate and minimal or no damage to the graphene.

In order to achieve successful timing, the etch rates of  $Al_2O_3$ ,  $HfO_2$  and  $SiO_2$  were previously assessed using ellipsometry measurements. The results of the measurements can be seen in figure 2.10. According to these experiments, the dry etch duration should be at least 90 s for 7 nm  $HfO_2$  followed by at least 1 min of wet etching in solution (c). In practice, since there is



Figure 2.10 – (a) Etch rates per minute in a BHF:H<sub>2</sub>O solution at different concentrations of HF. The etch times were 100 s in the 1.2% solution, and 10 min in the 0.1% and 0.01% solutions. (b) Measured remaining film thickness as a function of dry etch duration in a  $Cl_2$ -BCl<sub>3</sub>-Ar plasma in the *STS Multiplex ICP* (symbols) and linear fit thereof (dashed lines).

a some uncertainty about the precise film thicknesses, these times are extended to ensure complete removal of the oxides.

- **Dry etch tests** Baths with different concentrations of hydrofluoric acid were prepared by diluting 7:1 BHF<sup>6</sup> further in H<sub>2</sub>O, such that the final, overall concentrations of HF in the solution were (a) 1.2%, (b) 0.1% and (c) 0.01%. Samples with a known oxide thickness were dipped into solutions of different concentration for a determined amount of time (solution a: 100 s, solutions b and c: 10 min). The solution chosen for the fabrication process is (c), which has a measured  $Al_2O_3$  etch rate of about 3.3 nm/min, therefore allowing to etch the remaining  $Al_2O_3$  in roughly one minute.
- **Wet etch tests** Samples were etched in the *STS Multiplex ICP* for 4 and 8 minutes measuring the thickness before and after. Linear interpolation yields an etch rate of about 3.4 nm/min for the Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> film and 4.7 nm/min for the HfO<sub>2</sub> film.

Following the dielectric etch, contact metal is deposited and patterned using the same MMA-PMMA mask. The material for contacts was chosen to be Aluminum, which is suitable for the lift-off process showing good adhesion, good conductivity, and is compatible with other machines in the clean-room facility following cross-contamination guidelines. With regard to the HSQ lithography step later in this process, an additional protective layer of Titanium is deposited on top of the Aluminum, which is susceptible to corrosion by the TMAH-containing HSQ developer. Both are deposited in situ in the *LAB600H* by e-beam evaporation at a thickness of 20 nm (Al) and 10 nm (Ti), followed by lift-off in an Acetone bath. The result of the process can be seen in figure 2.11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Buffered Hydrofluoric Acid (BHF) is a commonly used mixture of 49%NH<sub>4</sub>F and 40%HF, both in water, which makes the otherwise violent etching of oxide in HF more controllable and prevents notorious resist peeling.

Chapter 2. The Graphene Field-Effect Device



Figure 2.11 – SEM images of a four-device group with contact leads (left) and close-up of a single device region (right) after contact metal deposition and lift-off.

## 2.2.6 HSQ Interlayer

Hydrogen Silsesquioxane (HSQ) is an unusual, inorganic electron-beam resist. Unlike others, it consists of a network of molecules containing the elements Silicon, Oxygen and Hydrogen, rather than a carbon-based polymer. It allows for very high resolution lithography (below 10nm) and low line-edge roughness (down to 2nm) [155]. Upon exposure, HSQ crosslinks and changes into a silicon-dioxide like material, making it a negative-tone resist [156]. Unexposed HSQ can be removed with a TMAH-containing developer while removing crosslinked HSQ requires the use of HF acid. Removal is, however, not necessary, if the resist is used as interlayer dielectric material, for which it is well suited due to it's low permittivity and excellent gap-filling and planarization performance [157].

In this fabrication process, we use HSQ as an insulating layer surrounding the channel region, in order to prevent short-circuits between graphene, gate and contact electrodes. The channel is in principle covered by the gate dielectric, but the gate metal overlaps the channel laterally and could short-circuit with the graphene sheet at the channel edges. A short between contact and gate metals could form in case of pattern misalignment during lithographic write process leading the electrodes to overlap. This is increasingly likely as the spacing between gate and source/drain is reduced in the device layout design, which is desirable in order to minimize series resistance in the device caused by the ungated channel region between gate and contacts. In the presence of an interlayer this spacing could even be entirely eliminated.

### 2.2.7 Gate Metal

For the gate electrode definition we deposit a blanket layer of the gate metal and then pattern it by dry etching through an e-beam resist mask. Titanium Nitride (TiN) is an often used gate electrode material, can be readily etched and is, again, compatible with available equipment in the clean-room facility. TiN with a thickness of 50nm is sputter-deposited in a *Alliance-Concept DP640* magnetron sputtering system. Lithography is done by e-beam writing using a 300nm thick layer of ZEP520A. This resist being positive-tone, the gate pattern is defined by writing the outline of the gate and surrounding regions, therefore avoiding direct exposure of

#### 2.2. Fabrication



Figure 2.12 - SEM images of devices complete with contacts and gate.

the channel to detrimental electron beam radiation.

The only delicate point in this process step is to ensure that no important structures outside the gate region are damaged by over-etching the TiN layer. The etch is performed in the *STS Multiplex* by the same low-power and highly controllable Cl<sub>2</sub>-BCl<sub>3</sub> process already used in the removal of dielectric layers. The optical EPD provides a clear signal as the TiN layer shows a very distinct reflection compared to the underlying materials, allowing to stop the process with adequate precision. In addition the HSQ layer previously deposited is designed to cover all regions surrounding the gate electrode and doubles as a protective layer. It thus prevents damage even in the case of a TiN overetch by several nanometers, making the entire process more robust.

#### 2.2.8 Landing Pads

The probe landing pads are defined in a separate step, which makes it possible to use a different and much thicker material. This is important because the probe needles in the characterization setup, in order make good and stable contact, will slide across the pads when touching down. The pad material should be not too hard and have sufficient thickness. Au has been found to be a suitable material for this purpose.

The pad metal region overlaps with the contact and gate electrode leads on an area of roughly  $10 \,\mu\text{m} \times 10 \,\mu\text{m}$  at least. Before the pad metal can be deposited, it is necessary to remove the HSQ layer which still covers the contact leads in this area. We use a process similar to the contacts definition where a MMA-PMMA bilayer mask doubles as an etch mask and for patterning the metal via lift-off.

The HSQ layer is etched in buffered hydrofluoric acid, further diluted in water (BHF:H<sub>2</sub>O 1:100), for one minute. Caution has to be exercised as the acid also attacks the Aluminum once the oxide layer is gone. We deposit a layer of 100 nm Au after a 3 nm Cr adhesion layer in the *LAB600H* evaporator, followed by lift-off in acetone. The final result of the process can be seen in 2.13.



Figure 2.13 – SEM images of a complete device with five landing pads (left) and an array of four-device groups, with eight landing pads each.

## 2.2.9 Conclusion

In conclusion we have developed a sophisticated process that works for very thin, high-k gate dielectrics allowing the fabrication of high-transconductance graphene field-effect devices. The graphene monolayer is immediately sealed with the gate dielectric in the first process step, thus avoiding common problems of contamination with organic resist materials, which are very difficult to clean without damaging the also carbon-based Graphene. The dielectric layer also enables plasma-based processing to which unprotected graphene is very sensitive.

This approach is made possible by the carefully tuned two-step oxide etch that allows creating openings in the dielectric layer and contacting the underlying graphene without removing or damaging it. The process also systematically avoids direct exposure of the channel region during electron beam lithography which is known to induce damage that can drastically affect device performance.



Figure 2.14 – Schematic cross-section illustration of the fabrication process.

## 2.3 Electrical Characterization

We have opted, in this work, for an strategy to device fabrication and testing, which optimizes the usage of the graphene sample surface, aiming at producing a maximum of devices per chip. Likewise our goal was to also achieve high efficiency and throughput in device testing by making the characterization process automated and adaptive.

There are several reasons for this approach: First, the graphene samples are quite expensive. Second, the number of fabrication process steps is independent on how many devices are built on a chip, i.e. the same effort is required for a chip having one, a few or hundreds of devices. Another reason is related to the still limited graphene sample quality due to grain boundaries, wrinkles and multi-layer islands. Having many devices ensures that through statistical probability at least a certain portion are placed in a "clean" area<sup>7</sup>. In addition, yield is usually limited in the case of a research/prototyping fabrication process, and some devices will always fail for various reasons, such as an accidental scratch by tweezers during handling.

Automated characterization also guarantees highly systematic, repeatable testing conditions, ensuring that all devices of a given type are subject to the exact same testing procedures. This allows to analyze data from large numbers of devices comparatively and to draw statistical conclusions. It also allows for a large amount of data to be collected form each device, which would be impossible or extremely time consuming when done manually.

#### 2.3.1 Measurement Setup

The complete devices are electrically tested in a probe station setup depicted in figure 2.15. A Süss PA200 semi-automatic probing system equipped with a motorized chuck was used for all measurements. A series of probe manipulators are installed on the station, allowing to precisely position the needle probes on a device's landing pads, i.e. in a area of  $60 \times 60 \mu m^2$ .

The system can be remotely controlled via the GPIB interface, allowing to change the position of the chuck. Once the needles are aligned on an initial device and the wafer's rotation is adjusted, the system can move from one device to the next in a matter of milliseconds. Since the devices are arranged on a regular, grid-like layout, going from one device to the next corresponds to a relative movement by a multiple of the inter-device distance. This makes it possible to iterate through the complete set of devices in a fully automated fashion.

The probes are connected to a semiconductor parameter analyzer (SPA, or simply *analyzer*) through triaxial cables. These instruments typically contain a set of 4 source measurement units (SMU), 2 voltage measurement units (VMU) and 2 voltage source units (VSU). The analyzer allows to operate the units synchronously and can also be remotely controlled via a GPIB interface.

The standard use is to apply a staircase voltage sweep on one of the terminals, while monitoring

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>An alternative to this approach is to first inspect the bare graphene sample in a microscope and note down the coordinates of suitable device regions. This requires some reference structures to be created on the chip beforehand. The layout is then adapted for each chip individually placing contact and gating structures right on top of such mapped clean regions.

#### 2.3. Electrical Characterization



Figure 2.15 – The probe station setup; Left: Two semiconductor parameter analyzers with probe station. Right: prober needles in contact with a chip, landing on a device under test.



Figure 2.16 – Typical connection for DC measurements on a single field-effect device.

the others. The SMU can generate a voltage output and measure the current it is sourcing at the same time. Figure 2.16 shows a typical setup, with Kelvin-probe connections: The outer terminals are used to bias the device and measure current flowing from source to drain (*force*); the inner terminals are each connected to a VMU in the analyzer, allowing to measure the voltage between source and drain with minimal contact resistance. It is useful to have a high resolution SMU connected to the gate, measuring any possible leakage current.

#### 2.3.2 Control Software

For this work, we developed a sophisticated electrical characterization environment based on MATLAB and its *instrument control toolbox*. MATLAB was found to be suitable for this purpose as it can be used for both testing and data analysis. Although MATLAB is not exactly a general-purpose language, it is nonetheless quite powerful, featuring relatively advanced OOP design patterns, graphical user interfaces, full control over GPIB communication, and is excellent for data visualization.

We dubbed this MATLAB program "AEC" as in Automated Electrical Characterization. AEC is



Figure 2.17 – The AEC graphical user interface.

designed to be extensible and work with different instruments and probe stations. It features a graphical user interface (GUI), shown in figure 2.17, which lets the user prepare and control a batch of customized measurements. The user interface includes a wafer-map and a die-map, visualizing the layout of the sample under test and allows to select the dies and devices to be measured.

AEC has a dual interface, consisting of an GUI on the one hand and an application programming interface (API) on the other hand. Workspace and instrument setup, layout preparation and batch execution control is done graphically, whereas the actual measurements have to be programmed in MATLAB code. This is, however, not to be considered as a drawback, but is the principal feature and purpose of the present characterization concept. Defining the measurement process programmatically allows for maximum flexibility and control, which not achievable with any other software solution.

The standard workflow when using AEC is outlined in the following:

**Loading a workspace** Workspaces are helpful in keeping different projects, samples types separate. A workspace is consists of a directory on the computer where settigns, instrument configurations, measurement routines and results are stored.

Instrument setup The instrument setup button opens a separate dialog where analyzer and

probe station can be selected, initialized and tested (making sure that a proper connection is established).

- **Layout selection** Layout information is provided to AEC in the form of a layout meta-data file<sup>8</sup>, which is generated from the *Layout Builder Framework* as described in section 2.1.5. This file contains the coordinates of dies and devices, and carrier information about each device, such as the device type and geometric parameters (gate length, ribbon width etc). This information allows AEC to draw the wafer and die maps on the right-hand side of the GUI.
- **Information** The user may provide a sample name and a description of the measurements performed. Both will be stored together with the resulting data.
- **Selecting the measurement function** Since measurement control is programmatic, the code to be executed is given in a matlab function file (*.m*). This file must have a specific form and accept certain parameters passed to it by AEC, such as a data set with information about the device to be measured.
- **Saving the results** Measurement data is stored as MATLAB .mat files in the workspace directory. Options are to have one single large file containing all data, or multiple files, one for each device measured.
- **Status Monitor** The center panel provides status information about the measurement setup. It displays whether the instruments are (i) selected (ii) reachable (iii) correctly configured and initialized. It also displays the current workspace, which layout file is loaded, how many devices are selected, the current prober position and which measurement function and output file are selected. If all items are green, the system is ready to start a measurement batch.
- **Batch Control** Here a measurement batch can be started, paused, resumed and terminated. A repeat function allows to schedule repeating measurements with a given time interval, which is useful e.g. for endurance tests on memory devices.

Before the batch can be started, the user must, among other things, have selected a number of devices (and dies) on which measurements should be performed. From this selection, a *queue* data structure is established, containing the device objects that are to be processed. Each *device object* holds the meta-information provided by the layout file, i.e. its coordinates, device type and geometry parameters. When starting a measurement batch, a finite state machine, depicted in figure 2.18 is initiated. As long as it is in the *running* state and there is at least one item left in the device queue, the program will (i:) remove the device object from the queue, (ii:) send a command to the probe station to move to the coordinates of the current device (iii:) invoke the user-defined measurement function passing as a parameter the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>In the context of the electrical characterization environment, we refer to this meta-data file as the *layout file*, although strictly speaking and in the terminology of section 2.1.5, the layout-file is the .gds file containing the layout geometry.



Figure 2.18 – Execution state machine for running a measurement batch.

device object then wait until measurement completes and finally (iv:) recieve a data structure containing the results from the measurement function and store in the file, paired with the device meta-data contained by the device object for future reference.

When the user-defined measurement function is executed the main argument it receives is TestBench object, which represents the API that AEC exposes to the user. It provides a programming interface to the measurement instruments in the form of one or more analyzer objects, information about the device to be measured (the *device object*), and the means to *submit* the data back to the main program with the possibility to add extra information. For example, status information can be provided, indicating whether the device testing was "successful", or if a "bad" device was encountered (short or open). As another example, if different series of sweep measurements are performed, such as IDVD and ID-VG sweeps, they can be grouped together by type.

Listing 2.2 shows a minimal example of a measurement function. In this case, the setup must be configured to work with the HP4156a semiconductor parameter analyzer. The different channels are defined as *gate, drain* and *source*, respectively (lines 6-9). Care must be taken that the SMUs are indeed connected to the corresponding device terminals. Once everying is set up, the measurement is started by calling the execute() method on the analyzer object (line 17). Adding some meta information (line 20), such as the sweep type helps identifying

the data sets later when browsing through the results in the data analysis program. On line 24, a subroutine, defined elsewhere, is called to verify, based on the measured drain current data, if the measurement has been successful or not. Finally, on line 33, the program is telling the testbench to retain the data, which concludes the measurement.

Listing 2.2 – Minimal example of a sweep measurement.

```
function testMeasFcn(testbench)
1
         % Obtain the analyzer object
2
          a = testbench.HP4156a;
3
4
          % Configure the channels
5
6
          a.resetChannels;
          a.setupChannel('SMU1', 'gate')
7
          a.setupChannel('SMU2', 'drain');
8
          a.setupChannel('SMU3', 'source');
9
10
          % Prepare a voltage sweep measurement
11
          12
          13
          a.source.setupVSource(0);
14
15
          % Start the measurement
16
          a.execute();
17
18
          % Add some information
19
          testbench.addMetaData('Measmt Type', 'ID-VG sweep');
20
21
          % Verify the data and define the device status
22
          I_data = testbench.getData('I_drain');
23
          if checkdata(I_data)
24
25
              % good device
             testbench.setDeviceStatus(STATUS_SUCCESS);
26
27
          else
28
              % bad device
             testbench.setDeviceStatus(STATUS FAILURE):
29
          end
30
31
          % submit the result
32
          testbench.submit();
33
34
      end
```

Contrary to this example where only only a single sweep measurement is performed, the testing of a device can be arbitrarily complex and often involves several source files that handle different cases e.g. depending on device type. In addition, the measurement routines can be programmed such as to perform on-the-fly data analysis. For example, when measuring graphene devices, the ID-VG curve can be analyzed to determine the location of the Dirac point in terms of  $V_G$ , and adjust subsequent sweep measurements to be centered around the current minimum point at  $V_G = V_0$ . This is the principal strength and advantage of using MATLAB-based measurement control.



Figure 2.19 – Plot of  $f_V$  (a) and  $f_r$  (b) for different values of  $\alpha = 1, 2, 3$ . Smaller  $\alpha$  leads to larger curvature, i.e. to a more sharp transition around the origin.

#### 2.4 Data Analysis

#### 2.4.1 Current-Voltage curve fitting

Empirical models commonly used to analyze measured current-voltage characteristic via curve fitting typically are designed to well mimic the 'V'-shaped appearance of a ID-VG curve, resembling what we will refer to as the (parabolic) *V*-function:

$$f_V(x) = \sqrt{1 + x^2}$$
(2.1)

or, with parameters  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ ,

$$\alpha f_V(\beta x/\alpha) = \sqrt{\alpha^2 + \beta^2 x^2}.$$
(2.2)

The parameter  $\alpha$  controls the curvature at the local minimum around the origin while  $\beta$  determines the slope away from x = 0. A similar function is the *ramp function*  $f_r(x)$ , which is related to the V-function through  $f_V(x) = f_r(x) + f_r(-x)$ :

$$f_r(x) = \frac{1}{2} \left( \pm x + \sqrt{1 + x^2} \right).$$
(2.3)

Both functions are plotted in figure 2.19 for different values of  $\alpha$ .

Equation (2.4) expresses the combined (electron and hole) charge carrier concentration as a V-function of gate bias, where  $n_0$  is the residual charge concentration at zero gate voltage  $V_G = 0$  and  $(C_{ox}/q)V_G$  gives rise to an excess carrier concentration induced by the electric field. This model has been widely used to empirically model graphene field-effect devices, in either the here presented form or some variation thereof [158, 159, 160, 148, 16, 161, 162, 163, 164].

$$n = \sqrt{n_0^2 + \left(\frac{C_{ox}}{q}V_G\right)^2} \tag{2.4}$$

42

The gate voltage is referred to a reference voltage  $V_0$  of minimum conductance which corresponds the bias point where the channel potential coincides with the Dirac point.

Dorgan et al.[161] later gave a *post hoc* justification of this approximation using definitions of the charge imbalance relation and mass-action law as follows:

$$p - n = n_{cv} = -\frac{C_{ox}}{q} V_G \tag{2.5}$$

$$pn = n_{th}^2 \frac{\mathcal{L}(\eta)\mathcal{L}(-\eta)}{\mathcal{L}(0)^2}.$$
(2.6)

Equation (2.5) defines the field-induced  $(n_{cv})$  and (2.6) the thermal  $(n_{th})$  carrier concentration.  $\mathcal{L}$  is the solution of the Fermi-Dirac integral for graphene and  $\eta$  the normalized Fermi energy. The authors then replace the right-hand side of (2.6) with a constant  $n_0$  representing the minimum carrier density resulting from an averaging of thermal carriers and spacial charge "puddles". Combining (2.5) and (2.6) results in a quadratic equation which yields

$$n, p = \frac{1}{2} \left( \pm n_{cv} + \sqrt{4n_0 + n_{cv}^2} \right).$$
(2.7)

This variant of the *V*-function model allows to account for electrons and holes separately, turning it into a *ramp function*, and is used in [148, 161, 162].

Some authors use (2.4) or (2.7) as an integrand in evaluating the current [159, 163], whereas in other cases [148, 164] it us used to directly model the channel conductance by multiplying with  $q\mu$ , the elementary charge and carrier mobility and a scale factor W/L according to the device's geometry. By assuming the channel conductance to be proportional to carrier concentration [165, 24], the total conductance of the device can be written as  $R_{dev} = 2R_c + R_{ch}$ , the sum of contact resistance and channel resistance, where  $R_{ch}$  has the form of

$$1/R_{ch} = \frac{W}{L} q \mu \sqrt{n_0^2 + n_{ex}(V_G)}.$$
(2.8)

Here,  $n_{ex}$  is the excess carrier concentration as a function of  $V_G$ . This excess carrier concentration is generally the linear relation found in (2.4) but can also be more complex, as in [148] where a square-root term  $\hbar |v_F| \sqrt{\pi n}/q$  is added, originating from quantum capacitance [10, 166] as explained in [167].

The model used in this work is essentially the same, with the distinction of using a different notation, which lends more emphasis to the fact that parameters reflect apparent effective phenomena rather than physical properties and is geared towards usage in circuit design and analysis:

$$G_{ds} = \sqrt{g_0^2 + g_m^{\prime 2} (V_{gs} - V_0)^2}.$$
(2.9)

Here,  $G_{ds} = 1/R_{ch}$ ,  $g_0$  is the minimum or "base" conductance at the Dirac point ( $V_{gs} = V_0$ ) and  $g'_m$  is the "reduced" transconductance, i.e. the transconductance per unit of gate voltage  $g'_m = g_m/V_{gs}$ . We use lower-case indices (gs, ds) to indicate intrinsic quantities that relate



Figure 2.20 – Current-Voltage plot of an  $V_G$  sweep measured on a top-gated graphene field effect device, biased at  $V_D = 60 \text{ mV}$  (a). Intrinsic channel conductance (upper curve) and extrinsic device conductance, including contact resistances (lower curve) (b). The solid line in (a) is a fit obtained with (2.12), the dots are measured data. The intrinsic conductance is obtained from equation (2.11). The Dirac point is located at  $V_G = -1.2 \text{ V}$  and the series resistance is  $R_s = 2R_c = 29 \text{ k}\Omega$ .

only to channel conductance modulation, and upper case indices (*GS*, *DS*) where the contact resistances are taken into account. The total device conductance is

$$G_{DS} = \frac{G_{ds}}{1 + 2R_c G_{ds}} \tag{2.10}$$

or, conversely

$$G_{ds} = \frac{G_{GS}}{1 - 2R_c G_{DS}},$$
(2.11)

and the drain current

$$I_{DS} = G_{DS} V_{DS} = \frac{G_{ds}}{1 + 2R_c G_{ds}} V_{DS}$$
(2.12)

which is the most basic fitting expression for ID-VG curves with parameters  $g_0$ ,  $g'_m$ ,  $R_c$  and  $V_0$ . An example of measured current-voltage data analyzed using this model is given in figure 2.20. Using the relation (2.11), the intrinsic conductance can be de-embedded and one retrieves the predominantly linear dependence of conductivity on gate voltage (and carrier concentration) that has been observed since earliest studies [1, 10] and has been studied in some detail e.g. by Hwang et al.[165] and Chen et al.[24]. Conversely, the typical sublinear bending and eventual saturation of current (figure 2.20a) in ID-VG measurements can be attributed to the effect of contact resistance.

Combining equations (2.4), (2.8) and (2.9) one can extract the field effect mobility from the

fitting parameter  $g'_m$ , which is consistent with the commonly used expression [82]:

$$\mu = \frac{L}{W} \frac{g'_m}{C_{ox}} \tag{2.13}$$

In summary, the V-function model covers the most important phenomenological aspects of a graphene field effect device yielding excellent fitting results and provides a reliable way of extracting the field-effect mobility and series resistance from measured data. The other two parameters  $g_0$  and  $V_0$  contain useful information on residual charge density, doping and fixed charges.

Major limitations of the V-function model include the rigid symmetry with respect to  $V_0$ , which does not allow, for example, to consider different values of mobility for electrons and holes. On the other hand, the model exhibits an unphysical asymmetry with respect to the device terminals, as only the gate-source voltage is taken into account in the expression of the field effect, leaving out the gate-drain voltage completely. It also ignores the fact that the minimum conductance point varies as a function of drain and source potential  $V_0 = V_0(V_S, V_D)$ .

#### 2.4.2 Advanced empirical modeling

#### 2.4.2.1 Conductance asymmetry

Real devices often show an asymmetry where the electron and hole branch of the ID-VG curve have different slopes, i.e. different values of  $g'_m$ , as shown in figure 2.21. This phenomenon has received some attention [168, 169, 170, 171, 172] and is most likely due to Fermi level pinning in the graphene under the contacts. Depending on the metal workfunction, the graphene in the contact regions is set to be of *n* or *p* type, independently of the gate bias. If for example this pinning leads to *n*-type contact regions and the gate bias induces a *p*-type channel, then the device will be in a n - p - n configuration with two highly resistive p - n junctions. In the case of an *n* channel however, the devices will be in a n - n - n configuration without any junctions leading to much higher overall conductivity.

While a more phenomenologically accurate description may be warranted, it can be convenient to simply attribute the asymmetry to different transconductances and/or (apparent) mobilities of the two carrier types. In the case of such asymmetry, our model based on the V-function obviously falls short and a simple remedy is to split the model into two cases and, for simplicity, define  $g_n = g'_{m,n}$  and  $g_p = g'_{m,p}$ , the transconductances for electrons and holes, respectively. Given that (2.9) can be written as  $g_0 f_V(g'_m v)$  where  $v = (V_{gs} - V_0)/g_0$ , we can analogously write:

$$G_{ds} = \begin{cases} g_0 f_V(g_n \nu) & V_{gs} > V_0 \\ g_0 f_V(g_p \nu) & V_{gs} < V_0. \end{cases}$$
(2.14)

While this approach is sufficient for simple fitting problems, it introduces a discontinuity at  $V_G = V_0$  that can cause convergence problems if the model is to be used for circuit simulations.



Figure 2.21 – Asymmetric ID-VG characteristic of a measured graphene field effect device. The electron branch shows roughly three times higher conductivity than the hole branch (dots are measured data, solid line is a fit obtained with (2.15)) (a). Intrinsic transconductance extracted using the same fitting model (solid line) and extrinsic transconductance, as obtained by deriving  $\partial G_{DS}/\partial V_G$  (dashed line) (b). The device was biased at  $V_D = 100 \text{ mV}$ .

A more elegant solution is to replace the V-function with a ramp function, defining  $G_{ds}$  as

$$G_{ds} = g_0 f_r(g_n \nu) + g_0 f_r(-g_p \nu).$$
(2.15)

This model is continuous and infinitely differentiable over all values of v and allows for accurate fitting, as shown in figure 2.21.

#### 2.4.2.2 Improved current model

Habibpour et al. [163] proposed a semi-empirical model based on the V-function, computing the drift current by integrating from source to drain:

$$I_{ds} = q \frac{W}{L} \int_{V_{gd}}^{V_{gs}} \mu_{\text{eff}} n(V) \, dV.$$
(2.16)

In this case, the variable *V* is defined as the local, position-dependent voltage in the channel  $V = V_G - V_{ch}(x) - V_0$  while n(V), the combined electron and hole concentration, is otherwise defined as in (2.4). Further,  $\mu_{eff}$  is a field-dependent effective mobility, saturating when the local electric field  $\vec{E}$  exceeds a critical value. The field, however, is approximated as  $|\vec{E}| = V_{ds}/L$  to be independent of the integration variable and taken out of the integral.

The integral of  $f_V(x)$  is

$$F_V(x) = x\sqrt{1+x^2} + \log\left(x + \sqrt{1+x^2}\right)$$
(2.17)

and thus the solution to (2.16) is

$$I_{ds} = I_0 \left( F_V(v_{gs}) - F_V(v_{gd}) \right)$$
(2.18)

where  $v_{gs} = \frac{C_{ox}}{qn_0}(V_{gs} - V_0)$ ,  $v_{gd} = \frac{C_{ox}}{qn_0}(V_{gd} - V_0)$  and  $I_0 = qn_0\mu_{eff}\frac{W}{L}\frac{qn_0}{C_{ox}}$ . This approach is more physically solid than assuming a lumped channel conductance directly proportional to *n*. In particular it reflects the symmetry of the device between source and drain, which now can both have arbitrary voltages.

In order to account for different electron/hole mobilities, the author of [163] divides the domain of the current-voltage characteristic into four quadrants, where  $V_{gs}$  and  $V_{gd}$  are either smaller or larger than  $V_0$ . In each quadrant,  $I_{ds}$  is computed as in (2.18), replacing  $\mu_{eff}$  with an electron or hole-specific effective mobility, according to the corresponding majority carrier type. The different terms are then connected together using tanh-based analytic step functions in order to avoid convergence problems in simulations.

An alternative to this approach is, again, to use a ramp function instead of the V-function, the integral of which is:

$$F_r(x) = \frac{1}{2} \left( x f_r(x) + \log(f_r(x)) + 1 \right).$$
(2.19)

Electron and hole current can now be separated:

$$I_{ds} = I_n + I_p$$
  
=  $I_{n_0} (F_r(v_{gs}) - F_r(v_{gd}))$   
+  $I_{p_0} (F_r(-v_{gs}) - F_r(-v_{gd}))$  (2.20)

This results in largely the same quantitative I-V characteristic but in a more compact form and without the need for step-function stitching together the separate terms. The resulting ID-VG curves can be seen on figure 2.22. Compared to the simple conductance-based model (2.15) this approach treats the graphene channel as a continuum with a local channel potential varying between source and drain.

It is interesting to note that the base function  $F_r$  has a dominant term  $\propto x^2$ , leading to a  $\propto V_G^2$ -like behavior in the majority branch ( $V_G > V_0$  for electrons,  $V_G < V_0$  for holes). However, when all the relevant terms are put together, the electron current, for example, is approximately  $\propto (V_G - V_S)^2 - (V_G - V_D)^2$  causing the  $V_G^2$  terms to cancel such that the linear-like dependency on gate voltage is retrieved in the ID-VG characteristic. This is the reason why both carrier concentration and current in graphene devices show the same, roughly linear behavior.

It should also be noted that the second term in (2.20),  $\log(f_r(x))$ , is negligible with respect to the first. Moreover, it is likely more physical to omit this term as it leads to negative values of electron (hole) current for  $V_G < V_0$ , ( $V_G > V_0$ ). The integration constant 1/2 is chosen to ensure that  $\lim_{x\to -\infty} \frac{1}{2} (x f_r(x) + 1) = 0$ .

#### 2.4.2.3 Surface I-V fitting

Using the improved empirical model described in the previous section, it is possible to analyze of the complete current-voltage characteristic including all terminals of the graphene field-



Figure 2.22 – Comparison of ramp-function conductance model (2.15) (a) with the modified Habibpour's function model (2.20) (b) with asymmetric electron and hole transconductances  $(g_n = 800 \,\mu\text{S/V}, g_p = 500 \,\mu\text{S/V}, g_0 = 400 \,\mu\text{S}, R_S = 100 \,\Omega, V_0 = 0)$ . Both plots show a set of ID-VG curves with  $V_D$  increasing from 1V to 5V in steps of 1V. The model in (b) correctly predicts the Dirac point shift as a function of  $V_{DS}$  and the broadening of the current valley bottom between  $V_S$  and  $V_D$ .

Dirac Point: Series Resistance:	$V_0 = -4.2 \mathrm{V}$ $R_S = 10 \mathrm{k}\Omega$
Transconductance: electrons: holes:	$g'_{m,n} = 42 \mu\text{S/V}$ $g'_{m,p} = -18 \mu\text{S/V}$
Base conductance: electrons: holes:	$g_{0,n} = 45 \mu\text{S}$ $g_{0,p} = 19 \mu\text{S}$

Table 2.1 – Fitting parameters obtained from the data shown in figure 2.23a.

effect device. The underlying measurement data is a series of ID-VG voltage sweeps, obtained by applying a different, constant drain voltage for each sweep that is step-wise incremented, while keeping the source voltage grounded. These are complemented by a series of ID-VD sweeps, where gate voltage is incremented between sweeps, and source again is kept at zero bias. A surface fit is obtained by concatenating these measurements and applying the fitting algorithm to obtain a single set of parameters for the entire series of sweeps.

The results of this fitting process applied to a device are presented in figure 2.23. The model applied in this case was the modified Habibpour's empirical model (2.20). The fitting parameters obtained for this device are listed in table 2.1. It is noteworthy that transonductance and base conductance have similar values and we will see later that there is a correlation between these parameters.

It can also clearly be seen in the figures, in particular 2.23c, that there the valley representing the conductance minimum is tiled with respect to the  $V_D$  axis. For low values (or large negative



(a) Surface-plot of a series of ID-VG sweep measurements. The red dots are individual measurement points. The drain voltages are 10 mV, 30 mV, 60 mV, 100 mV and 300 mV.

(b) Current-Voltage characteristic extrapolated from the ID-VG sweep measurement surface fit of the data shown in figure 2.23a. The thick black line marks the  $V_D = 0$  bias condition, resulting in zero drain current.



(c) Surface-plot of a the intrinsic drain-source conductance  $G_{ds}$  obtained and extrapolated from the data in 2.23a.

(d) Current-Voltage characteristic extrapolated from ID-VG sweep measurement surface fit. This surface plot shows the I-V characteristic that would result if the same device had much lower access resistances  $R_S = 100\Omega$ .

Figure 2.23 – Sweep measurement data and current/conductance surface plots obtained from the same fit based on the said data.



Figure 2.24 – Drain current vs drain voltage (ID-VD) curves. The dotted lines are data obtained directly from ID-VD sweep measurements. The solid lines are ID-VD curves computed from the ID-VG surface fit in figure 2.23. The gate voltage bias values are -4V, -3V and -2V and are visualized as circular markers on the reference ID-VG curve in the inset; the marker of  $V_G = -4V$  being the one closest to the Dirac point.

values) of  $V_D$  the minimum occurs at a slightly lower value of  $V_G$  and for large values of  $V_D$  the minimum occurs at a slightly larger value ov  $V_G$ . This dependence of the Dirac point on drain bias has already been seen in figure 2.22b and is directly responsible for the commonly observed 'kink' in the ID-VD characteristic of graphene field-effect devices, which is discussed e.g. by Meric in [159].

The kink effect can also be seen in our ID-VD measurements, although it is mitigated by the relatively large contact resistance of our devices and the limited range of drain voltage sweeps between  $\pm 1$ V. Figure 2.24 shows a series of as-measured ID-VD curves together with ID-VD curves computed from the ID-VG surface fit shown in figure 2.23. The accuracy is somewhat decreases for larger values of  $V_D$  which is related to the fact that the ID-VG fit is based on data where the range  $V_D$  is limited to values  $\leq 0.3V$ . Nonetheless, the agreement between curves, particularly in the range between  $\pm 0.3$ V and where  $V_G$  is close to the Dirac point, is fairly good and can be regarded as a validation of the used model.

#### 2.4.3 Conclusion

We have seen an overview of techniques for analyzing measurement results obtained from standard DC sweep measurements, namely ID-VG and ID-VD sweeps. The most primitive approach, given by using a V-function, has proven to be a good basis for more elaborate functions, which are obtained by taking into account series resistance and electron-hole

branch asymmetry. It has also been, to some extent, physically justified by means of simplified relations for charge imbalance and a mass-action law. In its most advanced form, which is obtained from integrating over channel length, the model can successfully describe the full, three-terminal I-V characteristic of the graphene device, resulting in a surface fit which is in agreement with both, ID-VG and ID-VD curves simultaneously. Following these results, the model was also found to be useful for describing behavior of graphene devices in a small circuit as described in the following chapter.

# **3** A Graphene Circuit Study

# 3.1 The differential Circuit

Graphene "transistors", as has been explained in the introduction, suffer the drawback that no complete turn-off can be induced. Even in a perfect device at bias conditions, which should lead to minimal (theoretically zero) carrier concentration at the Dirac point, there is a considerable minimum current. According to the observations made in section 2.4 the current minimum also increases with larger drain-source bias.

Since the efficiency of modern CMOS circuits relies heavily on he high on-off ratios in silicon MOSFET transistors, it is clear that without a bandgap, the graphene transistor is unsuitable as an element for CMOS-like circuit topologies. We propose here a building block that could be used to realize the full set of Boolean functions without relying on the conventional turn-on/turn-off paradigm.

The circuit block consists of a strip of graphene forming a base branch (stem) that is split into two upper branches. The current in each of the upper branches is controlled by a gate fabricated on top, and connected to a load resistor. The gated regions of the upper branches each form a current-modulating graphene field-effect device, while a constant-current source connected to the stem controls the base current. Depending on the input signals at the gate on either branch, the base current is directed into one or the other branch where the load resistors produce a differential output voltage. Figure 3.1a illustrates this concept using familiar circuit element symbols, where the transistor designates a graphene field effect device.

The circuit thus operates on a differential input signal (fed into the gate electrods) and produces an differential output signal, which only relies on the *ratio* of currents between the two branches - a complete turn-off is not needed. This same principle has been successfully utilized in very high-speed bipolar ECL (emitter-coupled logic) and MOSFET SCL (sourcecoupled logic). It is also ubiquitous in analog circuit design, known as the differential pair.

## 3.2 Device Model for Hand Calculation

In order to qualitatively understand the behavior of the proposed differential circuit we use the following empirical model, that was already discussed in the previous chapter. Reasonable



Figure 3.1 – Circuit schematic (a) and simplified working principle of the graphene differential block (b). Upper axis: left (red) and right (blue) transistor output (drain) voltage,  $V_D$ . Lower axis: Transfer curve,  $V_{out}$ , determined by subtraction of blue curve from red curve.

values for the parameters are later selected according the results of analysis performed on the measurement data from fabricated field-effect devices using an essentially identical model for curve fitting:

$$G_{ds} = \sqrt{g_m^{\prime 2} (V_G - V_0) + g_0^2} \tag{3.1}$$

where  $G_{ds}$  is the transistor's overall conductance between source and drain,  $g'_m$  is the transconductance per unit of drain-source bias ( $g'_m = g_m / V_{ds}$ ),  $V_0$  is the Dirac voltage, and  $g_0$  is the conductance minimum at the Dirac point ( $G_{ds}(V_G = V_0) = g_0$ ). For simplicity  $g'_m$  and  $g_0$  will be referred to as reduced transconductance and base conductance respectively. This intrinsic conductance translates into an extrinsic output current, when taking the contact resistances into account ( $R_S = 2R_C$ ).

$$I_{extr} = V_{DS}G_{ds}(1 + R_SG_{ds}) \tag{3.2}$$

These are responsible for the concave bending and eventual saturation of the  $I_D(V_D)$  curve far away from the Dirac point. No other current saturation effects, such as carrier velocity saturation due to scattering mechanisms (MOSFET-like pinch off does not exist in gapless single layer Graphene[173]), are taken into account here.

This simple model, albeit empirical rather than based on physics principles, provides excellent fitting results and allows extracting parameters that reflect the device's extrinsic performance

relevant for circuit simulation. Similar models, also containing square-root based expressions but tailored to extract physical rather than circuit-relevant parameters were used in the past, e.g. by Meric [159, 16] and Scott [162]. It may also be more suitable for hand calculations in the analysis of elementary circuits than complex physical models. Combining a series of  $I_D(V_G)$  curves, measured at different drain bias values, and performing a surface fit allows capturing the complete DC characteristic of a device. Surface fits obtained in this manner exhibit a slightly larger residual error compared to individual curve fit but are still acceptable for our purpose (Figure 3).

# 3.3 Differential circuit analytical modeling

The working principle of the differential circuit block relies on a constant current source in the stem and two switching devices directing the current in either one or the other of two "branches" (Figure 4). The sum of the currents of both branches is therefore constant. The switching effect can be described by an imbalance factor  $\alpha$ .

$$\alpha = \frac{I_1 - I_2}{I_S} \tag{3.3}$$

where  $I_S = I_1 + I_2$  is the stem current supplied by the constant current source. In this formulation, the branch currents become

$$I_{1,2} = \frac{1}{2} (1 \pm \alpha) I_S \tag{3.4}$$

The output voltage is the difference of the drain nodes in either branch of the circuit.

$$V_{D1,2} = V_{DD} - R_L I_{L1,2} \tag{3.5}$$

$$V_{out} = V_{D1} - V_{D2} = R_L (I_2 - I_1) = -\alpha R_L I_S$$
(3.6)

If we model the graphene devices as conductances  $G_1$  and  $G_2$  (which are each a function of the devices' bias conditions, i.e.  $V_G$ ) then the total resistance of each branch can be expressed as

$$R_{br,i} = R_L + 1/G_i \tag{3.7}$$

Since the voltage drop on both branches is necessarily identical, we can write  $R_{br1}I_1 = R_{br2}I_2$ .

Combining this with equations (3.4) and (3.7) yields

$$\frac{R_L + 1/G_2}{R_L + 1/G_1} = \frac{1 + \alpha}{1 - \alpha}$$
(3.8)

which can be rearranged and solved to find the imbalance factor, as follows

$$\alpha = \frac{G_1 - G_2}{G_1 + G_1 G_2 R_L + G_2}.$$
(3.9)

This result is independent of the bias conditions  $V_{DD}$  and  $I_S$  and reflects the circuit's intrinsic performance. For  $G_1$  and  $G_2$  we can substitute a modified version of equation (3.1) in which we replace  $V_G = V_{com} \pm V_{in}$  respectively, where  $V_{com}$  is the common offset voltage around which the input voltage  $V_{in}$  is varied. Note that, as a simplification, the (common) source voltage,  $V_S$ , is not taken into account. Whereas the relevant parameter for the channel conductance modulation is  $V_{GS} = V_G - V_S$  rather than simply  $V_G$  we assume here a source voltage of 0V in order to maintain the analytic expressions at a manageable complexity. In practice, for numerical computations, we select a value of  $V_{com}$  to which we add the term  $V_{DD} - I_S(R_L/g_0)$ thus compensating for a nonzero, constant  $V_S$ . The circuit's transfer function is

$$V_{out} = H(V_{in}) = -\alpha(V_{in})R_L I_S \tag{3.10}$$

The transfer curve is schematically illustrated in figure 3.1b. Its appearance is dominated by the subtraction of the output characteristic of one device with the other's, resulting in a useful, linear region between a negative and a positive peak value. These peaks correspond to the Dirac point of each device respectively, their position on the input voltage's axis is related to  $V_{com} + V_0$  as illustrated in the figure. The principal figures of merit of this differential block are the input swing, characterized by the relative distance between the Dirac peaks in the transfer curve, as well as the slope and linearity of the linear region in-between. The slope can be computed by taking the derivative

$$S'(V_{in}) = \frac{\partial}{\partial V_{in}} R_L \alpha(V_{in}) \tag{3.11}$$

Note that S' is the slope per unit of bias current,  $I_S$ , bearing the unit 1/A; we define the actual slope as  $S = I_S S'$ . The result is rather unwieldy but can be evaluated at  $V_{in} = 0$ , resulting in

$$S'(0) = \frac{g_m^2 R_L}{G_0^2 + R_L G_0^3} (V_0 - V_{com}), \tag{3.12}$$

where  $G_0 = \sqrt{g_m'^2 (V_0 - V_{com})^2 + g_0^2}$ .

Parameters that can be independently tuned to optimize the circuits' performance include the common mode of the input signal  $V_{com}$  and the pull up resistances  $R_L$ . Figure 3.2 displays the slope versus each of these parameters. In order to maximize the slope, there is an opti-



Figure 3.2 – Slope *S'* of the transfer curve at  $V_{in} = 0$  for different values of  $g_m$ , as a function of (a)  $V_{com}$  and (b)  $R_L$  and (c) *S* as a function of  $I_S$ . Variables are normalized according to table 3.1.

Parameter	Unit	Typical Value	Normalization Fa		ation Factor	Normalized Value
$g'_m$	S/V	800	μS/V	400	μS/V	2
$g_0$	S	400	μS	400	μS	1
V	V	1	V	1	V	1
$I_S$	А	400	μΑ	400	μΑ	1
$R_L$	Ω	2.5	kΩ	1 / 400	μS	1
S'	1/A	2.5	$\mu A^{-1}$	1 / 400	μΑ	1

Table 3.1 – Typical values and normalization of main parameters. All parameters of a particular unit share the same normalization factor.



Figure 3.3 – Scatter plot of the reduced transconductance  $g'_m$  vs the base conductance  $g_0$  of a multitude of devices with varying dimensions.

mum value for  $V_{com}$  beyond which not only the slope but also the linearity decrease. This optimum value can be very close to the symmetry point ( $V_{in} = 0$ ) and approaches it further as transconductance improves. In terms of the load resistance, the slope monotinically increases with the value of  $R_L$ , but the benefit of increasing  $R_L$  further diminshes gradually as the slope approaches its asymptotic value.

Theoretically, both  $R_L$  and  $I_S$  could be multiplied at will in order to boost the circuit's amplification. However, the value of  $V_{DD}$  required to keep the current source from saturating may quicly reach prohibitive levels. Instead it will be advisable to carefully tune the balance between  $R_L$  and  $I_S$  such as to obtain an effective drive current while limiting the voltage drop across the load resistors.

For realistic numerical modeling, it is crucial to assess the relationship between the model's two main parameters,  $g'_m$  and  $g_0$ . Measurement data presented in Figure 3.3 reveals a linear trend where  $g'_m \approx \chi g_0$ , with the proportionality constant  $\chi = 2$ . This trend is interesting since it is desirable to have both a high value of  $g'_m$  and a low value of base conductance,  $g_0$ . It appears, however, that it is not possible to improve one of the parameters independently of the other. The values in Table 1 are chosen accordingly.

## 3.4 Circuit simulation results

With the same model and the coefficients obtained from a surface fit of a series of ID(VG) as well as ID(VD) curves, we programmed a compact model in Verilog-AMS for use with a circuit simulator, in this case CADENCE/Spectre. This approach allows for more flexibility as well as complexity in the circuit design compared to the analytical derivations. In particular it allows taking the contact resistances into account that tend to be on the order of the base conductance.

The results depicted in figure 3.4a show a fairly linear transfer curve in the input voltage range roughly between -1V and +1V, depending on the bias current. The tradeoff is between input swing and voltage gain (steepness of the transfer curve), which reaches a slightly amplifying value of 1.4. Here we adjusted  $I_S$  and  $R_L$  for a supply voltage level of 5V.

In order to achieve higher values of the amplification factor, we analyzed characteristics of graphene FETs previously reported. We found that devices with very low values of  $g_0$


Figure 3.4 – Differential input-output voltage transfer curves obtained from Verilog-A / Cadence Spectre simulations for different values of  $I_S$ , ranging from 20 µA to 80 µA in steps of 20 µA; The insets on the top left show the slope (voltage gain) at  $V_{in} = 0$  for each value of  $I_S$ . The insets on the bottom right show the value of  $V_{com}$  which were used for the respective bias current level. The device parameters were (a)  $g_m = 100 \mu S/V$ ,  $g_0 = 50 \mu S$ , (b)  $g_m = 400 \mu S/V$ ,  $g_0 = 40 \mu S$ . In both cases  $V_{DD} = 5V$ ,  $V_0 = 0$ ,  $R_L = 3(1/g_0)$  and the contact resistance at source and drain were  $R_C = 1k\Omega$ .

can significantly boost our differential circuit's performance (figure 3.4b). We extracted the characteristics from I(V) curves of bilayer graphene devices presented in reference [84], where the values of  $g_m$  and  $g_0$  were found to be on the order of 400 µS/V and 40 µS respectively (at  $V_{bg} = -80V$ ). The low base conductance is due the band gap opening in bilayer graphene when applying an electric field via a back gate bias  $V_{bg}$ . However, as mentioned above, the price to pay for the higher voltage gain is a drastically reduced input swing.

# 3.5 Conclusion

We studied the behavior of a proposed differential circuit that could be an alternative to the traditional CMOS paradigm. The results show a useful operation region with higher than unitary slope, which is notoriously difficult to achieve with graphene-based devices, indicating that cascading of such differential blocks should be feasible.

The simple empirical device model established at the beginning of this chapter allowed us to analytically calculate the circuit's behavior, giving us qualitative insight into the characteristics of the transfer function. This insight enabled us to tune the bias conditions, notably  $V_{com}$ , in order to optimize the circuit's operating performance, maximizing the slope of its transfer function. The circuit was then numerically modeled by implementing an empirical model in Verilog-AMS and running it in a circuit simulator.

Despite the encouraging results, we also have to note some limitations inherent to the here considered graphene device technology. The initial goal in the circuit design was to overcome the handicap stemming from the modest on-off ratios expected in graphene transistors. It turns out that a similar limitation, the ratio between transconductance and base conductance  $g'_m/g_0$ , also affects the performance of the proposed differential graphene circuit.

# **4** A Physical Device Model

Throughout most of the work described in this thesis, including data analysis, analytical calculations and circuit simulation, the graphene devices were described using empirical models. Although the more advanced models were able to fit and capture the measured device characteristics extremely well, it remains interesting to better understand the physical background and possibly reconcile some of the fitting parameters, such as transconductance and base conductance, with actual physical quantities.

Champlain [172] derived the behavior of the graphene field effect device in a very comprehensive first-principles theoretical examination. Carrier concentrations are calculated as the exact solution of the Fermi-Dirac integral from the linear density of states. A rigorous charge-voltage relation is established, relating the bias voltages at the device terminals with the amount of charge inside the graphene channel and the local Fermi level relative to the Dirac point.

This charge-voltage relation, however, is found to be transcendental, notably because the Boltzmann approximation cannot be made in the case of graphene, allowing no closed-form solution. Consequently, all further computations rely on a numerical solution of this equation, solving it for  $\eta_F$  the normalized Fermi level. Once  $\eta_F$  is known, the complete current-voltage characteristic of the device can be exactly derived.

In this chapter, we show that the charge-voltage relation can be transformed into a simple quadratic equation with two analytical solutions, by replacing exact (polylogarithmic) carrier density with its asymptotic approximation. These asymptotic solutions can then be "extended" such that they provide a highly accurate solution for the entire range of bias conditions.

# 4.1 Carrier Statistics in Graphene

Compared to Silicon, there are two major differences in the way carrier concentrations have to be calculated. In (nondegenerate) Silicon, the Fermi level is located inside the band gap where the density of states is zero. Outside the band gap, the Fermi-Dirac distribution can well be approximated with the Boltzmann distribution. This is not true in the case of graphene where no band gap exists and capturing the exact value of the carrier concentration close to the Dirac point is essential. Secondly, the density of states follows a square-root law whereas in graphene it is approximately linear and can be written as<sup>1</sup>

$$D(E) = \frac{g_s g_v}{2\pi} \frac{|E - E_D|}{(\hbar v_F)^2}$$
(4.1)

where  $g_s$  and  $g_v$  are the spin and valley degeneracies,  $\hbar$  is the reduced Plank's constant,  $v_F$  is the Fermi velocity and  $E_D$  the energy at the Dirac point.

The carrier concentrations are obtained by integrating the product of the density of states (DOS) with the Fermi-Dirac distribution as follows

$$n = \int_{E_D}^{\infty} D(E) f(E) dE \qquad p = \int_{-\infty}^{E_D} D(E) \bar{f}(E) dE \qquad (4.2 \text{ a,b})$$

where  $\bar{f}(E) = 1 - f(E)$ . The solution to Fermi-Dirac integrals can generally be expressed using the exponential function  $e^x$  and a polylogarithm  $Li_k$  [174]:  $\mathcal{F}_k(x) = -Li_{k+1}(-e^x)$ , where  $\mathcal{F}_k$ is the Fermi-Dirac integral of order k. When describing traditional semiconductors with a parabolic band structure, half-integer polylogarithms are usually encountered. In the case of graphene, due to the linear DOS, the solution to equations (4.2) involves the secondorder polylogarithm (details are given in appendix A.1). To simplify the notation, we define  $\mathcal{L}_k(x) = -Li_k(-e^x)$ .

$$n = N_G \mathcal{L}_2(\eta_F) \qquad p = N_G \mathcal{L}_2(-\eta_F) \qquad (4.3 \text{ a,b})$$

 $N_G$ , the effective graphene density of states, is defined as

$$N_G = \frac{g_s g_v}{2\pi} \left(\frac{k_B T}{\hbar v_F}\right)^2 \tag{4.4}$$

where  $g_s = g_v$  are the spin and valley degeneracies,  $v_F = 10^6$  m/s is the Fermi velocity in Graphene and  $\hbar$  is the reduced Planck's constant. At room temperature (T = 300K) the value of  $N_G$  is  $9.8 \cdot 10^{10}$  cm<sup>-2</sup>. The unitless parameter  $\eta_F$  is the reduced Fermi energy relative to the Dirac point:

$$\eta_F = \frac{E_F - E_D}{k_B T}.\tag{4.5}$$

The carrier statistics in graphene are thus governed by the  $\mathcal{L}_2$ -function, defined as the composition of the dilogarithm with the exponential function (the resulting concentrations are plotted in figure 4.1). For our modeling approach it is essential to understand the behavior of this function. Its transcendental nature is the reason why the charge voltage relation described in section 4.2, which is fundamental to the device analysis, cannot be solved explicitly.

In the left branch (x < 0),  $\mathcal{L}_k$  behaves like the exponential function, regardless of the value of k. In terms of carriers, the electron concentration decays exponentially the more the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The development in this section largely follows and expands on Champlain's first-principles examination[172].

#### 4.1. Carrier Statistics in Graphene



Figure 4.1 – Carrier concentrations as a function of the Fermi level relative to the Dirac point; normalized as  $\eta_F$  (bottom axis), and in actual units (top axis). At  $\eta_F = 0$  the value of  $\mathcal{L}_2(0) = \pi^2/12$  is close, but not exactly exactly equal to unity and  $n(0) = p(0) = 0.82 \cdot N_G$ , which amounts to  $8.1 \cdot 10^{10}$  cm<sup>-2</sup>.

Fermi level drops below the Dirac point ( $\eta_F < 0$ ). This corresponds to the familiar Boltzmann approximation made in non-degenerate semiconductor materials. In the right branch, where (x > 0),  $\mathcal{L}_k(x)$  behaves like a polynomial of order k. For example,  $\mathcal{L}_1$  shows linear behavior while  $\mathcal{L}_2$ , which represents the majority carrier concentration, resembles a parabola.

There are two important quantities to consider in the analysis of the graphene channel: the total concentration of carriers n + p and the net charge concentration p - n. Their reduced counterparts, normalized by  $N_G$ , are  $\mathcal{G}_2(\eta_F) = \mathcal{L}_2(\eta_F) + \mathcal{L}_2(-\eta_F)$  and  $\mathcal{H}_2(\eta_F) = \mathcal{L}_2(-\eta_F) - \mathcal{L}_2(\eta_F)$ , respectively. In both these quantities the exponential branch is insignificant and the concentrations of charge and carriers are dominated by the polynomial nature of the  $\mathcal{L}_2$ -function, with the exception of the transition region in the vicinity of the Dirac point.

In the case of total carrier concentration there is an exact identity

$$\mathcal{L}_2(\eta_F) + \mathcal{L}_2(-\eta_F) = \frac{\pi^2}{6} + \frac{1}{2}x^2, \tag{4.6}$$

whereas in the case of net charge there are two asymptotic limits

$$\mathcal{L}_{2}(-\eta_{F}) - \mathcal{L}_{2}(\eta_{F}) \approx \begin{cases} +\frac{\pi^{2}}{6} + \frac{1}{2}x^{2}, & \text{for } \eta_{F} \ll 0\\ -\frac{\pi^{2}}{6} - \frac{1}{2}x^{2}, & \text{for } \eta_{F} \gg 0 \end{cases}$$
(4.7)

These relations will be helpful in solving the charge-voltage relation approximately by substituting the  $\mathcal{L}$ -function with a parabolic expression. More details on the asymptotic behavior



Figure 4.2 – Band Structure and charge profile of the gate cross-section (left) and perspective view of the substrate-channel-gate stack (right). The cross section left corresponds the dashed line a - a' on the right. Graphic reprinted with permission from [172].

for the polylogarithm and  $\mathcal{L}$ -functions are provided in appendix A.2.

# 4.2 The Charge-Voltage Relation in a Graphene Transistor

The charge-voltage relation (4.8) relates the fermi level in the graphene sheet with the voltage applied to the transistor's gate electrode through the electrostatic interaction across the gate dielectric. The relation is derived by constructing a voltage loop, equating the potential drops across and on either side of the oxide, combined with the law of charge conservation. The details of this derivation can be found in reference [172]. In order to obtain charge and carrier concentrations as a function of the applied voltages, this equation first has to be solved for  $\eta_F$ .

$$V_G - V_{ch} + \frac{Q_{net}}{C_{ox}} - \frac{k_B T}{q} \eta_F + \frac{Q_f}{C_{ox}} - \frac{1}{q} \phi_{\rm mo} - \phi_{\rm so} = 0$$
(4.8)

Here,  $V_G$  is the applied gate voltage,  $V_{ch} = -E_F/q$  is the local voltage in the graphene channel,  $Q_{\text{net}} = q(p - n)$  is the net charge density,  $C_{ox} = \varepsilon_{\text{ox}}/t_{ox}$  is the areal gate oxide capacitance,  $Q_{\rm f}$  is the fixed charges density and  $\phi_{\rm mo}$  and  $\phi_{\rm so}$  are the metal-oxide and graphene-oxide workfunction differences, respectively.

First, we rearrange the equation, moving  $Q_{\text{net}}$  to the other side of the equals sign, and dividing by *q*. Either side of the equation has now the dimension of a density per unit area (cm<sup>-2</sup>):

$$p - n = \frac{C_{\rm ox}}{q} \frac{k_B T}{q} \eta_F - \frac{C_{\rm ox}}{q} (V_G - V_{ch}) - \frac{Q_{\rm f}}{q} + \frac{C_{\rm ox}}{q} (\phi_{\rm mo} - \phi_{\rm so})$$
(4.9)

By dividing both sides by  $N_G$ , we can normalize the equation and single out the transcendental functions on the left side of the equation. We use the normalized charge imbalance function  $\mathcal{H}_2(\eta_F) = p' - n'$ , defined in section 4.1, where  $n' = n/N_G$  and  $p' = p/N_G$  are the normalized carrier concentrations.

$$\mathcal{H}_{2}(\eta_{F}) = \frac{C_{\rm ox}k_{B}T}{q^{2}N_{G}}\eta_{F} - \frac{C_{\rm ox}}{qN_{G}}(V_{G} - V_{\rm ch}) - \frac{2Q_{\rm f}}{qN_{G}} + \frac{2C_{\rm ox}}{q^{2}N_{G}}(\phi_{\rm mo} - \phi_{\rm so})$$
(4.10)

At this point we can identify the dimensionless parameters a and b as well as the voltages V and  $V_0$ , which will simplify further developments.

$$a = \frac{1}{N_G} \frac{C_{\text{ox}}}{q} V_T \qquad b = \frac{1}{N_G} \frac{C_{\text{ox}}}{q} (V - V_0) \qquad (4.11,12)$$

$$V = V_G - V_{\rm ch}$$
  $V_0 = \frac{\phi_{\rm mo} - \phi_{\rm so}}{q} - \frac{Q_F}{C_{\rm ox}}$  (4.13,14)

We can also define the two additional dimensionless symbols b' and v for later use, such that b = b'v:

$$b' = \frac{1}{N_G} \frac{C_{\text{ox}}}{q} V_T \qquad \qquad v = \frac{V - V_0}{V_T}$$
(4.15,16)

Substituting these symbols in equation 4.10 yields:

$$\mathcal{H}_2(\eta_F) = a\eta_F - b \tag{4.17}$$

The goal is to solve this equation and express  $\eta_F$  as a function of *V*. In other words, to find a relation between the bias conditions – the voltages at source, drain and gate – and the Fermi level inside the graphene channel. Once this relation is known, the carrier concentrations, which are directly dependent on  $\eta_F$  via eq. (4.3) can also be expressed as a function of *V*. Although equation (4.17) is transcendental due to the presence of the dilogarithm, it can be solved separately for different regions. The solutions are given in table 4.1.

In regions I and II,  $\mathcal{H}_2$  is approximated by the parabola (A.16a,c) with a constant offset  $\pm \pi^2/6$  from zero. In these cases, (4.17) becomes a simple, second-order equation and the solutions (4.19) exhibit a square-root like characteristic. The term  $\pi^2/3$  in the square root, however, is problematic as it can lead the expression to assume imaginary values, even if *b* is constrained

**Chapter 4. A Physical Device Model** 

	Region I	Region II	Region III	
	$x \ll 0$	$x \approx 0$	$x \gg 0$	
$\mathcal{H}_2(x)$	$\frac{1}{2}x^2 + \frac{\pi^2}{6}$	$x\log(4)$	$-\frac{1}{2}x^2 - \frac{\pi^2}{6}$	(4.18 a-c)
$\hat{\eta}_F$	$a-\sqrt{a^2-\frac{\pi^2}{3}-2b}$	$\frac{b}{a + \log 4}$	$-\frac{a}{a} + \sqrt{\frac{a^2}{3} + 2b}$	(4.19 a-c)
$ ilde\eta_F$	$a-\sqrt{a^2-2b}$	$\frac{b}{a + \log 4}$	$-a + \sqrt{a^2 + 2b}$	(4.20 a-c)

Table 4.1 – Asymptotic solutions of the equation  $\mathcal{G}(x) = ax - b$ .



Figure 4.3 – Segment-wise asymptotic solutions of equation (4.17) (solid lines) as obtained from plotting (4.19) overlaid on the exact numerical solution (dotted line) (a). Segment-wise plot of the normalized carrier concentration, as obtained by substituting the asymptotic solutions (4.19) of the charge voltage relation (4.17) into  $\mathcal{L}_2(x)$ , overlaid on the exact numerical solution (dotted line) (b).

to non-negative numbers. Therefore, we also consider the reduced solutions (4.20), obtained by removing the constant term in (A.15a) and (A.15c). These reduced solutions are more convenient to use, give more accurate results in practice and have the distinct advantage of becoming zero:  $\tilde{\eta}_F = 0$  for b = 0. In region II, we use the linearized form of  $\mathcal{H}_2(x)$  at x = 0, leading to (4.17) becoming first order equation, which is straightforward to solve.

The curves resulting from this segment-wise approach are plotted in figure 4.3 together with the exact numerical result obtained from solving equation (4.8) using a nonlinear solver. The center point is shifted with respect to the origin V = 0 by  $V_0 = 0.3$  V as a result of the work-function difference  $\phi_{mo} - \phi_{so} = 0.3$  eV (the fixed charge density  $Q_f$  is chosen to be 0 here). The other relevant parameters are temperature (T = 300 K) and the oxide thickness ( $t_{ox} = 15$  nm) and permittivity ( $\varepsilon_{ox} = 10\varepsilon_0$ ).

# 4.3 Pseudo-Fermi Levels

In the previous sections we have seen how the charge-voltage relation can be solved analytically if the dilogarithm-expression  $\mathcal{L}_2(\eta_F)$  is replaced by its asymptotic approximation. Solving the equation is possible because the approximation is a second degree polynomial, but it only leads to segment-wise solutions each valid in the region where the corresponding asymptotic limit is applicable.

In the following approach, we re-formulate the charge-voltage relation using a newly defined set of variables. This will allow to solve the equation separately for electrons and holes over the full voltage domain range. Firstly,  $\mathcal{L}_2(\eta_F)$  and  $\mathcal{L}_2(-\eta_F)$  are each replaced with a variable that reflects the parabolic nature of  $\mathcal{L}_2$  as given by equations (4.18 a,c).

$$\eta_n = \sqrt{2\mathcal{L}_2(+\eta_F)} \qquad \qquad \eta_p = -\sqrt{2\mathcal{L}_2(-\eta_F)}. \tag{4.21 a,b}$$

With this particular definition of  $\eta_n$  and  $\eta_p$ , the following relations are analytically exact and by substituting (4.21) into (4.22) one retrieves equation (4.3):

$$n' = \frac{1}{2}\eta_n^2$$
  $p' = \frac{1}{2}\eta_p^2$  (4.22 a,b)

One might refer to these quantities,  $\eta_n$  and  $\eta_p$  as *pseudo*-Fermi levels for electrons and holes, which should not be confused with the *quasi*-Fermi levels routinely used to describe carrier concentrations in semiconductors outside thermal equilibrium. Our pseudo-Fermi levels are a vehicle to simplify further algebraic manipulations and to emphasize the polynomial behavior of ensuing expressions. The comparison given in figure 4.4 reveals that  $\eta_n$  and  $\eta_p$  behave like *ramp functions* that constitute a decomposition of  $\eta_F$  into a left and a right branch. The sum of both pseudo-levels happens to equal  $\eta_F \approx \eta_n + \eta_p$ , except for a small, quantifiable error  $\delta$ , plotted in figure 4.4b.

A charge-voltage relation can now be written separately for electrons and holes

$$-n' = a\eta_n - b_n \qquad p' = a\eta_p - b_p \qquad (4.23 a,b)$$

where we have substituted the voltage-dependent variable b(v) = b'v by the two ramp functions  $b_n(v)$  and  $b_p(v)$ , which decompose b(v) into a left and a right branch with respect to v, similarly to the decomposition of  $\eta_F$  into  $\eta_n$  and  $\eta_p$ . Equations (4.23) satisfy the charge-voltage relation (4.10) approximately since  $\eta_n + \eta_p \approx \eta_F$  and the ramp functions are chosen such that  $b_n + b_p = b$ .

$$p' - n' = a \left(\eta_n + \eta_p\right) - \left(b_n + b_p\right)$$

$$= a \eta_F - b$$
(4.24)

The partial charge-voltage relations for holes and electrons (4.23) can be written equivalently,



Figure 4.4 – Comparison of  $\eta_F$  and the pseudo Fermi levels  $\eta_n$  and  $\eta_p$  (a). Error  $\delta$  between  $\eta_F$  and  $\eta_n + \eta_p$  on a linear scale (left axis) and on a logarithmic scale compared with  $\eta_F$ , which is roughly two decades larger (right axis) (b).



Figure 4.5 – Voltage ramp functions  $b_n(v)$  and  $b_p(v)$  versus b(v) = b'v on linear scale (a) and logarithmic scale (b). In figure b, the solid lines represent the ideal voltage ramp, while the dashed lines are the parabolic ramp function.



Figure 4.6 – Carrier concentrations as a function of voltage in linear (a) and logarithmic scale (b). The solid lines are the reference numeric solution whereas the dashed lines correspond to the result obtained using our model based on the pseudo-Fermi levels  $\eta_n$ ,  $\eta_p$  and the parabolic ramp approximation of  $b_n$ ,  $b_p$ .

using the definitions of  $\eta_n$  and  $\eta_p$  (4.22), as

$$-\frac{1}{2}\eta_n^2 = a\eta_n - b_n \qquad \qquad \frac{1}{2}\eta_p^2 = a\eta_n - b_p \qquad (4.25 \text{ a,b})$$

leading to the solutions:

$$\eta_n = -a + \sqrt{a^2 + 2b_n}$$
  $\eta_p = a - \sqrt{a^2 - 2b_p}$  (4.26 a,b)

These equations (4.26) are the principal result of this work. All relevant quantities including carrier concentration, current and conductances can be expressed in terms of  $\eta_n$  and  $\eta_p$  as a function of voltage v. The functions  $b_n$  and  $b_p$  are plotted in figure 4.5. One can numerically determine an ideal voltage ramp, which, when plugged into equations (4.23), result in logarithmic accuracy of the carrier concentration. A closed-form expression for  $b_n$  and  $b_p$ , however, cannot be given for the same reason that  $\eta_F$  is not analytically solvable with respect to v.

The ideal voltage ramp can well be replaced with a parabolic ramp function discussed in appendix A.3. This approximation is very accurate in the linear branch but slightly deviates in the opposite branch, where it decays at a lower rate. By adjusting the ramp parameter  $\alpha$  the ramp can be optimized to yield the exact result at the Dirac point v = 0. This ramp parameter adjustment is more extensively discussed in appendix A.4. The result can be seen in figure 4.6; on the linear scale, the numeric solution and the analytic approximation are indistinguishable. Note that in the majority branch, *n* and *p* appear to be linear with *V*. The carrier concentrations have a parabolic relation with the pseudo-Fermi levels (eq. 4.22) but the dependence of  $\eta_n$ ,  $\eta_p$  on voltage is essentially a square-root law (eq. 4.26). These compensate, leading to a predominantly linear relation between *n*, *p* and *V*, although a smaller square-root component is still present (c.f. eq. A.36c and A.37a, appendix A.4).

### 4.4 Quantum Capacitance

The quantum capacitance, which has an impact on the device's characteristic near the Dirac point, is implicitly taken into account in this model. The definition of  $C_Q$  is

$$C_Q = \frac{q}{k_B T} \frac{\partial Q_{\text{net}}}{\partial \eta_F} = \frac{q}{k_B T} \frac{\partial}{\partial \eta_F} q(p-n).$$
(4.27)

 $C_Q$  can be computed by substituting  $\mathcal{H}_2(\eta_F)$  as defined in section 4.1 into (4.27) and evaluating the derivative. Taking into account that  $\frac{d}{dx}\mathcal{L}_2(\pm x) = \pm \mathcal{L}_1(\pm x)$  as well as  $\mathcal{L}_1(\eta_F) = \log(1 + e^x)$  one obtains the following analytical expression:

$$C_Q = \frac{q^2 N_G}{k_B T} \left( \log(1 + e^{\eta_F}) + \log(1 + e^{-\eta_F}) \right).$$
(4.28)

Figure 4.7 plots the normalized quantum capacitance ( $C'_Q$ ) against the gate voltage, where  $\hat{\eta}_F$  is directly numerically evaluated from (4.8) and plugged into (4.28). The dashed line is the



Figure 4.7 – Normalized quantum capacitance obtained from the analytical expression (4.28) (solid line) and by taking the derivative of the charge model (dashed line) (a). The absolute error  $\delta$  between the model-based and the numerically determined quantum capacitance is at least two decades below  $C'_{\Omega}$  throughout most of the voltage domain.

sum of carriers obtained from the ramp-based carrier model (4.26), differentiated by the same  $\hat{\eta}_F$ . The curves are near-identical, confirming that (4.26) provides a good model for the carrier concentration and includes the effect of quantum capacitance.

## 4.5 Drift-Diffusion Current

To model transport as drift-diffusion currents in semiconductor devices, two separate quasi Fermi levels for the conduction and valence bands are commonly introduced, where the current density of each carrier type is proportional to the gradient of the corresponding quasi Fermi level. The reason is that by applying a bias to the device, electrons and holes are no longer in thermal equilibrium with each other. The carrier populations within a single band, however, are considered to be in equilibrium internally and can each be described with a separate Fermi level. Considering the zero band gap in graphene, the conduction and valence bands are assumed to be closely enough connected so that the difference between the quasi Fermi levels is minimal. Instead a single Fermi level is used here to model both electron and hole currents.

This approach is expected to be accurate for low source-drain bias voltages and a relatively weak longitudinal electric field in the channel. In that case near-equilibrium carrier populations are a probable situation. For higher  $V_{DS}$  and fields on the order of  $1 \text{ V}/\mu\text{m}$  or larger, carrier velocity saturation is likely to occur [175, 161]. At even larger fields, on the order of  $2 \text{ V}/\mu\text{m}$  or higher, the carrier populations are expected to be significantly increased due to the onset of high-energy carrier collisions [176, 177]. Graphene is particularly susceptible to this type of inter-band interaction, which is favored in semiconductors with small band gaps[178]. However, there is benefit in considering low bias conditions, as the most useful region of operation graphene field effect devices is where  $V_{DS}$  is smaller than the gate voltage.



Figure 4.8 – Schematic illustrating the structure of the device under investigation. The top part shows the graphene sheet sandwiched between an insulating substrate and the source, drain and gate electrodes, the gate being separated from the channel by a thin dielectric. The lower part illustrates the band structure under a particular set of bias conditions. The dashed vertical lines separate the gated channel region from the contact regions.

Here, the current dependence on  $V_G$  is linear and  $g_m$  is highest, allowing to fully utilize the mobility-enabled large transconductance.

Figure 4.8 illustrates the device structure and the different variables that are relevant in evaluating the current. In the contact regions the channel voltage  $V_{ch}$  corresponds to the voltages applied to the source and drain terminals,  $V_S$  and  $V_D$ . The electrostatic potential  $E_D$  (solid line) corresponds to the Dirac level and  $\eta_F$  represents the offset between the Fermi level  $E_F$  (dotted line) and  $E_D$  and determines the local carrier concentration. In the particular situation depicted here, there is a crossover between the lines where  $\eta_F = 0$ , the total carrier concentration has a minimum and the electric field is at a peak. At the source (drain) side, to the left (right) of the crossover there is a majority-electron (hole) concentration, indicated by the red-shaded (blue) area in the Dirac cone. This situation occurs when the gate potential is between the source and drain potentials, and the device's output current is at or near its minimum, i.e. the Dirac point.

#### 4.5.1 Drift Current

Drift current density is proportional to the electric field in the channel, which is the gradient of the electrostatic potential  $E_D$ .

$$\vec{J}_{n\text{dft}} = qn\mu_n \vec{E} = -n\mu_n \nabla E_D \qquad \qquad \vec{J}_{p\text{dft}} = qp\mu_p \vec{E} = -p\mu_p \nabla E_D \qquad (4.29 \text{ a,b})$$

71

Recalling the definitions of  $\eta_F = (E_F - E_D)/k_B T$  and  $E_F = qV_{ch}$ , the electrostatic potential can be expressed as  $E_D = -qV_{ch} - k_B T \eta_F$ . Using the definition of  $v = (V_G - V_{ch} - V_0)/V_T$ , one recognizes that  $V_T \nabla v = \nabla V_{ch}$  because  $V_G$  and  $V_0$  are constant throughout the channel. Thus, the gradient can be written in terms of the known variables v and  $eta_F$  obtained from solving the charge-voltage relation:

$$-\frac{1}{q}\nabla E_D = V_T \nabla \nu + \frac{k_B T}{q} \nabla \eta_F$$
  
=  $V_T (\nabla \nu + \nabla \eta_F).$  (4.30)

Assuming a uniform channel throughout the width of the device, the problem can be reduced to a single dimension and the gradient replaced by  $\frac{d}{dx}$ , using *x* as the longitudinal axis. We can then evaluate the current in the usual way by moving the differentials dx to the left,

$$J_{n\text{dft}} dx = q \mu_n V_T \left( n \, d\nu - n \, d\eta_F \right) \qquad J_{p \, \text{dft}} dx = q \mu_p V_T \left( p \, d\nu - p \, d\eta_F \right)$$
(4.31 a,b)

and integrating from source to drain

$$\int_{x_{S}}^{x_{D}} J_{n \, dft} \, \mathrm{d}x = q \mu_{n} V_{T} \int_{v_{S}}^{v_{D}} n \, \mathrm{d}v - q \mu_{n} V_{T} \int_{\eta_{S}}^{\eta_{D}} n \, \mathrm{d}\eta_{F}$$
(4.32a)

$$\int_{x_{S}}^{x_{D}} J_{p_{\text{dft}}} dx = q \mu_{p} V_{T} \int_{v_{S}}^{v_{D}} p \, dv - q \mu_{p} V_{T} \int_{\eta_{S}}^{\eta_{D}} p \, d\eta_{F}$$
(4.32b)

where the integral limits correspond to position, voltage and reduced fermi level at the source and drain, respectively. Since we replaced the integration variable  $E_D$  by a combination of vand  $\eta_F$  there are now two integral to solve for each carrier type.

#### 4.5.2 Diffusion Current

Diffusion current density is proportional to the carrier concentration gradient, with diffusion coefficient  $D_n$  and  $D_p$ .

$$\vec{J}_{ndfn} = qD_n \nabla n \qquad \qquad \vec{J}_{pdfn} = qD_p \nabla p \qquad (4.33 \text{ a,b})$$

Usually, the diffusion coefficients are replaced according to the Einstein relation  $D = \mu k_B T$ . This is, however, applicable only where carrier concentrations follow Boltzmann statistics. In graphene, the generalized Einstein relation has to be used:

$$D_n = \mu_n \frac{n}{q \frac{\mathrm{d}n}{\mathrm{d}E_F}} = \mu_n V_T \frac{n}{\frac{\mathrm{d}n}{\mathrm{d}\eta_F}} \tag{4.34}$$

The electron concentration gradient  $\nabla n$  becomes  $\frac{dn}{dx}$  for a 1-dimensional system, which can

be rewritten in terms of  $\eta_F$ :

$$\nabla n = \frac{\mathrm{d}n}{\mathrm{d}x} = \frac{\mathrm{d}n}{\mathrm{d}\eta_F} \frac{\mathrm{d}\eta_F}{\mathrm{d}x} \tag{4.35}$$

Plugging (4.35) into (4.33) leads to the following relation, where the dn and  $d\eta_F$  cancel out

$$J_{ndfn} = q D_n \frac{\mathrm{d}n}{\mathrm{d}x} = q \mu_n V_T \frac{n}{\frac{\mathrm{d}n}{\mathrm{d}\eta_F}} \frac{\mathrm{d}\eta_F}{\mathrm{d}\eta_F} \frac{\mathrm{d}\eta_F}{\mathrm{d}x}$$
(4.36)

The development for holes is analogous, and after rearranging the differentials

$$J_{ndfn} dx = q \mu_n V_T n d\eta_F \qquad \qquad J_{p_{dfn}} dx = q \mu_p V_T p d\eta_F \qquad (4.37 a,b)$$

we can again define the integrals from source to drain:

$$\int_{x_S}^{x_D} J_{n dfn} dx = q \mu_n V_T \int_{\eta_S}^{\eta_D} n d\eta_F$$
(4.38a)

$$\int_{x_S}^{x_D} J_{p_{\text{dfn}}} dx = q \mu_p V_T \int_{\eta_S}^{\eta_D} p \, d\eta_F$$
(4.38b)

#### 4.5.3 Integration

Overall, there are two integrals that need to be evaluated:

$$\int n \,\mathrm{d}\eta_F \tag{4.39} \qquad \int n \,\mathrm{d}\nu \tag{4.40}$$

We want to integrate the carrier concentration over v and over  $\eta_F$ . From the developments in section 4.3 we know how  $\eta_n$  and  $\eta_p$  depend on v and  $\eta_F$ , therefore it is possible to make a change of variable. In the case of (4.39) this change is quite straightforward if we replace nwith  $\frac{1}{2}\eta_n^2$  and  $d\eta_F$  with  $d\eta_n$ :

$$\int n \,\mathrm{d}\eta_F \approx \int \frac{1}{2} \eta_n^2 \,\mathrm{d}\eta_n = \frac{1}{6} \eta_n^3. \tag{4.41}$$

In the case of (4.40) the change of variable requires the addition of a term  $dv = \frac{1}{b'} (\eta_n + a) d\eta_n$ :

$$\int n \,\mathrm{d}\nu = \int \frac{1}{2} \eta_n^2 \,\mathrm{d}\nu \approx \int \frac{1}{2} \eta_n^2 \,\frac{1}{b'} \left(\eta_n + a\right) \,\mathrm{d}\eta_n. \tag{4.42}$$

resulting in a 3rd and a 4th-order term of  $\eta_n$ . Note that a/b' = 1 and cancel out.

$$\int \frac{1}{2} \eta_n^2 \,\mathrm{d}\nu \approx \int \left(\frac{1}{2b'} \eta_n^3 + \frac{1}{2} \eta_n^2\right) \mathrm{d}\eta_n = \frac{1}{8b'} \eta_n^4 + \frac{1}{6} \eta_n^3 \tag{4.43}$$

73

Comparing the equations (4.32) and (4.38), one recognizes that diffusion current  $\int n \, d\eta_F$  is identical the second of the terms that make up drift current  $\int n \, dv - \int n \, d\eta_F$ . Taking the sum of drift and diffusion, this term cancels and the result is proportional to  $\int n \, dv$ . Equation (4.43) thus represents the total drift + diffusion current, where the 3rd order term in (4.41) and (4.43) constitutes diffusion current and the 4th order term in (4.43) is the drift current.

The left side of equations (4.38) and (4.32) integrates the current density from source ( $x_S = 0$ ) to drain ( $x_D = L$ ). Dividing these integrals by the channel length *L* results in an average current  $\bar{J}_n$  and  $\bar{J}_p$  (the respective drift and diffusion components) and multiplying by the channel width *W* yields the corresponding currents  $I_n$  and  $I_p$ , assuming a channel that is uniform throughout its width.

Finally we get the drift components

$$I_{ndft} = I_{n0} \frac{1}{8b'} \eta_n^4 \Big|_{v_{gs}}^{v_{gd}} \qquad \qquad I_{p_{dft}} = I_{p_0} \frac{1}{8b'} \eta_p^4 \Big|_{v_{gs}}^{v_{gd}} \qquad (4.44 \text{ a,b})$$

and the diffusion components

$$I_{ndfn} = I_{n0} \frac{1}{6} \eta_n^3 \Big|_{\nu_{gs}}^{\nu_{gd}} \qquad \qquad I_{p_{dfn}} = I_{p_0} \frac{1}{6} \eta_p^3 \Big|_{\nu_{gs}}^{\nu_{gd}} \qquad (4.45 \, a, b)$$

where  $I_{0n}$  and  $I_{0p}$  are defined as follows

$$I_{n0} = \frac{W}{L} q \mu_n V_T N_G \qquad I_{p_0} = \frac{W}{L} q \mu_p V_T N_G \qquad (4.46 \text{ a,b})$$

The expressions are evaluated by substituting for  $v_{gd}$  and  $v_{gs}$  the gate-drain and gate-source potential differences, respectively, normalized by dividing by the thermal voltage  $V_T$ . The pseudo-Fermi levels  $\eta_n(v)$  and  $\eta_p(v)$  are known functions of voltage as defined by equations (4.26).

#### 4.6 Results

With equations (4.44-4.46), we have a complete set of explicit expressions that allow to directly compute the total current as a function of the potentials applied to the device's source, drain and gate terminals. The total current is obtained by adding the drift and diffusion components of the electron and hole currents which can each be individually computed. The result is plotted in figure 4.9, which shows the current-voltage characteristic as a function gate and drain voltage as well as the corresponding conductances.

We observe that the current-voltage characteristic has near-linear behavior in the case of the  $I_D(V_G)$  relation (figure 4.9a) and a near-quadratic one for  $I_D(V_D)$  (figure 4.9b), which manifests as quasi constant  $g_m$  and linear  $g_{ds}$  (figure 4.9 c & d). In section 4.3, it was mentioned that carrier concentration exhibits a linear dependence on voltage, e.g. electrons  $n \sim \eta_n^2 \sim v$ . Now we see that (electron) drift current is proportional to  $\eta_n^4$ , thus leading to the quadratic relation



Figure 4.9 – Result (normalized) of the drift-diffusion current modeling. Drain current vs. gate voltage curves (a), drain current vs. drain voltage (b) transconductance vs. gate voltage (c) and drain-source conductance vs drain voltage (d). All voltages are referred to  $V_S = 0$ . The conductances  $g_m$  and  $g_{ds}$  are the derivatives of the  $I_D(V_G)$  and  $I_D(V_D)$  curves, respectively. The thick line in figures (b) and (d) corresponds to  $V_G = V_0$ .



Figure 4.10 – Comparison of total (solid lines) and drift-only current (dotted lines) in the  $I_D(V_G)$  (a) and  $I_D(V_D)$  curves (b). The insets show the relative fraction of diffusion current in percent, which peaks at the Dirac point. The bias conditions are identical as in figure 4.9.

 $i \sim v^2$ , which we see in the  $I_D(V_D)$  curves. The linear dependence on  $V_G$  shown in figure 4.9a is a result of how the drift current expressions (4.44) are evaluated at the limits  $v_{gs}$  and  $v_{gd}$  and can be explained by drawing a simplified picture: considering that  $\eta_n^4 \sim v^2$  in the case of electrons, evaluating (4.44) amounts to computing the difference of  $v_{gd}^2$  and  $v_{gs}^2$  which expands to  $(v_g - v_d)^2 - (v_g - v_s)^2$ . In this last expression, the  $v_g^2$ -terms cancel out, leaving only first order terms of  $v_g$ , thus leading to the apparent linear relationship.

Between the linear branches left and right of the Dirac point in figure 4.9a, there is a region with parabolic current-voltage dependence and linear transconductance. The region is limited to where the gate potential falls between source and drain potentials  $V_S < V_G - V_0 < V_D$ . To take full advantage of graphene's mobility-enabled high transconductance, a device must be biased outside of this region, i.e.  $V_G > V_{DS}$ . The Dirac point itself, i.e. the global current minimum in the  $I_D(V_G)$  relation, shifts with drain and source bias and is located at  $\frac{1}{2}(V_D + V_S) + V_0$ . This minimum translates into an inflection point in the  $I_D(V_D)$  curves located where  $V_D = V_G - V_0$  and channel conductance has a minimum with  $g_{ds}$  close to zero. This near-zero conductance may not be physical as it does not take into account the finite minimum conductivity discussed in section 1.4.2.

Since the current-voltage characteristic appears to be dominated by the  $\eta_{n,p}^4$  terms, one could conclude that diffusion current plays only a subordinate role compared to drift current. Indeed, a comparison shows that drift current accounts for more than 90% of the total current, (figure 4.10) except in a region surrounding the Dirac point where diffusion current peaks at up to 30%.

We can assess the accuracy if this model by comparing its results with a reference model derived in appendix A.5. This reference current is computed by numerically solving the charge voltage relation for  $\eta_F$ , and then substituting that into the following expressions obtained



Figure 4.11 – Relative error, in percent, of the model (4.44)–(4.46) with standard ( $\delta_{std}$ ) and optimized ( $\delta_{opt}$ ) ramp parameter compared to the reference model (4.47). Figure (a) and (b) correspond to the  $I_D(V_G)$  and  $I_D(V_D)$  curves in figure 4.9, respectively, computed with identical bias conditions. The inset in figure b is provided for a full view of the  $\delta_{std}$  curves. The extent of the horizontal axis is identical to that of the enclosing graph.

from integrating n',  $p' = \mathcal{L}_2(\pm \eta_F)$  as described in appendix A.5:

$$i_{\text{ref,n}} = \mathcal{L}_3(\eta_F) + \frac{1}{b'} \left( \mathcal{L}_2(\eta_F)^2 - \eta_F \mathcal{L}_3(\eta_F) + \mathcal{L}_4(\eta_F) \right)$$
(4.47a)

$$i_{\text{ref},p} = \mathcal{L}_3(-\eta_F) + \frac{1}{b'} \left( \mathcal{L}_2(-\eta_F)^2 + \eta_F \mathcal{L}_3(-\eta_F) + \mathcal{L}_4(-\eta_F) \right)$$
(4.47b)

The elementary currents *i* are to be evaluated as  $I = I_0 i \Big|_{v_{gs}}^{v_{gd}}$  to obtain the effective current. Figure 4.11 illustrates the relative error of our model compared with the reference model. Two sets of curves are presented: The error  $\delta_{std}$  corresponds to the case of simple standard ramp parameter adjustment (equal for all terms of  $\eta_{n,p}$ ), whereas  $\delta_{opt}$  corresponds to an optimized model where ramp parameters are adjusted to match the exact values of (4.47), term by term. The error is generally well below 1% everywhere except for the notorious region surrounding the Dirac point. In that region, the optimized ramp adjustment helps to substantially mitigate the error containing it below 6% at its peak. Note that this is despite the tendency of the relative error to become very large as the absolute value approaches zero, which is true in particular for the zero-crossing  $I_D(V_D)$  curves at  $V_D = 0$ .

### 4.7 Conclusion

In conclusion, we modeled the carrier statistics in a graphene field-effect device following a rigorous approach based on Champlain's first-principles theoretical examination [172]. The electrostatic control of carriers inside the channel by an applied gate bias voltage is established through the charge-voltage relation which also implicitly accounts for the often neglected effect of quantum capacitance. We obtained a highly accurate approximations by studying the asymptotic behavior of the net charge concentration and solutions to the charge-voltage relation. Finally we were able to establish closed-form analytical expressions modeling charge

concentration and current directly as a function of the bias conditions applied to the device's terminals.

We find that various forms of ramp functions play a fundamental role in graphene analysis but also in the analysis of semiconductors in general. Ramps are not only a straightforward way to empirically describe the behavior of graphene devices, as shown in chapter 2. They also naturally occur in the form of the  $\mathcal{L}_k$ -functions as the solution to the Fermi-Dirac integral. While these functions, essentially variants of the exponential ramp function, are somewhat unwieldy when they occur in an equation to be solved, one can take advantage of their partially polynomial-like behavior. In our approach, we made use of pseudo-Fermi levels defined such that carrier statistics and current can be represented by simple exponentiation of these variables to the second, third and fourth power. In other words, we represent those quantities by polynomial expressions of the pseudo-Fermi levels. These are, in turn, modeled using parabolic ramp functions that very closely approximate the solution to the charge-voltage relation governed by the 2nd order exponential ramp function  $\mathcal{L}_2$ .

One of the strengths of this model is that drift, diffusion, electron and hole currents can individually computed. For example, by modeling the electron and hole current separately, different values of carrier mobilities can taken into account. Isolating drift and diffusion currents is also interesting as it sheds light onto their relative contribution to the total current and allows to estimate the potential error arising when only drift current is considered. The model could be extended or modified by taking other transport mechanisms into account, considering that drift-diffusion might not be the best means of describing current in graphene under all conditions. Finally, the model is continuous and valid for all combinations of gate, source and drain voltages without the need for artificial stitching functions, making it suitable for implementation as a compact model.

# **5** Conclusions

The present manuscript offers an examination of graphene, the first two-dimensional material ever discovered, and its properties from an electronic device point of view. The suitability and behavior of graphene-based electronic devices, in particular a field modulated transistor-like structure, is studied from different perspectives, including both practical-experimental and theoretical.

Chpater 1 gives a general overview of graphene and its applications. We see how the material (lattice) structure translates into a peculiar linear energy dispersion, making it a material class of its own, which is neither metallic-conducting nor a semiconductor. This results in both phenomenal electron mobility and very poor switching performance due to the lack of band gap, preventing the complete current turn-off which is necessary for logic electronics as we know it. Similar reasons also limit its use as a channel material in RF transistors. On the other hand, some advantages also come from its nature of being an atomically flat material. Those make it interesting in particular for flexible electronics but also applications where its surface to volume ratio can be leveraged to boost performance of batteries and capacitors.

Although graphene might not be suited as a direct replacement for current materials in today's semiconductor manufacturing processes, its outstanding properties are still likely to find applications in future electronics technologies. Those applications might be realized in novel devices, utilizing the various physical phenomena that occur in graphene, or take advantage of combinations with other 2D or bulk materials. Alternatively graphene could be used in new circuit architectures that depart from the currently dominating CMOS switching paradigm, such as the differential circuit approach we examine in chapter 3.

In chapter 2 we present details of a comprehensive examination of the graphene field effect device covering its design, fabrication, characterization and analysis. Establishing from scratch a workflow for this new technology, which had not been previously utilized in the research group, we introduce a set of coordinated tools, concepts and procedures which are optimized for efficiency, repeatability and incremental improvement.

We show how the fabrication process flow, specifically developed for graphene devices, takes into account the intricacies of graphene, including the delicacy of mechanical handling or its susceptibility to various processes and to contamination. The process uses electron beam

#### **Chapter 5. Conclusions**

lithography, a very powerful, high resolution patterning technology, while avoiding direct exposure of essential device regions to electron beam radiation, which could incur significant damage to the graphene lattice. The process is also designed to prevent the graphene layer from coming into contact with plasma-based processes by ensuring that it is constantly protected by a oxide layer. This same layer also protects from contamination and facilitates the removal of organic residues after lithography, by allowing the use of highly effective plasma ashing.

From concept over realization to analysis, every stage is carefully embedded into the overall workflow with a toolset of instruments, procedures, concepts and software tools on each level. It begins with the prerequisite for device manufacturing: a powerful layout design framework, which its automated, has a highly modular and flexible operating principle and does not require any expensive software to be purchased. This framework is great for iterative design and incremental improvement, where changes are realized by adjusting a few lines of code, and can be easily integrated with a versioning control system such as GIT.

Along with the layout we simultaneously create the meta-information file that is later used to enable automated characterization. The automated/programmatic layout generation ensures that every device is charted with the right parameters at the right coordinates. This allows the electrical testing system to be aware of each device's location, type and properties while performing the measurements. Finally, at the last stage during data analysis, the same perdevice information is available, where it can be used for structuring, grouping and sorting the measurement data, as well as to cross-reference and correlate it with respective device parameters. This workflow toolchain was created for, but is not limited to graphene devices and can be adapted for different needs.

In chapter 3 we see how the simple, empirical model can be used in hand calculations to make useful predictions of the behavior of a graphene-based circuit block. Further, we developed a circuit simulation environment that combines the strength of an industrial-grade SPICE simulator, incorporating the capabilities of verilog-A, with the versatility of MATLAB for data analysis and visualization. Our empirical graphene field-effect device model with closed-form expressions is well suited in this context, requiring only little computation time and consistently leading to converging solutions. The MATLAB-based front-end, used for managing source files, launching the simulation and loading the results back for further analysis and visualization, makes the process effective and convenient, allowing to readily improve and optimize circuit design and parameters.

We applied the principle of source-coupled logic to graphene, using the simulation environment to test numerous variants and optimize an elementary circuit block. To ensure realistic results, we simulated graphene-devices with parameters based on the performance and typical values from devices that were previously fabricated and characterized. However, we find that even in this alternative circuit design approach, and using optimistic parameter values, it is difficult to achieve high voltage gain, the main figure of performance of the circuit block. This limitation stems from the low ratio of transconductance, where a very high value is desirable, and base conductance, which should be as low as possible and corresponds to the notoriously high off current in graphene. Voltage gain is necessary for cascading these circuit bloks and building circuits out of them.

The graphene circuit simulation environment remains useful however and is a powerful tool to study the behavior of graphene devices as components of a circuit. The empirical model has proven useful but one cannot rule out any doubt about its validity under all circumstances. Therefore it is interesting to compare it with a more rigorous model, both to confirm its validity and also to reconcile the circuit-level parameters with fundamental physical quantities.

From this perspective we developed a model based on asymptotic approximations of Champlain's rigorous description of the graphene field-effect device based on first principles. Using this approach we managed to find closed-form solutions to a normally transcendental problem. At the current stage the result can be considered zero-level model, providing valuable insight into the intrinsic behavior of graphene devices. However, it only takes ideal circumstances into account, excluding effects like velocity saturation, parasitic elements, noise etc. Such effects could certainly be incorporated in future extension of the model. The explicit analytical formulations and the absence of artificial elements such as step functions make it suitable for implementation as a compact model for accurate and effective circuit simulation.

In summary, we give a comprehensive picture centered on the graphene field-effect device from a practical, circuit-oriented standpoint, yet incorporating several different perspectives and approaches. These include the design and manufacturing of devices, an examination of their behavior and usefulness as circuit elements as well the theoretical study of physical laws that govern their functioning. Throughout the journey of exploring these perspectives we also developed a extensive collection of tools and procedures designed for graphene devices extensible to any type of electronic devices.

# A Device Modeling Supplemental Information

# A.1 Detailed Derivation of the Fermi-Dirac Integral

The product of the density of states D(E) in graphene with the Fermi-Dirac distribution f(E) defines the carrier occupancy and reads:

$$D(E)f(E) = \frac{g_s g_v}{2\pi} \frac{E - E_D}{(\hbar v_F)^2} \frac{1}{1 + e^{\frac{E - E_F}{k_B T}}}$$
(A.1)

The electron concentration is obtained by integrating this expression from  $E_D$  to  $+\infty$ . Here, a term  $k_B T$  is added to make the the integrand more coherent.

$$n = \frac{g_s g_v}{2\pi} \frac{k_B T}{(\hbar v_F)^2} \int_{E_D}^{\infty} \frac{\frac{E - E_D}{k_B T}}{1 + e^{\frac{E - E_F}{k_B T}}} \, \mathrm{d}E.$$
(A.2)

In order to simplify this equation we can define normalized energies, centered around the dirac point  $E_D$ :

$$\eta_F = \frac{E_F - E_D}{k_B T} \qquad \eta = \frac{E - E_D}{k_B T} \qquad \eta - \eta_F = \frac{E - E_F}{k_B T}$$
(A.3)

By applying the change of variable

$$dE = \frac{dE}{d\eta}d\eta = k_B T \,\mathrm{d}\eta \tag{A.4}$$

the integral can be rewritten as

$$n = N_G \int_0^\infty \frac{\eta}{1 + e^{\eta - \eta_F}} \,\mathrm{d}\eta = N_G \mathcal{F}_1(\eta_F) \tag{A.5}$$

where  $\mathcal{F}_1$  is the complete Fermi–Dirac integral with index j = 1, defined as

$$\mathcal{F}_{j}(x) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(j+1)} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{t^{j}}{1+e^{t-x}} dt$$

$$= -Li_{j+1}(-e^{x}).$$
(A.6)

The function  $Li_i(x)$  in the solution of this integral is known as the polylogarithm function.

$$Li_j(x) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{x^k}{k^j} = x + \frac{x^2}{2^j} + \frac{x^3}{3^j} + \dots$$
(A.7)

In the case of graphene, as a consequence of the linear density of states, the relevant Fermi– Dirac integral has index j = 1, and accordingly, the carrier concentrations can be expressed using the polylogarithm of order 2, which is also called the dilogarithm function.

$$n = -N_G Li_2(-e^{\eta_F}) \tag{A.8a}$$

$$p = -N_G Li_2(-e^{-\eta_F}) \tag{A.8b}$$

Voilà.

## A.2 Asymptotic behavior of charge- and carrier concentrations

Charge and carrier concentrations in graphene are governed by  $\mathcal{L}_2$ , which is composed the of the dilogarithm and the exponential function  $\mathcal{L}_2(x) = -Li_2(y) = -Li_2(-e^x)$ . It is useful to distinguish three regions, the left branch  $x \ll 0$ , the right branch  $x \gg 0$  and where x is close to zero. The dilogarithm is real-valued for real values of  $x \le 1$ , assumes positive values for  $0 < x \le 1$ , zero for x = 0 and negative values for x < 0. With regard to the study of  $\mathcal{L}_2$ , the relevant domain of  $Li_2$  is the range of  $-e^x$ , i.e. all negative values.

For large positive *x*, the dilogarithm has the following asymptotic limit[179]:

$$-Li_2(-y) \to \frac{1}{2}\log^2(y) + \frac{\pi^2}{6}$$

which follows from the following known functional identity[180], as  $Li_2(y^{-1}) \rightarrow 0$  while *y* tends towards  $\infty$ 

$$-Li_2(-y) - Li_2\left(\frac{1}{-y}\right) = \frac{\pi^2}{6} + \frac{1}{2}\log^2(y)$$

By substituting  $e^x$  for *y* we get the approximation for  $\mathcal{L}(x)$ .

$$\mathcal{L}_2(x) = \frac{1}{2}x^2 + \frac{\pi^2}{6}$$

The derivative of a polylogarithm with index *j* is equal to the polylogarithm with index j - 1. The polylogarithm with index j = 1 is a variant of the natural logarithm:  $Li_1 = -\log(1 - x)$ .

$$\frac{d}{dx}Li_j(y) = \frac{1}{y}Li_{j-1}(y)$$
$$\frac{d}{dx}Li_2(y) = -\frac{1}{y}\log(1-y)$$

Thus, at the origin, around x = 0 and y = 1 a series expansion can be made, leading to:

$$-Li_2(y) = \frac{\pi^2}{12} + (y-1)\log(2) + \cdots$$

Finally, as -x tends to  $\infty$  and  $y \rightarrow 0$ ,  $Li_2$  approaches the first element in its series definition (eq A.7) which is simply  $y = e^x$  and corresponds to the Boltzmann approximation.

In addition, the asymptotic behavior of the function  $\mathcal{H}_2$ , defined in eq A.9, is of interest, as it represents the net charge in the graphene sheet q(p - n).

$$\mathcal{H}_2 = \mathcal{L}(-x) - \mathcal{L}(x) \tag{A.9}$$

The asymptotic behavior of  $\mathcal{H}_2$  can be easily deduced from  $\mathcal{L}$  and is also included in table A.1.



Figure A.1 – Asymptotic approximations of  $\mathcal{L}_2(x)$ 

In region II, it is useful to further simplify the expression by linearizing it:

$$\mathcal{H}_{2}^{0} = (e^{-x} - e^{x})\log 2$$
(A.10)  
= -2 sinh x log 2 (A.11)

$$\mathcal{H}_2^0 \approx -2x\log 2 = -x\log 4 \tag{A.12}$$

It also is of particular interest to know the value of  $\mathcal{L}$  at the origin[180]:

$$\mathcal{L}(0) = \frac{\pi^2}{12}.\tag{A.13}$$

Function	Region I	Region II	Region III	
	$x \ll 0$	$\mathbf{x} pprox 0$	$0 \ll x$	
	$y \rightarrow 0$	$y \approx 1$	$1 \ll y$	
-Li <sub>2</sub> (-y)	У	$(y-1)\log(2) + \frac{\pi^2}{12}$	$\frac{1}{2}\log^2(y) + \frac{\pi^2}{6}$	(A.14 a-c)
$\mathcal{L}_2(\mathbf{x})$	$e^x$	$(e^x - 1)\log(2) + \frac{\pi^2}{12}$	$\frac{1}{2}x^2 + \frac{\pi^2}{6}$	(A.15 a-c)
$\mathcal{H}_2(\mathbf{x})$	$\frac{1}{2}x^2 + \frac{\pi^2}{6}$	$(e^{-x}-e^x)\log(2)$	$-\frac{1}{2}x^2 - \frac{\pi^2}{6}$	(A.16 a-c)

Table A.1 – Asymptotic forms of  $-Li_2(-y)$ ,  $\mathcal{L}_2(x)$  and  $\mathcal{G}(x)$ 



Figure A.2 – Parabolic ramp (a) and step (b) functions plotted for different values of  $\alpha = \{1, 2, 3\}$ . Insets: linear-logarithmic representation with a horizontal axis identical to the enclosing graph.

# A.3 Ramp and Step functions

Ramp and step functions are a versatile mathematical tool that occur and are utilized in several instances throughout this work. The ramp function is first introduced in section 2.4.1, alongside the *V*-function where we discuss elementary curve fitting. The name stems from the appearance of such a function when plotted on a linear scale. In principle, any function r(x) that approaches  $r(x) \rightarrow 0$  for negative x and  $r(x) \rightarrow x$  for positive x could be described as a ramp function. The derivative of such a function is called a *step function*. We mostly use the parabolic *ramp* and *step* functions, shown in figure A.2.

$$r(x) = \frac{1}{2} \left( x + \sqrt{\alpha^2 + x^2} \right)$$
 (A.17) 
$$s(x) = \frac{1}{2} \left( 1 + \frac{x}{\sqrt{\alpha^2 + x^2}} \right)$$
 (A.18)

The parabolic ramp function approaches the straight line with slope 1 going through the origin for large, positive *x* and tends to 0 for large negative *x* as a hyperbola  $\propto 1/x$ . The parameter  $\alpha$  determines the value at  $r(x = 0) = \frac{1}{2}\alpha$  as well as the abruptness of the transition between the left, near-zero and the right, near-linear region. A larger  $\alpha$ , leads to a smoother transition but also to higher values in the left-branch.

$$r(x) \rightarrow \begin{cases} x & x \gg \alpha \\ \frac{1}{2}\alpha + \frac{1}{2}x + \frac{x^2}{4\alpha} & x \approx 0 \\ \frac{\alpha^2}{4x} & x \ll \alpha \end{cases}$$
(A.19)

The step function resembles the Heaviside step function with a smooth transition between the left limit 0 and the right limit 1. It approaches 0 faster than r(x) for large negative x proportional to  $1/x^2$ . The same parameter  $\alpha$  in the step function determines the slope at x = 0 such that  $s'(0) = \frac{1}{2}a$ . Again, the larger  $\alpha$ , the lower the slope and the less abrupt the transition

between the near-0 and near-1 regions.

1

$$s(x) \rightarrow \begin{cases} 1 & x \gg \alpha \\ \frac{1}{2} + \frac{x}{2\alpha} & x \approx 0 \\ \frac{\alpha^2}{4x^2} & x \ll \alpha \end{cases}$$
(A.20)

Both functions can be mirrored across the vertical axis by supplying a negative argument r(-x), s(-x). Also note that the step function is the derivative of the ramp function:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}x}r(x) = s(x). \tag{A.21}$$

When integrating a ramp function r(x), the expected result is a base function that resembles  $R(x) \sim \frac{1}{2}x^2$  in the right branch, while the left branch should remain close to zero. Without making any assumptions regarding the specific nature of the ramp, one can rewrite the integral by making a change of variable  $x \mapsto r$  requiring to divide the integrand by s(x).

$$\int r(x) dx = \int r(x) \left(\frac{dr}{dx}\right)^{-1} dr = \int r(x) \frac{1}{s(x)} dr$$
(A.22)

If we multiply the ramp with its derivative, the step functions cancel out and r(x) can be integrated like a polynomial.

$$\int s(x)r(x) \, \mathrm{d}x = \int r(x) \, \mathrm{d}r = \frac{1}{2}r^2(x) \tag{A.23}$$

Note that the product s(x)r(x) is another ramp function. The multiplication with the step function causes it to converge to 0 faster in the left branch but preserves its linear behavior in the right branch where s(x) approaches unity. This is illustrated in figure A.3a where the ramp-step product is plotted next to the original ramp function for comparison. Only in the vicinity of the origin, where s(0) = 1/2, does multiplication with the step function alter the result significantly. Since the ramp parameter  $\alpha$  directly determines the value of r(0), an adjustment  $\hat{\alpha} = 2\alpha$  can be made to ensure  $r(0) = \hat{s}(0)\hat{r}(0)$ , where  $\hat{s}, \hat{r}$  are the ramp and step functions having the adjusted ramp parameter  $\hat{\alpha}$ . This so adjusted ramp-step product is also plotted figure A.3a.

The base function of  $\hat{s}(x)\hat{r}(x)$  is practically equal to the integral of r(x) for positive x and in the vicinity of the origin and differs only in the rate at which it converges to zero in the left branch. Therefore one can state that integrating r(x), as a very good approximation, amounts to taking its square (multiplied by 1/2) while making the appropriate ramp parameter adjustment:

$$\int r(x) \,\mathrm{d}x \approx \frac{1}{2} \,\hat{r}^2(x) \tag{A.24}$$

This could be referred to as a *polynomial* ramp integral. Figure A.3b shows this integral with



Figure A.3 – (a): Plot of a parabolic ramp function r and the same ramp function multiplied by its step function s. In one case with adjusted ramp parameter  $\alpha$ : ( $\hat{r}$ ,  $\hat{s}$ ) and in the other case without. (b): Ramp function r(x) and its

and without ramp-parameter adjustment.

To understand the role of the step function in this context, it is useful to discuss the asymptotic behavior of the ramp function and its variants. The decay of *r* is proportional to 1/x and that of *s* is  $1/x^2$ , therefore the product  $s \cdot r$  decays as  $1/x^3$ . Integration has the property of enhancing growth rate and alleviating decay. The parabolic ramp function's antiderivative has a decay proportional to  $\log|1/x|$ , which is problematic since it does not converge to a asymptotic limit and is therefore **not** a ramp function. The integral  $\int s \cdot r = r^2$  on the other hand has a  $1/x^2$  decay; this is another reason why the parabolic integration is preferred here. In this sense, one could define a sequence of ramp functions, so to say a poly-ramp function,

where each element  $R_k(x)$  is the polynomial integral of the preceding element  $R_{k-1}(x)$ :

$$R_k(x) = \frac{1}{k!} r_k(x)^k$$
(A.25)

with the property

$$R_k(x) = \int s_k(x) \frac{1}{(k-1)!} r_k(x)^{k-1} dx$$
(A.26)

where  $r_k$  is the usual parabolic ramp function with parameter  $\alpha_k$ 

$$r_k(x) = \frac{1}{2} \left( x + \sqrt{\alpha_k^2 + x^2} \right)$$
(A.27)

and  $s_k$  the associated step function

$$s_k(x) = \frac{\mathrm{d}r_k}{\mathrm{d}x} = \frac{1}{2} \left( 1 + \frac{x}{\sqrt{\alpha_k^2 + x^2}} \right)$$
 (A.28)

89

The main criterion is that the value at x = 0 must be equal in subsequent  $r_k$ 

$$\frac{1}{k!}r_k(0)^k = s_{k+1}(0)\frac{1}{k!}r_{k+1}(0)^k$$
(A.29)

leading to

$$\alpha_{k+1} = \sqrt[k]{2} \alpha_k \tag{A.30}$$

This shows that the here described parabolic ramp function can be indefinitely integrated by polynomial integration and represent quadratic ramps, cubic ramps or ramps of any higher degree.

Another example of a ramp function is the exponential ramp function

$$r_{\exp}(x) = \log(1 + e^x) \tag{A.31}$$

which, contrarily to the parabolic ramp function, exhibits exponential rather than hyperbolic decay in the left branch. The exponential ramp function is identical to  $\mathcal{L}_1(x) = -Li_1(-e^x)$ . Its derivative is known as the logistic function

$$s_{\exp}(x) = \frac{1}{1 + e^{-x}}.$$
 (A.32)

and the higher order  $\mathcal{L}_k$  functions behave much like the parabolic poly-ramp function defined above, and could be referred to as the exponential poly-ramp function.



Figure A.4 – Approximation of  $\eta_F$  as a function of voltage using ramp functions substituted in the reduced segment-wise solutions of the charge-voltage relation (a). Absolute and relative error compared to the numerical solution of  $\eta_F$  (b).

# A.4 Carrier Concentration modeling using ramp and step functions

Ramp functions are particularly useful when square-root expressions limit the domain of a function to only positive values. This is the case for example in the segment-wise solutions (4.20) to the charge voltage relation (4.17). By replacing b = b'v with b'r(v) and -b with b'r(-v) we can express  $\eta_F$  using the reduced solutions of regions I and III:

$$\tilde{\eta}_F(\nu) = \sqrt{a^2 + 2b'r(\nu)} - \sqrt{a^2 + 2b'r(-\nu)}$$
(A.33)

Finally this approach allows to formulate a closed-form approximation of  $(\mathcal{L} \circ \eta_F)(v)$ , by plugging (A.33) into (A.8), resulting in equations (A.34) below. On a graph, the curves of the exact (numerically solved) solution and the approximation using the ramp function are indistinguishable. Instead, the absolute and relative errors are presented in figure A.4.

$$n(v) = N_G \mathcal{L}_2(+\tilde{\eta}_F(v)) \qquad \qquad p(v) = N_G \mathcal{L}_2(-\tilde{\eta}_F(v)) \qquad (A.34 a,b)$$

The value of the ramp parameter  $\alpha$ , is chosen such that the derivative at v = 0 of (A.33) is identical to the slope of  $\eta_F$  (4.20b), which has the value  $b'/(a + \log 4)$  in that point. Note that the value of (4.20b) and its derivative at v = 0 are exact.

$$\alpha = \frac{1}{b'} \left( (a + \log 4)^2 - a^2 \right)$$
(A.35)

While equation (A.34) provides a convenient and accurate representation of the carrier concentrations, it cannot be integrated to a closed-form expression and provides little insight into the nature of carrier concentrations and the current flowing in the transistor from an algebraic point of view. If we substitute the (reduced) asymptotic solutions (4.19) for  $\eta_F$  of the charge-volgate relation (4.10) back into the asymptotic forms (A.15) of  $\mathcal{L}(\eta_F)$  for the corresponding regions, we obtain the results presented in table A.2. The following considerations are made with regard to electrons while for holes Region I and Region III are interchanged.

- **Region I:**  $\mathcal{L}_2(x)$  for large, negative x, behaves like an exponential. We use the reduced solution of  $\tilde{\eta}_F$ , obtained from the parabolic approximation of  $\mathcal{H}_2(x)$ , which is essentially a square-root in terms of v. This is the *minority branch* of the electron concentration.
- **Region II:** Around zero, we use the linearized approximations for  $\mathcal{L}_2$  and  $\mathcal{H}_2$ . Although this does not lead to a very faithful representation of the actual shape of  $\mathcal{L}_2(\eta_F)$ , the values at v = 0 and its derivative, which are most important, are exact. This is the *transition branch* of the carrier concentrations.
- **Region III:** Here, the solution of the parabolic equation, is substituted back into the parabolic approxmation of  $\mathcal{L}_2$ . In terms of v this results in a first-order term b and a square-root term  $a^2 a\sqrt{a^2 + 2b}$ . Note that the square-root term is zero for b = 0. This is the *majority branch* of the electron concentration.

	Region I	Region II	Region III	
	$x \ll 0$	$x \approx 0$	$x \gg 0$	
$\mathcal{L}_2(x)$	e <sup>x</sup>	$x\log 2 + \frac{\pi^2}{12}$	$\frac{1}{2}x^2 + \frac{\pi^2}{6}$	
$\eta_F$	$a-\sqrt{a^2-2b}$	$\frac{b}{a + \log 4}$	$-a + \sqrt{a^2 + 2b}$	
$\mathcal{L}_2(\eta_F)$	$e^{a-\sqrt{a^2-2b}}$	$\frac{b\log 2}{a+\log 4} + \frac{\pi^2}{12}$	$b + a^2 - a\sqrt{a^2 + 2b}$	(A.36 a-c)
$\mathcal{L}_2(-\eta_F)$	$b + a^2 - a\sqrt{a^2 - 2b}$	$\frac{-b\log 2}{a+\log 4} + \frac{\pi^2}{12}$	$e^{-a+\sqrt{a^2+2b}}$	(A.37 a-c)

Table A.2 – Substituting the reduced solutions of the equation  $\mathcal{H}_2(x) = ax - b$  into  $\mathcal{L}(x)$ .

The expressions resulting from the substitutions are particularly relevant in region III for  $\mathcal{L}(\eta_F)$  (electrons) and in region I for  $\mathcal{L}(-\eta_F)$  (holes), where they represent the normalized carrier concentrations for the majority carrier type of the respective region. Due to the squre-root terms the expressions are valid only within the region where they are defined and assume complex values elsewhere. They can, however, be extended to not only be valid over the full range of v but also present an accurate representation for the carrier concentrations in all



Figure A.5 – (a) Normalized electron concentration n approximated using the majority carrier extended asymptotic solution  $n_r$  (A.38), (b) enhanced in the minority carrier branch  $n_{rs}$  through multiplication with the step function (A.18).

regions. Like before, we replace  $\pm b$  with the corresponding parabolic ramp function  $b'(\pm v)$ :

$$n_r(\nu) = N_G \frac{1}{2} \left( -a + \sqrt{a^2 + 2b'r(\nu)} \right)^2$$
(A.38a)

$$p_r(v) = N_G \frac{1}{2} \left( a - \sqrt{a^2 + 2b'r(-v)} \right)^2$$
(A.38b)

The ramp parameter  $\alpha$  is chosen such as to force the function to the exact value at  $\nu = 0$ ,  $n_r(0) = p_r(0) = N_G \mathcal{L}_2(0) = \frac{\pi^2}{12} N_G$ :

$$\alpha = \frac{\left(a + \frac{\pi}{\sqrt{6}}\right)^2 - a^2}{b'} \tag{A.39}$$

The result can be seen in figure A.5a. The region-wise solutions (A.36c) and (A.37a) are 0 for b = 0 and the ramp function r(v) also approaches 0 fast for negative v. Because of this, the ramp-extended parabolic solutions (A.38),  $n_r(v)$ ,  $p_r(v)$ , also tend to 0 in their respective minority branch region. On a linear-scale plot the curves are indistinguishable from the numerically computed carrier densities. On a log-scale plot however, as in figure A.5, a gap in the minority branch region becomes apparent that grows increasingly large as |v| increases. This is because the exact n, p exhibit an exponential decay while  $n_r$ ,  $p_r$  follow a hyperbolic decay. The absolute error is nonetheless very small and, considering that in the corresponding region, the total carrier concentration will be dominated by the respective *other* carrier type, is acceptable for the present intents and purposes.

The fidelity can be further improved by multiplying (A.38) with the step function (A.18), forcing the minority branch even closer to zero as can be seen in figure A.5. The ramp parameter  $\alpha$ 

has to be adjusted in this case and becomes:

$$\alpha = \frac{\left(a + \frac{\pi}{\sqrt{3}}\right)^2 - a^2}{b'}$$
(A.40)

Multiplying with the step function also facilitates integration as has been discussed in section A.3.
## A.5 Current evaluation based on $\eta_F$

Current can be evaluated based directly on the original expression of carrier concentration  $n, p = \mathcal{L}_2(\pm \eta_F)$  via integration by dv. This is, in fact, the more rigorous approach also taken in reference [172]:

$$I_{n,p} \propto \int \mathcal{L}_2(\pm \eta_F) \,\mathrm{d}\nu \tag{A.41}$$

In order to solve this integral we need to make a change of variable  $v \mapsto \eta_F$ . This can be achieved by taking the derivative of the charge-voltage relation (4.17):

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\eta_F}\mathcal{H}_2(\eta_F) = \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\eta_F}\left(a\eta_F - b\right) \tag{A.42}$$

which leads to

$$\mathcal{H}_1(\eta_F) = \frac{a}{a} - \frac{b'}{d\eta_F},\tag{A.43}$$

where  $\mathcal{H}_1(x) = \mathcal{L}_1(x) + \mathcal{L}_1(-x)$  is the derivative of  $\mathcal{H}_2$ . After some manipulation, knowing that a/b' = 1 one obtains

$$d\nu = \left(1 - \frac{1}{b'}\mathcal{H}_1(\eta_F)\right)d\eta_F.$$
(A.44)

The integral can now be rewritten as

$$\int \mathcal{L}_2(\eta_F) \,\mathrm{d}\nu = \int \mathcal{L}_2(\eta_F) \left( 1 - \frac{1}{b'} \mathcal{H}_1(\eta_F) \right) \,\mathrm{d}\eta_F \tag{A.45}$$

which consists of one simple term and one composite term. The former is very straightforward to evaluate

$$\int \mathcal{L}_2(\eta_F) \,\mathrm{d}\eta_F = \mathcal{L}_3(\eta_F) \tag{A.46}$$

while the latter can be solved through integration by parts, knowing that  $\mathcal{L}_1(x) - \mathcal{L}_1(x) = x$  and  $\mathcal{L}_0(x) + \mathcal{L}_0(-x) = 1 \ \forall x$ .

$$\int \mathcal{L}_2(\eta_F) \mathcal{H}_1(\eta_F) \, \mathrm{d}\eta_F = \mathcal{L}_2(\eta_F)^2 - \eta_F \mathcal{L}_3(\eta_F) + \mathcal{L}_4(\eta_F) \tag{A.47}$$

The complete integral is thus

$$\int \mathcal{L}_2(\eta_F) \,\mathrm{d}\nu = \mathcal{L}_3(\eta_F) + \frac{1}{b'} \left( \mathcal{L}_2(\eta_F)^2 - \eta_F \mathcal{L}_3(\eta_F) + \mathcal{L}_4(\eta_F) \right). \tag{A.48}$$

Although the solution comprises  $\mathcal{L}$ -functions of various orders, it is interesting to note that

Appendix A. Device Modeling Supplemental Infor	ormation
--	----------

Drift Current		
rigorous approach $\frac{1}{b'} \left( \mathcal{L}_2(\eta_F)^2 - \eta_F \mathcal{L}_3(\eta_F) + \mathcal{L}_4(\eta_F) \right)$	pseudo-Fermi level $rac{1}{8b'}\eta_n^4$	reference polynomial $\frac{x^4}{4!} = \frac{x^4}{24}$
Diffusion Current		
$\mathcal{L}_3(\eta_F)$	$rac{1}{6}\eta_n^3$	$\frac{x^3}{3!} = \frac{x^3}{6}$

Table A.3 – Comparison of 3rd and 4th order terms corresponding to electron diffusion and drift current, respectively, as obtained by integration of the  $\eta_F$  (left column) and  $\eta_n$  (center column) -based expressions for carrier concentration. The right column provides a standard polynomial for reference.

all three terms in (A.47) have a 4th-order polynomial character, while (A.46) obviously has 3rd order behavior in the polynomial branch. Comparing equations (A.46)–(A.48) with the definitions of the current components in section 4.5, it becomes clear that (A.46) and (A.47) represent diffusion and drift current respectively. In fact, equations (A.46)–(A.48) quite directly correspond to (4.41)–(4.43) in section 4.5.3. A comparison of the relevant terms is given in table A.3 illustrates the resemblance.

The coefficient 1/6 in the diffusion term is straightforward, and naturally comes with twofold integration as illustrated by the reference polynomial. In the drift term, a factor 1/b' is consistently present but the expected coefficient of a generic 4th order term is 1/24 contrasting with the coefficient of 1/8 in the center column. However, since there are, in fact, three 4th order terms in the left column, the coefficient can be explained with a multiplication by  $3 \times 1/24 = 1/8$ . This considerations confirm that there is a strong qualitative equivalence in the two integration approaches based on  $\eta_F$  and on  $\eta_{n,p}$ .

We can use this equivalence to cross-check the results obtained in section 4.5.3 and to evaluate the quantitative error induced by the approximations that were made. By solving the charge-voltage relation (4.17) numerically for  $\eta_F$  and plugging the result into (A.48) we obtain an exact reference against which to compare our model. We can also use (A.46) and (A.47) to evaluated at  $\eta_F = 0$  in order to determine the appropriate ramp parameter for the parabolic ramp approximation of  $b_n$  and  $b_p$ .

Equating  $\mathcal{L}_k(\eta_F) = \eta_n^k / k!$  at the origin where both  $\nu$  and  $\eta_F$  are zero,

$$\mathcal{L}_{k}(0) = \frac{1}{k!} \left( a - \sqrt{a^{2} + 2b'r(0)} \right)^{k}$$
(A.49)

given that  $r(0) = \frac{1}{2}\alpha$  leads to

$$\alpha = \frac{1}{b'} \left( \left( \mathbf{a} + \sqrt[k]{\mathcal{L}_k(0)} \right)^2 - \mathbf{a}^2 \right)$$
(A.50)

96

where  $\mathcal{L}_k(0)$  can be evaluated using the Riemann zeta function  $\mathcal{L}_k(0) = (1 - 2^{1-k})\zeta(k)$ . For the ramp adjustment of for the more intricate expression (A.47) we have

$$\left(\mathcal{L}_{2}(\eta_{F})^{2} - \eta_{F}\mathcal{L}_{3}(\eta_{F}) + \mathcal{L}_{4}(\eta_{F})\right)\Big|_{\eta_{F}=0} = \frac{\pi^{4}}{60}$$
(A.51)

thus the corresponding ramp parameter is

$$\alpha = \frac{1}{b'} \left( \left( a + \sqrt[4]{\pi^2 / 15} \right)^2 - a^2 \right).$$
(A.52)

The adjusted ramp parameter helps mitigate numerical error at and in the vicinity of the Dirac point in particular.

## Bibliography

- K. S. Novoselov, a. K. Geim, S. V. Morozov, D. Jiang, Y. Zhang, S. V. Dubonos, I. V. Grigorieva, and a. a. Firsov, "Electric field effect in atomically thin carbon films." *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, vol. 306, no. 5696, pp. 666–9, oct 2004. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15499015
- [2] P. R. Wallace, "The Band Theory of Graphite," *Physical Review*, vol. 71, no. 9, pp. 622–634, may 1947. [Online]. Available: http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRev.71.622
- [3] J. W. McClure, "Diamagnetism of Graphite," *Physical Review*, vol. 104, no. 3, pp. 666–671, nov 1956. [Online]. Available: http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRev.104.666
- [4] J. C. Slonczewski and P. R. Weiss, "Band Structure of Graphite," *Physical Review*, vol. 109, no. 2, pp. 272–279, jan 1958. [Online]. Available: http://journals.aps.org/pr/abstract/10.1103/PhysRev.104.666http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRev.104.666http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRev.109.272
- [5] H. P. Boehm, R. Setton, and E. Stumpp, "Nomenclature and terminology of graphite intercalation compounds (IUPAC Recommendations 1994)," *Pure and Applied Chemistry*, vol. 66, no. 9, pp. 1893–1901, 1994. [Online]. Available: http://www.degruyter. com/view/j/pac.1994.66.issue-9/pac199466091893/pac199466091893.xml
- [6] N. D. Mermin, "Crystalline Order in Two Dimensions," *Physical Review*, vol. 176, no. 1, pp. 250–254, dec 1968. [Online]. Available: http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRev.176.250
- [7] J. C. Meyer, A. K. Geim, M. I. Katsnelson, K. S. Novoselov, T. J. Booth, and S. Roth, "The structure of suspended graphene sheets," *Nature*, vol. 446, no. 7131, pp. 60–63, mar 2007. [Online]. Available: http://www.nature.com/doifinder/10.1038/nature05545
- [8] C. Lee, X. Wei, J. W. Kysar, and J. Hone, "Measurement of the Elastic Properties and Intrinsic Strength of Monolayer Graphene," *Science*, vol. 321, no. 5887, pp. 385–388, jul 2008. [Online]. Available: www.sciencemag.org/cgi/content/full/321/5887/382/ DC1http://www.sciencemag.org/cgi/doi/10.1126/science.1157996
- [9] A. H. Castro Neto, F. Guinea, N. M. R. Peres, K. S. Novoselov, and A. K. Geim, "The electronic properties of graphene," *Reviews of Modern Physics*, vol. 81, no. 1, pp. 109–162, jan 2009. [Online]. Available: http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/RevModPhys.81.109

- [10] K. S. Novoselov, A. K. Geim, S. V. Morozov, D. Jiang, M. I. Katsnelson, I. V. Grigorieva, S. V. Dubonos, and a. a. Firsov, "Two-dimensional gas of massless Dirac fermions in graphene." *Nature*, vol. 438, no. 7065, pp. 197–200, nov 2005. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16281030
- [11] G. W. Semenoff, "Condensed-Matter Simulation of a Three-Dimensional Anomaly," *Physical Review Letters*, vol. 53, no. 26, pp. 2449–2452, dec 1984. [Online]. Available: http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.53.2449
- [12] F. Schwierz, J. Pezoldt, and R. Granzner, "Two-dimensional materials and their prospects in transistor electronics," *Nanoscale*, vol. 7, no. 18, pp. 8261–8283, 2015.
   [Online]. Available: http://xlink.rsc.org/?DOI=C5NR01052G
- K. Kim, J.-Y. Choi, T. Kim, S.-H. Cho, and H.-J. Chung, "A role for graphene in silicon-based semiconductor devices." *Nature*, vol. 479, no. 7373, pp. 338–44, nov 2011.
   [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22094694
- M. Lemme, T. Echtermeyer, M. Baus, B. Szafranek, J. Bolten, M. Schmidt, T. Wahlbrink, and H. Kurz, "Mobility in graphene double gate field effect transistors," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 52, no. 4, pp. 514–518, apr 2008. [Online]. Available: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0038110107003929
- [15] K. Bolotin, K. Sikes, Z. Jiang, M. Klima, G. Fudenberg, J. Hone, P. Kim, and H. Stormer, "Ultrahigh electron mobility in suspended graphene," *Solid State Communications*, vol. 146, no. 9-10, pp. 351–355, jun 2008. [Online]. Available: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0038109808001178
- [16] I. Meric, C. Dean, A. Young, J. Hone, P. Kim, and K. L. Shepard, "Graphene field-effect transistors based on boron nitride gate dielectrics," in *IEDM Proceedings*, 2010, pp. 556–559. [Online]. Available: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/xpls/abs{\_}all.jsp?arnumber= 5703419
- [17] C. R. Dean, a. F. Young, I. Meric, C. Lee, L. Wang, S. Sorgenfrei, K. Watanabe, T. Taniguchi, P. Kim, K. L. Shepard, and J. Hone, "Boron nitride substrates for high-quality graphene electronics." *Nature nanotechnology*, vol. 5, no. 10, pp. 722–6, oct 2010. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20729834
- [18] Y. Lin, C. Dimitrakopoulos, K. A. Jenkins, D. B. Farmer, H. Chiu, A. Grill, and P. Avouris, "100-GHz Transistors from Wafer-Scale Epitaxial Graphene," *Science*, vol. 327, p. 662, 2010.
- [19] E. V. Castro, H. Ochoa, M. I. Katsnelson, R. V. Gorbachev, D. C. Elias, K. S. Novoselov,
   A. K. Geim, and F. Guinea, "Limits on Charge Carrier Mobility in Suspended Graphene due to Flexural Phonons," *Physical Review Letters*, vol. 105, no. 26, p. 266601, dec 2010.
   [Online]. Available: http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.105.266601

- [20] P. J. Zomer, S. P. Dash, N. Tombros, and B. J. van Wees, "A transfer technique for high mobility graphene devices on commercially available hexagonal boron nitride," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 99, no. 23, p. 232104, 2011. [Online]. Available: http://link.aip.org/link/APPLAB/v99/i23/p232104/s1{&}Agg=doi
- [21] A. S. Mayorov, R. V. Gorbachev, S. V. Morozov, L. Britnell, R. Jalil, L. A. Ponomarenko, P. Blake, K. S. Novoselov, K. Watanabe, T. Taniguchi, and A. K. Geim, "Micrometer-Scale Ballistic Transport in Encapsulated Graphene at Room Temperature," *Nano Letters*, vol. 11, no. 6, pp. 2396–2399, jun 2011. [Online]. Available: http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/nl200758b
- [22] M. E. Ramón, K. N. Parrish, J. Lee, C. W. Magnuson, L. Tao, R. S. Ruoff, S. K. Banerjee, and D. Akinwande, "Graphene Frequency Doubler with Record 3GHz Bandwidth and the Maximum Conversion Gain Prospects," in *Microwave Symposium Digest (MTT)*. Montréal: IEEE MTT-S International, 2012, pp. 9–11.
  [Online]. Available: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/stamp/stamp.jsp?tp={&}arnumber= 6259401{&}isnumber=6257755
- [23] Z. Guo, R. Dong, P. S. Chakraborty, N. Lourenco, J. Palmer, Y. Hu, M. Ruan, J. Hankinson, J. Kunc, J. D. Cressler, C. Berger, and W. a. de Heer, "Record Maximum Oscillation Frequency in C-Face Epitaxial Graphene Transistors." *Nano letters*, feb 2013. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23418924
- [24] J. H. Chen, C. Jang, M. Ishigami, S. Xiao, W. G. Cullen, E. D. Williams, and M. S. Fuhrer, "Diffusive charge transport in graphene on SiO2," *Solid State Communications*, vol. 149, no. 27-28, pp. 1080–1086, 2009.
- [25] M. S. Fuhrer, C. N. Lau, and A. H. MacDonald, "Graphene: Materially Better Carbon," MRS Bulletin, vol. 35, no. 04, pp. 289–295, 2010. [Online]. Available: http://journals. cambridge.org/abstract{\_}S0883769400000518\$\delimiter"026E3B2\$npapers2: //publication/uuid/2F24BFA5-AAD9-46C9-8911-98E741BC9B10
- [26] J. Tworzydło, B. Trauzettel, M. Titov, A. Rycerz, and C. W. J. Beenakker, "Sub-Poissonian Shot Noise in Graphene," *Physical Review Letters*, vol. 96, no. 24, p. 246802, jun 2006.
   [Online]. Available: http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.96.246802
- [27] Y. Wu, V. Perebeinos, Y.-m. Lin, T. Low, F. Xia, and P. Avouris, "Quantum behavior of graphene transistors near the scaling limit." *Nano letters*, vol. 12, no. 3, pp. 1417–23, mar 2012. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22316333
- [28] V. M. Pereira, A. H. Castro Neto, and N. M. R. Peres, "Tight-binding approach to uniaxial strain in graphene," *Physical Review B*, vol. 80, no. 4, p. 045401, jul 2009. [Online]. Available: http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevB.80.045401
- [29] W. a. de Heer, C. Berger, X. Wu, P. N. First, E. H. Conrad, X. Li, T. Li, M. Sprinkle, J. Hass, M. L. Sadowski, M. Potemski, and G. Martinez, "Epitaxial graphene," *Solid*

*State Communications*, vol. 143, no. 1-2, pp. 92–100, jul 2007. [Online]. Available: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0038109807002980

- [30] S. Bae, H. Kim, Y. Lee, X. Xu, J.-S. Park, Y. Zheng, J. Balakrishnan, T. Lei, H. R. Kim, Y. I. Song, Y.-J. Kim, K. S. Kim, B. Ozyilmaz, J.-H. Ahn, B. H. Hong, and S. Iijima, "Roll-to-roll production of 30-inch graphene films for transparent electrodes." *Nature nanotechnology*, vol. 5, no. 8, pp. 574–8, aug 2010. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20562870
- [31] X. Li, W. Cai, J. An, S. Kim, J. Nah, D. Yang, R. Piner, A. Velamakanni, I. Jung, E. Tutuc, S. K. Banerjee, L. Colombo, and R. S. Ruoff, "Large-area synthesis of high-quality and uniform graphene films on copper foils." *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, vol. 324, no. 5932, pp. 1312–4, jun 2009. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19423775
- [32] V. Nicolosi, M. Chhowalla, M. G. Kanatzidis, M. S. Strano, and J. N. Coleman, "Liquid Exfoliation of Layered Materials," *Science*, vol. 340, no. 6139, pp. 1 226 419–1 226 419, jun 2013. [Online]. Available: http://www.sciencemag.org/cgi/doi/10.1126/science.1226419
- [33] P. Miró, M. Audiffred, and T. Heine, "An atlas of two-dimensional materials," *Chemical Society Reviews*, vol. 43, no. 18, p. 6537, may 2014. [Online]. Available: http://xlink.rsc.org/?DOI=C4CS00102H
- [34] P. Vogt, P. De Padova, C. Quaresima, J. Avila, E. Frantzeskakis, M. C. Asensio, A. Resta, B. Ealet, and G. Le Lay, "Silicene: Compelling Experimental Evidence for Graphenelike Two-Dimensional Silicon," *Physical Review Letters*, vol. 108, no. 15, p. 155501, apr 2012.
  [Online]. Available: http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.108.155501
- [35] M. E. Dávila, L. Xian, S. Cahangirov, A. Rubio, and G. Le Lay, "Germanene: a novel two-dimensional germanium allotrope akin to graphene and silicene," *New Journal of Physics*, vol. 16, no. 9, p. 095002, sep 2014. [Online]. Available: http://iopscience.iop.org/1367-2630/16/9/095002
- [36] L. Li, Y. Yu, G. J. Ye, Q. Ge, X. Ou, H. Wu, D. Feng, X. H. Chen, and Y. Zhang, "Black phosphorus field-effect transistors," *Nature Nanotechnology*, vol. 9, no. 5, pp. 372–377, mar 2014. [Online]. Available: http://www.nature.com/doifinder/10.1038/nnano.2014. 35
- [37] B. van den Broek, M. Houssa, E. Scalise, G. Pourtois, V. V. Afanas'ev, and A. Stesmans, "Two-dimensional hexagonal tin: ab initio geometry, stability, electronic structure and functionalization," *2D Materials*, vol. 1, no. 2, p. 021004, aug 2014.
  [Online]. Available: http://iopscience.iop.org/2053-1583/1/2/021004http://stacks.iop. org/2053-1583/1/i=2/a=021004?key=crossref.e0fbc109518ea606b794dbc3dd935d7d
- [38] F.-F. Zhu, W.-J. Chen, Y. Xu, C.-L. Gao, D.-D. Guan, C.-H. Liu, D. Qian, S.-C. Zhang, and J.-F. Jia, "Epitaxial growth of two-dimensional stanene," *Nature Materials*, vol. 14, no. 10, pp. 1020–1025, aug 2015. [Online]. Available: http: //www.nature.com/doifinder/10.1038/nmat4384

- [39] S. Balendhran, S. Walia, H. Nili, S. Sriram, and M. Bhaskaran, "Elemental Analogues of Graphene: Silicene, Germanene, Stanene, and Phosphorene," *Small*, vol. 11, no. 6, pp. 640–652, feb 2015. [Online]. Available: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/smll.201402041
- [40] H. Liu, A. T. Neal, Z. Zhu, Z. Luo, X. Xu, D. Tománek, and P. D. Ye, "Phosphorene: An Unexplored 2D Semiconductor with a High Hole Mobility," ACS Nano, vol. 8, no. 4, pp. 4033–4041, apr 2014. [Online]. Available: http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/ nn501226z
- [41] J. B. Oostinga, H. B. Heersche, X. Liu, A. F. Morpurgo, and L. M. K. Vandersypen, "Gate-induced insulating state in bilayer graphene devices," *Nature Materials*, vol. 7, no. 2, pp. 151–157, feb 2008. [Online]. Available: http://www.nature.com/doifinder/10. 1038/nmat2082
- [42] E. McCann and M. Koshino, "The electronic properties of bilayer graphene," *Reports on Progress in Physics*, vol. 76, no. 5, p. 056503, may 2013. [Online]. Available: http://iopscience.iop.org/0034-4885/76/5/056503http://stacks.iop.org/ 0034-4885/76/i=5/a=056503?key=crossref.6a3656d8cfaa49d8d3198478b811a75b
- [43] E. V. Castro, K. S. Novoselov, S. V. Morozov, N. M. R. Peres, J. M. B. L. dos Santos, J. Nilsson, F. Guinea, A. K. Geim, and A. H. C. Neto, "Biased Bilayer Graphene: Semiconductor with a Gap Tunable by the Electric Field Effect," *Physical Review Letters*, vol. 99, no. 21, p. 216802, nov 2007. [Online]. Available: http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.99.216802
- [44] Y. Zhang, T.-T. Tang, C. Girit, Z. Hao, M. C. Martin, A. Zettl, M. F. Crommie, Y. R. Shen, and F. Wang, "Direct observation of a widely tunable bandgap in bilayer graphene," *Nature*, vol. 459, no. 7248, pp. 820–823, jun 2009. [Online]. Available: http://www.nature.com/doifinder/10.1038/nature08105
- [45] B. Skinner, B. I. Shklovskii, and M. B. Voloshin, "Bound state energy of a Coulomb impurity in gapped bilayer graphene," *Physical Review B*, vol. 89, no. 4, p. 041405, jan 2014. [Online]. Available: http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevB.89.041405
- [46] W. Fang, A. L. Hsu, Y. Song, and J. Kong, "A review of large-area bilayer graphene synthesis by chemical vapor deposition," *Nanoscale*, vol. 7, no. 48, pp. 20335–20351, 2015. [Online]. Available: http://xlink.rsc.org/?DOI=C5NR04756K
- [47] B. Radisavljevic, a. Radenovic, J. Brivio, V. Giacometti, and a. Kis, "Single-layer MoS2 transistors." *Nature nanotechnology*, vol. 6, no. 3, pp. 147–50, mar 2011. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21278752
- [48] Y.-H. Lee, X.-Q. Zhang, W. Zhang, M.-T. Chang, C.-T. Lin, K.-D. Chang, Y.-C. Yu, J. T.-W. Wang, C.-S. Chang, L.-J. Li, and T.-W. Lin, "Synthesis of Large-Area MoS 2 Atomic Layers with Chemical Vapor Deposition," *Advanced Materials*, vol. 24, no. 17, pp. 2320–2325, may 2012. [Online]. Available: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/adma.201104798

- [49] S. Najmaei, Z. Liu, W. Zhou, X. Zou, G. Shi, S. Lei, B. I. Yakobson, J.-C. Idrobo, P. M. Ajayan, and J. Lou, "Vapour phase growth and grain boundary structure of molybdenum disulphide atomic layers," *Nature Materials*, vol. 12, no. 8, pp. 754–759, jun 2013. [Online]. Available: http://www.nature.com/doifinder/10.1038/nmat3673
- [50] A. M. van der Zande, P. Y. Huang, D. A. Chenet, T. C. Berkelbach, Y. You, G.-H. Lee, T. F. Heinz, D. R. Reichman, D. A. Muller, and J. C. Hone, "Grains and grain boundaries in highly crystalline monolayer molybdenum disulphide," *Nature Materials*, vol. 12, no. 6, pp. 554–561, may 2013. [Online]. Available: http://www.nature.com/doifinder/10.1038/nmat3633
- [51] J. N. Coleman, M. Lotya, A. O'Neill, S. D. Bergin, P. J. King, U. Khan, K. Young, A. Gaucher, S. De, R. J. Smith, I. V. Shvets, S. K. Arora, G. Stanton, H.-Y. Kim, K. Lee, G. T. Kim, G. S. Duesberg, T. Hallam, J. J. Boland, J. J. Wang, J. F. Donegan, J. C. Grunlan, G. Moriarty, A. Shmeliov, R. J. Nicholls, J. M. Perkins, E. M. Grieveson, K. Theuwissen, D. W. McComb, P. D. Nellist, and V. Nicolosi, "Two-Dimensional Nanosheets Produced by Liquid Exfoliation of Layered Materials," *Science*, vol. 331, no. 6017, pp. 568–571, feb 2011. [Online]. Available: http://www.sciencemag.org/cgi/doi/10.1126/science.1194975
- [52] K. F. Mak, C. Lee, J. Hone, J. Shan, and T. F. Heinz, "Atomically Thin <math display="inline"> <msub> <mi>MoS</mi> <mn>2</mn> </msub> </math>: A New Direct-Gap Semiconductor," *Physical Review Letters*, vol. 105, no. 13, p. 136805, sep 2010. [Online]. Available: http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.105.136805
- [53] O. Lopez-Sanchez, D. Lembke, M. Kayci, A. Radenovic, and A. Kis, "Ultrasensitive photodetectors based on monolayer MoS2," *Nature Nanotechnology*, vol. 8, no. 7, pp. 497–501, jun 2013. [Online]. Available: http://www.nature.com/doifinder/10.1038/ nnano.2013.100
- [54] Q. H. Wang, K. Kalantar-Zadeh, A. Kis, J. N. Coleman, and M. S. Strano, "Electronics and optoelectronics of two-dimensional transition metal dichalcogenides," *Nature Nanotechnology*, vol. 7, no. 11, pp. 699–712, nov 2012. [Online]. Available: http://www.nature.com/doifinder/10.1038/nnano.2012.193
- [55] L. Liu, S. B. Kumar, Y. Ouyang, and J. Guo, "Performance Limits of Monolayer Transition Metal Dichalcogenide Transistors," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 58, no. 9, pp. 3042–3047, sep 2011. [Online]. Available: http: //ieeexplore.ieee.org/lpdocs/epic03/wrapper.htm?arnumber=5959195
- [56] J.-H. Chen, C. Jang, S. Adam, M. S. Fuhrer, E. D. Williams, and M. Ishigami, "Charged-impurity scattering in graphene," *Nature Physics*, vol. 4, no. 5, pp. 377–381, apr 2008. [Online]. Available: http://www.nature.com/doifinder/10.1038/nphys935
- [57] J.-H. Chen, C. Jang, S. Xiao, M. Ishigami, and M. S. Fuhrer, "Intrinsic and extrinsic performance limits of graphene devices on SiO2." *Nature nanotechnology*, vol. 3,

no. 4, pp. 206–9, apr 2008. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/ 18654504

- [58] C. R. Dean, a. F. Young, I. Meric, C. Lee, L. Wang, S. Sorgenfrei, K. Watanabe, T. Taniguchi, P. Kim, K. L. Shepard, and J. Hone, "Boron nitride substrates for high-quality graphene electronics." *Nature nanotechnology*, vol. 5, no. 10, pp. 722–6, oct 2010. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20729834
- [59] R. Decker, Y. Wang, V. W. Brar, W. Regan, H.-Z. Tsai, Q. Wu, W. Gannett, A. Zettl, and M. F. Crommie, "Local Electronic Properties of Graphene on a BN Substrate via Scanning Tunneling Microscopy," *Nano Letters*, vol. 11, no. 6, pp. 2291–2295, jun 2011. [Online]. Available: http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/nl2005115
- [60] A. Pakdel, Y. Bando, and D. Golberg, "Nano boron nitride flatland," *Chem. Soc. Rev.*, vol. 43, no. 3, pp. 934–959, 2014. [Online]. Available: http://xlink.rsc.org/?DOI=C3CS60260E
- [61] N. G. Chopra, R. J. Luyken, K. Cherrey, V. H. Crespi, M. L. Cohen, S. G. Louie, and A. Zettl,
   "Boron Nitride Nanotubes," *Science*, vol. 269, no. 5226, pp. 966–967, aug 1995. [Online].
   Available: http://www.sciencemag.org/cgi/doi/10.1126/science.269.5226.966
- [62] O. Stéphan, Y. Bando, A. Loiseau, F. Willaime, N. Shramchenko, T. Tamiya, and T. Sato, "Formation of small single-layer and nested BN cages under electron irradiation of nanotubes and bulk material," *Applied Physics A: Materials Science & Processing*, vol. 67, no. 1, pp. 107–111, jul 1998. [Online]. Available: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s003390050745
- [63] D. Golberg, Y. Bando, O. Stéphan, and K. Kurashima, "Octahedral boron nitride fullerenes formed by electron beam irradiation," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 73, no. 17, p. 2441, 1998. [Online]. Available: http://scitation.aip.org/content/aip/journal/apl/73/ 17/10.1063/1.122475
- [64] S. Iijima, "Helical microtubules of graphitic carbon," *Nature*, vol. 354, no. 6348, pp. 56–58, nov 1991. [Online]. Available: http://www.nature.com/doifinder/10.1038/354056a0
- [65] L. Pauling, "The Structure and Properties of Graphite and Boron Nitride," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, vol. 56, no. 6, pp. 1646–1652, dec 1966. [Online]. Available: http://www.pnas.org/cgi/doi/10.1073/pnas.56.6.1646
- [66] R. S. Pease, "Crystal Structure of Boron Nitride," *Nature*, vol. 165, no. 4201, pp. 722–723, may 1950. [Online]. Available: http://www.nature.com/doifinder/10.1038/165722b0
- [67] G. Constantinescu, A. Kuc, and T. Heine, "Stacking in Bulk and Bilayer Hexagonal Boron Nitride," *Physical Review Letters*, vol. 111, no. 3, p. 036104, jul 2013. [Online]. Available: http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.111.036104

- [68] G. Cassabois, P. Valvin, and B. Gil, "Hexagonal boron nitride is an indirect bandgap semiconductor," *Nature Photonics*, vol. 10, no. 4, pp. 262–266, jan 2016. [Online]. Available: http://www.nature.com/doifinder/10.1038/nphoton.2015.277
- [69] W.-Q. Han, L. Wu, Y. Zhu, K. Watanabe, and T. Taniguchi, "Structure of chemically derived mono- and few-atomic-layer boron nitride sheets," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 93, no. 22, p. 223103, 2008. [Online]. Available: http://dx.doi.org/10.1063/1. 3041639http://scitation.aip.org/content/aip/journal/apl/93/22/10.1063/1.3041639
- [70] J. H. Warner, M. H. Rümmeli, A. Bachmatiuk, and B. Büchner, "Atomic Resolution Imaging and Topography of Boron Nitride Sheets Produced by Chemical Exfoliation," *ACS Nano*, vol. 4, no. 3, pp. 1299–1304, mar 2010. [Online]. Available: http: //pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/nn901648q
- [71] K. K. Kim, A. Hsu, X. Jia, S. M. Kim, Y. Shi, M. Hofmann, D. Nezich, J. F. Rodriguez-Nieva, M. Dresselhaus, T. Palacios, and J. Kong, "Synthesis of Monolayer Hexagonal Boron Nitride on Cu Foil Using Chemical Vapor Deposition," *Nano Letters*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 161–166, jan 2012. [Online]. Available: http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/nl203249a
- [72] H. Fang, S. Chuang, T. C. Chang, K. Takei, T. Takahashi, and A. Javey, "High-Performance Single Layered WSe 2 p-FETs with Chemically Doped Contacts," *Nano Letters*, vol. 12, no. 7, pp. 3788–3792, jul 2012. [Online]. Available: http: //pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/nl301702r
- [73] X. Li, X. Wang, L. Zhang, S. Lee, and H. Dai, "Chemically derived, ultrasmooth graphene nanoribbon semiconductors." *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, vol. 319, no. 5867, pp. 1229–32, feb 2008. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18218865
- [74] X. Wang, Y. Ouyang, X. Li, H. Wang, J. Guo, and H. Dai, "Room-Temperature All-Semiconducting Sub-10-nm Graphene Nanoribbon Field-Effect Transistors," *Physical Review Letters*, vol. 100, no. 20, p. 206803, may 2008. [Online]. Available: http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.100.206803
- [75] J. Wang, R. Zhao, M. Yang, Z. Liu, and Z. Liu, "Inverse relationship between carrier mobility and bandgap in graphene," *The Journal of Chemical Physics*, vol. 138, no. 8, p. 084701, 2013. [Online]. Available: http://dx.doi.org/10.1063/1.4792142http: //scitation.aip.org/content/aip/journal/jcp/138/8/10.1063/1.4792142
- [76] Z. Ni, Q. Liu, K. Tang, J. Zheng, J. Zhou, R. Qin, Z. Gao, D. Yu, and J. Lu, "Tunable Bandgap in Silicene and Germanene," *Nano Letters*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 113–118, jan 2012.
   [Online]. Available: http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/nl203065e
- [77] X.-S. Ye, Z.-G. Shao, H. Zhao, L. Yang, and C.-L. Wang, "Intrinsic carrier mobility of germanene is larger than graphene's: first-principle calculations," *RSCAdv.*, vol. 4, no. 41, pp. 21 216–21 220, 2014. [Online]. Available: http://xlink.rsc.org/?DOI=C4RA01802H

- [78] Kinam Kim, "From the future Si technology perspective: Challenges and opportunities," in 2010 International Electron Devices Meeting. IEEE, dec 2010, pp. 1.1.1–1.1.9. [Online]. Available: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/lpdocs/epic03/wrapper.htm?arnumber=5703274
- [79] V. V. Deshpande, V. Djara, D. Caimi, E. O'Connor, M. Sousa, L. Czornomaz, and J. Fompeyrine, "(Invited) Material and Device Integration for Hybrid III-V/SiGe CMOS Technology," *ECS Transactions*, vol. 69, no. 10, pp. 131–142, oct 2015. [Online]. Available: http://ecst.ecsdl.org/cgi/doi/10.1149/06910.0131ecst
- [80] S. Takagi, R. Zhang, J. Suh, S.-H. Kim, M. Yokoyama, K. Nishi, and M. Takenaka, "III–V/Ge channel MOS device technologies in nano CMOS era," *Japanese Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 54, no. 6S1, p. 06FA01, jun 2015. [Online]. Available: http://iopscience.iop.org/1347-4065/54/6S1/06FA01http://stacks.iop.org/ 1347-4065/54/i=6S1/a=06FA01?key=crossref.1876108009148cf72a4378af07e3f105
- [81] S. Yadav, K.-H. Tan, Annie, K. H. Goh, S. Subramanian, K. L. Low, N. Chen, B. Jia, S.-F. Yoon, G. Liang, X. Gong, and Y.-C. Yeo, "First monolithic integration of Ge P-FETs and InAs N-FETs on silicon substrate: Sub-120 nm III-V buffer, sub-5 nm ultra-thin body, common raised S/D, and gate stack modules," in 2015 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM). IEEE, dec 2015, pp. 2.3.1–2.3.4. [Online]. Available: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/lpdocs/epic03/wrapper.htm?arnumber=7409612
- [82] F. Schwierz, "Graphene transistors." *Nature nanotechnology*, vol. 5, no. 7, pp. 487–96, jul 2010. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20512128
- [83] J. P. Llinas, A. Fairbrother, G. Barin, P. Ruffieux, W. Shi, K. Lee, B. Y. Choi, R. Braganza, N. Kau, W. Choi, C. Chen, Z. Pedramrazi, T. Dumslaff, A. Narita, X. Feng, K. Müllen, F. Fischer, A. Zettl, M. Crommie, R. Fasel, and J. Bokor, "Short-Channel Field Effect Transistors with 9-Atom and 13-Atom wide Graphene Nanoribbons," may 2016. [Online]. Available: http://arxiv.org/abs/1605.06730
- [84] F. Xia, D. B. Farmer, Y.-M. Lin, and P. Avouris, "Graphene Field-Effect Transistors with High On/Off Current Ratio and Large Transport Band Gap at Room Temperature," *Nano Letters*, vol. 10, no. 2, pp. 715–718, feb 2010. [Online]. Available: http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/nl9039636
- [85] M. Han, B. Özyilmaz, Y. Zhang, and P. Kim, "Energy Band-Gap Engineering of Graphene Nanoribbons," *Physical Review Letters*, vol. 98, no. 20, pp. 1–4, may 2007. [Online]. Available: http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.98.206805
- [86] F. Sols, F. Guinea, and A. Neto, "Coulomb Blockade in Graphene Nanoribbons," *Physical Review Letters*, vol. 99, no. 16, pp. 25–27, oct 2007. [Online]. Available: http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.99.166803
- [87] M. Bresciani, P. Palestri, D. Esseni, and L. Selmi, "Simple and efficient modeling of the E–k relationship and low-field mobility in Graphene Nano-Ribbons," *Solid*-

*State Electronics*, vol. 54, no. 9, pp. 1015–1021, sep 2010. [Online]. Available: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0038110110001553

- [88] F. Schwierz and J. J. Liou, "RF transistors: Recent developments and roadmap toward terahertz applications," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 51, no. 8, pp. 1079–1091, aug 2007.
   [Online]. Available: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0038110107001803
- [89] F. Schwierz, "Electronics: Industry-compatible graphene transistors," *Nature*, vol. 472, no. 7341, pp. 41–42, apr 2011. [Online]. Available: http://www.nature.com/doifinder/10. 1038/472041a
- [90] Y.-M. Lin, A. Valdes-Garcia, S.-J. Han, D. B. Farmer, I. Meric, Y. Sun, Y. Wu, C. Dimitrakopoulos, A. Grill, P. Avouris, and K. A. Jenkins, "Wafer-scale graphene integrated circuit." *Science*, vol. 332, no. 6035, pp. 1294–7, jun 2011. [Online]. Available: http://science.sciencemag.org/content/332/6035/1294
- [91] L. Liao, J. Bai, R. Cheng, Y.-C. Lin, S. Jiang, Y. Qu, Y. Huang, and X. Duan, "Sub-100 nm channel length graphene transistors." *Nano letters*, vol. 10, no. 10, pp. 3952–6, oct 2010. [Online]. Available: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid= 2964282{&}tool=pmcentrez{&}rendertype=abstract
- [92] R. Cheng, J. Bai, L. Liao, H. Zhou, Y. Chen, L. Liu, Y.-c. Lin, S. Jiang, Y. Huang, and X. Duan, "High-frequency self-aligned graphene transistors with transferred gate stacks." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 109, no. 29, pp. 11588–92, jul 2012. [Online]. Available: http://www.pnas.org/content/109/29/11588.shorthttp://www.pubmedcentral. nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3406869{&}tool=pmcentrez{&}rendertype=abstract
- Y. Wu, K. a. Jenkins, A. Valdes-Garcia, D. B. Farmer, Y. Zhu, A. a. Bol, C. Dimitrakopoulos, W. Zhu, F. Xia, P. Avouris, and Y.-M. Lin, "State-of-the-Art Graphene High-Frequency Electronics." *Nano letters*, vol. 12, no. 6, pp. 3062–7, jun 2012. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22563820
- [94] N. Petrone, I. Meric, T. Chari, K. L. Shepard, and J. Hone, "Graphene Field-Effect Transistors for Radio-Frequency Flexible Electronics," *IEEE Journal of the Electron Devices Society*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 44–48, jan 2015. [Online]. Available: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/lpdocs/epic03/wrapper.htm?arnumber=6926743
- [95] W. S. Leong, H. Gong, and J. T. L. Thong, "Low-Contact-Resistance Graphene Devices with Nickel-Etched-Graphene Contacts," ACS Nano, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 994–1001, jan 2014.
   [Online]. Available: http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/nn405834b
- [96] J. S. Moon, M. Antcliffe, H. C. Seo, D. Curtis, S. Lin, A. Schmitz, I. Milosavljevic, A. A. Kiselev, R. S. Ross, D. K. Gaskill, P. M. Campbell, R. C. Fitch, K.-M. Lee, and P. Asbeck, "Ultra-low resistance ohmic contacts in graphene field effect transistors," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 100, no. 20, p. 203512, 2012. [Online]. Available: http://scitation.aip.org/content/aip/journal/apl/100/20/10.1063/1.4719579

- [97] S.-J. Han, A. V. Garcia, S. Oida, K. A. Jenkins, and W. Haensch, "Graphene radio frequency receiver integrated circuit," *Nature Communications*, vol. 5, jan 2014. [Online]. Available: http://www.nature.com/doifinder/10.1038/ncomms4086
- [98] H. Y. Lee, P. S. Chen, T. Y. Wu, Y. S. Chen, C. C. Wang, P. J. Tzeng, C. H. Lin, F. Chen, C. H. Lien, and M.-J. Tsai, "Low power and high speed bipolar switching with a thin reactive Ti buffer layer in robust HfO2 based RRAM," 2008 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting, pp. 1–4, dec 2008. [Online]. Available: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/lpdocs/epic03/wrapper.htm?arnumber=4796677
- [99] D. Akinwande, N. Petrone, and J. Hone, "Two-dimensional flexible nanoelectronics," *Nature Communications*, vol. 5, p. 5678, dec 2014. [Online]. Available: http://www.nature.com/doifinder/10.1038/ncomms6678
- [100] C. Wang, J.-C. Chien, H. Fang, K. Takei, J. Nah, E. Plis, S. Krishna, A. M. Niknejad, and A. Javey, "Self-Aligned, Extremely High Frequency III–V Metal-Oxide-Semiconductor Field-Effect Transistors on Rigid and Flexible Substrates," *Nano Letters*, vol. 12, no. 8, pp. 4140–4145, aug 2012. [Online]. Available: http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/nl301699k
- [101] H. Zhou, J.-H. Seo, D. M. Paskiewicz, Y. Zhu, G. K. Celler, P. M. Voyles, W. Zhou, M. G. Lagally, and Z. Ma, "Fast flexible electronics with strained silicon nanomembranes," *Scientific Reports*, vol. 3, pp. 838–843, feb 2013. [Online]. Available: http://www.nature.com/articles/srep01291
- [102] J. Lee, K. N. Parrish, S. F. Chowdhury, T.-J. Ha, Y. Hao, L. Tao, A. Dodabalapur, R. S. Ruoff, and D. Akinwande, "State-of-the-art graphene transistors on hexagonal boron nitride, high-k, and polymeric films for GHz flexible analog nanoelectronics," in 2012 International Electron Devices Meeting. IEEE, dec 2012, pp. 14.6.1–14.6.4. [Online]. Available: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/6479044/
- [103] N. Petrone, I. Meric, J. Hone, and K. L. Shepard, "Graphene Field-Effect Transistors with Gigahertz-Frequency Power Gain on Flexible Substrates," *Nano Letters*, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 121–125, jan 2013. [Online]. Available: http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/nl303666m
- [104] J. Lee, T.-J. Ha, H. Li, K. N. Parrish, M. Holt, A. Dodabalapur, R. S. Ruoff, and D. Akinwande, "25 GHz Embedded-Gate Graphene Transistors with High-K Dielectrics on Extremely Flexible Plastic Sheets," ACS Nano, vol. 7, no. 9, pp. 7744–7750, sep 2013. [Online]. Available: www.acsnano.orghttp://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/nn403487y
- [105] K. S. Novoselov, V. I. Fal'ko, L. Colombo, P. R. Gellert, M. G. Schwab, and K. Kim, "A roadmap for graphene," *Nature*, vol. 490, no. 7419, pp. 192–200, oct 2012. [Online]. Available: http://www.nature.com/doifinder/10.1038/nature11458
- [106] F. Xia, T. Mueller, Y.-M. Lin, A. Valdes-Garcia, and P. Avouris, "Ultrafast graphene photodetector," *Nature Nanotechnology*, vol. 4, no. 12, pp. 839–843, dec 2009. [Online]. Available: http://www.nature.com/doifinder/10.1038/nnano.2009.292

- [107] T. Mueller, F. Xia, and P. Avouris, "Graphene photodetectors for high-speed optical communications," *Nature Photonics*, vol. 4, no. 5, pp. 297–301, may 2010. [Online]. Available: http://www.nature.com/doifinder/10.1038/nphoton.2010.40
- [108] B. Y. Zhang, T. Liu, B. Meng, X. Li, G. Liang, X. Hu, and Q. J. Wang, "Broadband high photoresponse from pure monolayer graphene photodetector," *Nature Communications*, vol. 4, p. 1811, may 2013. [Online]. Available: http: //www.nature.com/doifinder/10.1038/ncomms2830
- [109] M. Liu, X. Yin, and X. Zhang, "Double-Layer Graphene Optical Modulator," *Nano Letters*, vol. 12, no. 3, pp. 1482–1485, mar 2012. [Online]. Available: http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/nl204202k
- [110] N. Youngblood, Y. Anugrah, R. Ma, S. J. Koester, and M. Li, "Multifunctional Graphene Optical Modulator and Photodetector Integrated on Silicon Waveguides," *Nano Letters*, vol. 14, no. 5, pp. 2741–2746, may 2014. [Online]. Available: http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/nl500712u
- [111] Z. Sun, T. Hasan, F. Torrisi, D. Popa, G. Privitera, F. Wang, F. Bonaccorso, D. M. Basko, and A. C. Ferrari, "Graphene Mode-Locked Ultrafast Laser," ACS Nano, vol. 4, no. 2, pp. 803–810, feb 2010. [Online]. Available: http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/nn901703e
- [112] H. Zhang, Q. Bao, D. Tang, L. Zhao, and K. Loh, "Large energy soliton erbium-doped fiber laser with a graphene-polymer composite mode locker," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 95, no. 14, p. 141103, 2009. [Online]. Available: http://dx.doi.org/10.1063/1.3367743http://scitation.aip.org/content/aip/journal/apl/96/11?ver=pdfcovhttp://scitation.aip.org/content/aip/journal/apl/95/14/10.1063/1.3244206
- [113] Q. Bao, H. Zhang, B. Wang, Z. Ni, C. H. Y. X. Lim, Y. Wang, D. Y. Tang, and K. P. Loh, "Broadband graphene polarizer," *Nature Photonics*, vol. 5, no. 7, pp. 411–415, may 2011.
  [Online]. Available: http://www.nature.com/doifinder/10.1038/nphoton.2011.102
- [114] M. Tamagnone, C. Moldovan, J.-M. Poumirol, A. B. Kuzmenko, A. M. Ionescu, J. R. Mosig, and J. Perruisseau-Carrier, "Near optimal graphene terahertz non-reciprocal isolator," *Nature Communications*, vol. 7, p. 11216, apr 2016. [Online]. Available: http://www.nature.com/doifinder/10.1038/ncomms11216
- [115] C. F. Moldovan, "Enabling High Frequency Reconfigurable Functions with Graphene," Ph.D. dissertation, École polytechnique fédérale de Lausanne EPFL, 2016. [Online]. Available: https://infoscience.epfl.ch/record/218093?ln=en
- [116] H. Wang, Y. Yang, Y. Liang, J. T. Robinson, Y. Li, A. Jackson, Y. Cui, and H. Dai, "Graphene-Wrapped Sulfur Particles as a Rechargeable Lithium–Sulfur Battery Cathode Material with High Capacity and Cycling Stability," *Nano Letters*, vol. 11, no. 7, pp. 2644–2647, jul 2011. [Online]. Available: http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/nl200658a

- [117] J. Xiao, D. Mei, X. Li, W. Xu, D. Wang, G. L. Graff, W. D. Bennett, Z. Nie, L. V. Saraf, I. A. Aksay, J. Liu, and J.-G. Zhang, "Hierarchically Porous Graphene as a Lithium–Air Battery Electrode," *Nano Letters*, vol. 11, no. 11, pp. 5071–5078, nov 2011. [Online]. Available: http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/nl203332e
- [118] H. Kim, K.-Y. Park, J. Hong, and K. Kang, "All-graphene-battery: bridging the gap between supercapacitors and lithium ion batteries," *Scientific Reports*, vol. 4, pp. 687–689, jun 2014. [Online]. Available: http://www.nature.com/articles/srep05278
- [119] M. D. Stoller, S. Park, Y. Zhu, J. An, and R. S. Ruoff, "Graphene-Based Ultracapacitors," *Nano Letters*, vol. 8, no. 10, pp. 3498–3502, oct 2008. [Online]. Available: http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/nl802558y
- [120] Y. Wang, Z. Shi, Y. Huang, Y. Ma, C. Wang, M. Chen, and Y. Chen, "Supercapacitor Devices Based on Graphene Materials," *The Journal of Physical Chemistry C*, vol. 113, no. 30, pp. 13103–13107, jul 2009. [Online]. Available: http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10. 1021/jp902214f
- [121] C. Liu, Z. Yu, D. Neff, A. Zhamu, and B. Z. Jang, "Graphene-Based Supercapacitor with an Ultrahigh Energy Density," *Nano Letters*, vol. 10, no. 12, pp. 4863–4868, dec 2010.
   [Online]. Available: http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/nl102661q
- [122] F. Zhang, T. Zhang, X. Yang, L. Zhang, K. Leng, Y. Huang, and Y. Chen, "A high-performance supercapacitor-battery hybrid energy storage device based on graphene-enhanced electrode materials with ultrahigh energy density," *Energy & Environmental Science*, vol. 6, no. 5, p. 1623, 2013. [Online]. Available: http://xlink.rsc.org/?DOI=c3ee40509e
- [123] J. Xia, F. Chen, J. Li, and N. Tao, "Measurement of the quantum capacitance of graphene," *Nature Nanotechnology*, vol. 4, no. 8, pp. 505–509, aug 2009. [Online]. Available: http://www.nature.com/doifinder/10.1038/nnano.2009.177
- [124] P. Simon and Y. Gogotsi, "Materials for electrochemical capacitors," *Nature Materials*, vol. 7, no. 11, pp. 845–854, nov 2008. [Online]. Available: http://www.nature.com/doifinder/10.1038/nmat2297
- [125] M. F. El-Kady, Y. Shao, and R. B. Kaner, "Graphene for batteries, supercapacitors and beyond," *Nature Reviews Materials*, vol. 1, no. 7, p. 16033, may 2016. [Online]. Available: http://www.nature.com/articles/natrevmats201633
- [126] G. Wang, B. Wang, X. Wang, J. Park, S. Dou, H. Ahn, and K. Kim, "Sn/graphene nanocomposite with 3D architecture for enhanced reversible lithium storage in lithium ion batteries," *Journal of Materials Chemistry*, vol. 19, no. 44, p. 8378, 2009. [Online]. Available: http://xlink.rsc.org/?DOI=b914650d
- [127] K. L. Ekinci and M. L. Roukes, "Nanoelectromechanical systems," *Review of Scientific Instruments*, vol. 76, no. 6, 2005. [Online]. Available: http://scitation.aip.org/

docserver/fulltext/aip/journal/rsi/76/6/1.1927327.pdf?expires=1478635701 & id=id & accname=2118992 & checksum=7AC096 CFDDF36FD844A2 CDB0128319 CB

- [128] K. M. Milaninia, M. A. Baldo, A. Reina, and J. Kong, "All graphene electromechanical switch fabricated by chemical vapor deposition," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 95, no. 18, p. 183105, 2009. [Online]. Available: http://scitation.aip.org/ docserver/fulltext/aip/journal/apl/95/18/1.3259415.pdf?expires=1478637298{&}id= id{&}accname=2118992{&}checksum=D52A9182A54AD1F1A0930E06DB360F5Fhttp: //scitation.aip.org/content/aip/journal/apl/95/18/10.1063/1.3259415
- [129] J. S. Bunch, A. M. van der Zande, S. S. Verbridge, I. W. Frank, D. M. Tanenbaum, J. M. Parpia, H. G. Craighead, and P. L. McEuen, "Electromechanical Resonators from Graphene Sheets," *Science*, vol. 315, no. 5811, pp. 490–493, jan 2007. [Online]. Available: http://science.sciencemag.org/content/sci/315/5811/490.full.pdfhttp://www.sciencemag.org/cgi/doi/10.1126/science.1136836
- [130] R. A. Barton, B. Ilic, A. M. Van Der Zande, W. S. Whitney, P. L. McEuen, J. M. Parpia, and H. G. Craighead, "High, size-dependent quality factor in an array of graphene mechanical resonators," *Nano Letters*, vol. 11, no. 3, pp. 1232–1236, 2011. [Online]. Available: http://pubs.acs.org/doi/pdf/10.1021/nl1042227
- [131] a. Eichler, J. Moser, J. Chaste, M. Zdrojek, I. Wilson-Rae, and A. Bachtold, "Nonlinear damping in mechanical resonators made from carbon nanotubes and graphene," *Nature Nanotechnology*, vol. 6, no. 6, pp. 339–342, jun 2011. [Online]. Available: http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nnano.2011.71http://www.nature.com/doifinder/ 10.1038/nnano.2011.71
- [132] C. Chen, S. Lee, V. V. Deshpande, G.-H. Lee, M. Lekas, K. Shepard, and J. Hone, "Graphene mechanical oscillators with tunable frequency," *Nature Nanotechnology*, vol. 8, no. 12, pp. 923–927, nov 2013. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/24240431http://www.nature.com/doifinder/10.1038/nnano.2013.232
- [133] J. S. Bunch, S. S. Verbridge, J. S. Alden, A. M. van der Zande, J. M. Parpia, H. G. Craighead, and P. L. McEuen, "Impermeable Atomic Membranes from Graphene Sheets," *Nano Letters*, vol. 8, no. 8, pp. 2458–2462, aug 2008. [Online]. Available: http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/nl801457b
- [134] F. Schedin, a. K. Geim, S. V. Morozov, E. W. Hill, P. Blake, M. I. Katsnelson, and K. S. Novoselov, "Detection of individual gas molecules adsorbed on graphene." *Nature materials*, vol. 6, no. 9, pp. 652–5, sep 2007. [Online]. Available: http: //www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17660825
- [135] T. Kuila, S. Bose, P. Khanra, A. K. Mishra, N. H. Kim, and J. H. Lee, "Recent advances in graphene-based biosensors," *Biosensors and Bioelectronics*, vol. 26, no. 12, pp. 4637–4648, aug 2011. [Online]. Available: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/ S0956566311003368

- [136] C. X. Lim, H. Y. Hoh, P. K. Ang, and K. P. Loh, "Direct voltammetric detection of DNA and pH sensing on epitaxial graphene: An insight into the role of oxygenated defects," *Analytical Chemistry*, vol. 82, no. 17, pp. 7387–7393, 2010. [Online]. Available: http://pubs.acs.org/doi/pdf/10.1021/ac101519v
- [137] Y. Bo, H. Yang, Y. Hu, T. Yao, and S. Huang, "A novel electrochemical DNA biosensor based on graphene and polyaniline nanowires," *Electrochimica Acta*, vol. 56, no. 6, pp. 2676–2681, feb 2011. [Online]. Available: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.electacta.2010. 12.034http://ac.els-cdn.com/S0013468610016671/1-s2.0-S0013468610016671-main. pdf?{\_}tid=5ce47fe8-a5f5-11e6-89a7-00000aab0f27{&}acdnat= 1478638572{\_}96a0cb980a575a41cda0ab568e0a25e2http://linkinghub.elsevier. com/retrieve/pii/S0013468610016671
- [138] X. Sun, Z. Liu, K. Welsher, J. T. Robinson, A. Goodwin, S. Zaric, and H. Dai, "Nano-graphene oxide for cellular imaging and drug delivery," *Nano Research*, vol. 1, no. 3, pp. 203–212, sep 2008. [Online]. Available: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/ s12274-008-8021-8
- [139] K. Liu, J.-J. Zhang, E-F. Cheng, T.-T. Zheng, C. Wang, and J.-J. Zhu, "Green and facile synthesis of highly biocompatible graphene nanosheets and its application for cellular imaging and drug delivery," *Journal of Materials Chemistry*, vol. 21, no. 32, pp. 12034–12040, 2011. [Online]. Available: http://dx.doi.org/10.1039/C1JM10749F\$\ delimiter"026E3B2\$nhttp://xlink.rsc.org/?DOI=c1jm10749f
- [140] J. Liu, L. Cui, and D. Losic, "Graphene and graphene oxide as new nanocarriers for drug delivery applications," *Acta Biomaterialia*, vol. 9, no. 12, pp. 9243–9257, 2013. [Online]. Available: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2013.08. 016http://ac.els-cdn.com/S174270611300408X/1-s2.0-S174270611300408X-main. pdf?{\_}tid=a0b686e0-a5f4-11e6-a33c-00000aab0f6b{&}acdnat= 1478638256{\_}0fb66fd5f093a0110f1b1f7ec8fc3865
- [141] S. M. Rubin, *Computer Aids for VLSI Design*. Addison-Wesley, 1987. [Online]. Available: http://www.rulabinsky.com/cavd/
- [142] X. Li, Y. Zhu, W. Cai, M. Borysiak, B. Han, D. Chen, R. D. Piner, L. Colomba, and R. S. Ruoff, "Transfer of large-area graphene films for high-performance transparent conductive electrodes," *Nano Letters*, vol. 9, no. 12, pp. 4359–4363, 2009.
- [143] X. Liang, B. a. Sperling, I. Calizo, G. Cheng, C. A. Hacker, Q. Zhang, Y. Obeng, K. Yan, H. Peng, Q. Li, X. Zhu, H. Yuan, A. R. H. Walker, Z. Liu, L.-M. Peng, and C. a. Richter, "Toward clean and crackless transfer of graphene." *ACS nano*, vol. 5, no. 11, pp. 9144–53, nov 2011. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21999646
- [144] J. Choi, Y. Mao, and J. Chang, "Development of hafnium based high-k materials—A review," *Materials Science and Engineering: R: Reports*, vol. 72, no. 6, pp. 97–136, jul 2011.
   [Online]. Available: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0927796X10001683

- [145] J. Robertson, "High dielectric constant gate oxides for metal oxide Si transistors," *Reports on Progress in Physics*, vol. 69, no. 2, pp. 327–396, feb 2006. [Online]. Available: http://stacks.iop.org/0034-4885/69/i=2/a=R02?key=crossref. bbcc00ea626ec891393aa5e0b0b9cba3
- [146] Y. Xuan, Y. Q. Wu, T. Shen, M. Qi, M. A. Capano, J. A. Cooper, and P. D. Ye, "Atomic-layer-deposited nanostructures for graphene-based nanoelectronics," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 92, no. 1, p. 013101, 2008. [Online]. Available: http://scitation.aip.org/content/aip/journal/apl/92/1/10.1063/1.2828338
- [147] B. Lee, S.-Y. Park, H.-C. Kim, K. Cho, E. M. Vogel, M. J. Kim, R. M. Wallace, and J. Kim, "Conformal Al[sub 2]O[sub 3] dielectric layer deposited by atomic layer deposition for graphene-based nanoelectronics," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 92, no. 20, p. 203102, 2008. [Online]. Available: http://scitation.aip.org/content/aip/journal/apl/92/20/10. 1063/1.2928228
- [148] S. Kim, J. Nah, I. Jo, D. Shahrjerdi, L. Colombo, Z. Yao, E. Tutuc, and S. K. Banerjee, "Realization of a high mobility dual-gated graphene field-effect transistor with Al2O3 dielectric," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 94, no. 6, p. 062107, 2009. [Online]. Available: http://link.aip.org/link/APPLAB/v94/i6/p062107/s1{&}Agg=doi
- [149] J. R. Williams, L. DiCarlo, and C. M. Marcus, "Quantum Hall Effect in a Gate-Controlled p-n Junction of Graphene," *Science*, vol. 317, no. 5838, pp. 638–641, aug 2007. [Online]. Available: http://www.sciencemag.org/cgi/doi/10.1126/science.1144657
- [150] B. Lee, G. Mordi, M. J. Kim, Y. J. Chabal, E. M. Vogel, R. M. Wallace, K. J. Cho, L. Colombo, and J. Kim, "Characteristics of high-k Al2O3 dielectric using ozone-based atomic layer deposition for dual-gated graphene devices," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 97, no. 4, p. 043107, 2010. [Online]. Available: http://scitation.aip.org/content/aip/journal/apl/97/4/10.1063/1.3467454
- Z. Cheng, Q. Zhou, C. Wang, Q. Li, C. Wang, and Y. Fang, "Toward Intrinsic Graphene Surfaces: A Systematic Study on Thermal Annealing and Wet-Chemical Treatment of SiO2-Supported Graphene Devices," *Nano letters*, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 767–771, 2011.
   [Online]. Available: http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/nl103977d
- [152] Y.-C. Lin, C.-C. Lu, C.-H. Yeh, C. Jin, K. Suenaga, and P.-W. Chiu, "Graphene annealing: how clean can it be?" *Nano letters*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 414–9, jan 2012. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22149394
- [153] D. Teweldebrhan and A. A. Balandin, "Modification of graphene properties due to electron-beam irradiation," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 94, no. 1, 2009.
- [154] I. Childres, L. A. Jauregui, M. Foxe, J. Tian, R. Jalilian, I. Jovanovic, and Y. P. Chen, "Effect of electron-beam irradiation on graphene field effect devices," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 97, no. 17, p. 173109, 2010. [Online]. Available: http://scitation.aip.org/content/aip/journal/apl/97/17/10.1063/1.3502610

- [155] M. Zervas, "High throughput screening platform for ultra large scale integration based on high-k silicon nanowire ISFET and 3D integration," Ph.D. dissertation, Ecole Polytecnique Federale de Lausanne, 2013. [Online]. Available: http://infoscience.epfl. ch/record/184855
- [156] D. L. Olynick, B. Cord, A. Schipotinin, D. F. Ogletree, and P. J. Schuck, "Electronbeam exposure mechanisms in hydrogen silsesquioxane investigated by vibrational spectroscopy and in situ electron-beam-induced desorption," *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B: Microelectronics and Nanometer Structures*, vol. 28, no. 3, p. 581, 2010. [Online]. Available: http://scitation.aip.org/content/avs/journal/jvstb/28/3/10. 1116/1.3425632
- [157] A. E. Grigorescu and C. W. Hagen, "Resists for sub-20-nm electron beam lithography with a focus on HSQ: state of the art," *Nanotechnology*, vol. 20, no. 29, p. 292001, jul 2009. [Online]. Available: http://stacks.iop.org/0957-4484/20/i=29/a=292001?key= crossref.a3e9e2549e2330c9c3157965afaa09ba
- [158] I. Meric, N. Baklitskaya, P. Kim, and K. L. Shepard, "RF performance of top-gated, zerobandgap graphene field-effect transistors," in *IEDM Proceedings*, no. c, 2008, pp. 1–4.
   [Online]. Available: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/xpl/articleDetails.jsp?arnumber=4796738
- [159] I. Meric, M. Y. Han, A. F. Young, B. Ozyilmaz, P. Kim, and K. L. Shepard, "Current saturation in zero-bandgap, top-gated graphene field-effect transistors." *Nature nanotechnology*, vol. 3, no. 11, pp. 654–9, nov 2008. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18989330
- [160] K. L. Shepard, I. Meric, and P. Kim, "Characterization and modeling of graphene field-effect devices," in 2008 IEEE/ACM International Conference on Computer-Aided Design. Ieee, nov 2008, pp. 406–411. [Online]. Available: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/ lpdocs/epic03/wrapper.htm?arnumber=4681606
- [161] V. E. Dorgan, M. H. Bae, and E. Pop, "Mobility and saturation velocity in graphene on SiO2," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 97, no. 8, 2010.
- [162] B. W. Scott and J.-P. Leburton, "Modeling of the Output and Transfer Characteristics of Graphene Field-Effect Transistors," *IEEE Transactions on Nanotechnology*, vol. 10, no. 5, pp. 1113–1119, sep 2011. [Online]. Available: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/lpdocs/epic03/ wrapper.htm?arnumber=5709989
- [163] O. Habibpour, J. Vukusic, and J. Stake, "A Large-Signal Graphene FET Model," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 59, no. 4, pp. 968–975, apr 2012. [Online]. Available: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/lpdocs/epic03/wrapper.htm?arnumber=6145637
- [164] Y. Liang, X. Liang, Z. Zhang, W. Li, X. Huo, and L. Peng, "High mobility flexible graphene field-effect transistors and ambipolar radio-frequency circuits," *Nanoscale*, pp. 10954–10962, 2015. [Online]. Available: http://xlink.rsc.org/?DOI=C5NR02292D

- [165] E. Hwang, S. Adam, and S. Sarma, "Carrier Transport in Two-Dimensional Graphene Layers," *Physical Review Letters*, vol. 98, no. 18, p. 186806, may 2007. [Online]. Available: http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.98.186806
- [166] Y. B. Zhang, Y. W. Tan, H. L. Stormer, and P. Kim, "Experimental observation of the quantum Hall effect and Berry's phase in graphene," *Nature*, vol. 438, no. 7065, pp. 201–204, 2005.
- [167] a. Das, S. Pisana, B. Chakraborty, S. Piscanec, S. K. Saha, U. V. Waghmare, K. S. Novoselov, H. R. Krishnamurthy, a. K. Geim, a. C. Ferrari, and a. K. Sood, "Monitoring dopants by Raman scattering in an electrochemically top-gated graphene transistor." *Nature nanotechnology*, vol. 3, no. 4, pp. 210–5, apr 2008. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18654505
- [168] B. Huard, J. A. Sulpizio, N. Stander, K. Todd, B. Yang, and D. Goldhaber-Gordon, "Transport measurements across a tunable potential barrier in graphene," *Physical Review Letters*, vol. 98, no. 23, pp. 8–11, 2007.
- [169] B. Huard, N. Stander, J. A. Sulpizio, and D. Goldhaber-Gordon, "Evidence of the role of contacts on the observed electron-hole asymmetry in graphene," *Physical Review B*, vol. 78, no. 12, p. 121402, sep 2008. [Online]. Available: http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevB.78.121402
- [170] T. Mueller, F. Xia, M. Freitag, J. Tsang, and P. Avouris, "Role of contacts in graphene transistors: A scanning photocurrent study," *Physical Review B*, vol. 79, no. 24, pp. 1–6, jun 2009. [Online]. Available: http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevB.79.245430
- [171] D. B. Farmer, R. Golizadeh-Mojarad, V. Perebeinos, Y.-M. Lin, G. S. Tulevski, J. C. Tsang, and P. Avouris, "Chemical Doping and Electron-Hole Conduction Asymmetry in Graphene Devices," *Nano Letters*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 388–392, jan 2009.
  [Online]. Available: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/lpdocs/epic03/wrapper.htm?arnumber= 5332372http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/nl803214a
- [172] J. G. Champlain, "A first principles theoretical examination of graphene-based field effect transistors," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 109, no. 8, p. 084515, 2011. [Online]. Available: http://link.aip.org/link/JAPIAU/v109/i8/p084515/s1{&}Agg=doi
- M. I. Katsnelson, K. S. Novoselov, and a. K. Geim, "Chiral tunnelling and the Klein paradox in graphene," *Nature Physics*, vol. 2, no. 9, pp. 620–625, aug 2006. [Online]. Available: http://www.nature.com/doifinder/10.1038/nphys384
- [174] M. D. Ulrich, W. F. Seng, and P. A. Barnes, "No Title," *Journal of Computational Electronics*, vol. 1, no. 3, pp. 431–434, 2002. [Online]. Available: http://link.springer.com/10.1023/A: 1020784532229
- [175] R. S. Shishir and D. K. Ferry, "Velocity saturation in intrinsic graphene," *Journal of Physics: Condensed Matter*, vol. 21, no. 34, p. 344201, aug 2009. [Online].

Available: http://iopscience.iop.org/0953-8984/21/34/344201http://stacks.iop.org/0953-8984/21/i=34/a=344201?key=crossref.c4f90566fed1b2555cdff64b8e409839

- [176] A. Girdhar and J. P. Leburton, "Soft carrier multiplication by hot electrons in graphene," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 99, no. 4, p. 043107, 2011. [Online]. Available: http://scitation.aip.org/content/aip/journal/apl/99/4/10.1063/1.3615286
- [177] L. Pirro, A. Girdhar, Y. Leblebici, and J. P. Leburton, "Impact Ionization and Carrier Multiplication in Graphene," (*preprint*), vol. 229903, no. 2011, pp. 1–32, aug 2012.
   [Online]. Available: http://arxiv.org/abs/1208.0776
- [178] C. L. Anderson and C. R. Crowell, "Threshold Energies for Electron-Hole Pair Production by Impact Ionization in Semiconductors," *Physical Review B*, vol. 5, no. 6, pp. 2267–2272, mar 1972. [Online]. Available: http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevB.5.2267
- [179] R. Morris, "The dilogarithm function of a real argument," *Mathematics of Computation*, vol. 33, no. 146, pp. 778–778, may 1979. [Online]. Available: http://www.ams.org/jourcgi/jour-getitem?pii=S0025-5718-1979-0521291-X
- [180] D. Zagier, "The Dilogarithm Function," in *Frontiers in Number Theory, Physics, and Geometry II.* Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2007, pp. 3–65. [Online]. Available: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-540-30308-4{\_}1